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Corporate Profile
NFEIT

Qur Vision,
Mission &

Valves
I A=
En HEEE

VISION =

To be the pioneer of innovative living space

WERTE AIEER=ER

RS AR S e

MISSION {E4n

We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and passionate pursuit of
innovation and excellence

BRBEN  AIFRL FEAR  BEAN B

VALUES BEH
— PRI’DE

Pioneer
Break new grounds

HEBR HH 3T

Integrity
Uphold high ethical standards
B

Respect
Value the individual and
cherish our environment

BABL

Devotion
Be committed and passionate

CUNCRIE
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Innovation
Think outside the box
TRRA 78]

Excellence
Consistency in the pursuit of
our quality standards

EREE



HKR International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”) is a conglomerate in
Hong Kong, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), with
interests in diversified businesses, focusing on real estate development
and investment, property management, luxury hotels and other
investments in Hong Kong, mainland China and across Asia.

HKRI's comprehensive portfolio includes Discovery Bay and CDW
Building in Hong Kong; HKRI Taikoo Hui in Shanghai, and a number of
premium residential properties under development in Shanghai, Jiaxing
and Hangzhou. We aim at further growing a balanced portfolio to
maximise the Company’s value for shareholders.

At HKRI, we strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and an unwavering commitment to
innovation and excellence. We believe sustainability is one of the most
important ways to make a business and community viable. Guided by
our core values, we are devoted to making a positive contribution to the
communities, promoting sustainable development and creating a better
living environment.

BREAXBEREEARAR([EEREBEEK]
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Highlights of the Year
FEARERE

APR 9 A 2022 AUG J\ H 2022

} Signed the first sustainability-linked loan of HK$2.4
billion, manifesting the Group’s commitment to
long-term sustainability
EEHRANFEERARBBNE
BERBELAREL RESEYHRHA
FEERMAS

MAY f A 2022

} Celebration of CDW Building's 40™ anniversary
R RKEEKAGBEEFE

) First batch of VILLA LUCCA units was launched for
sale by tender

WL EHEMRIGHERRE

} The office tower of Jinsha INCITY, a commercial
project in Hangzhou, was renamed as HKR
International Centre
MNTEXBEE @D DNRIMOPRERE R

} Name unveil of VILLA LUCCA, the world-class low- BRERBERH L
density sea view residence in Tai Po, and obtained
occupation permit
7 7 K 38 1Y B PR AR R 2 508 = B IF =
a8 A T ARE I - I ERAS A KR
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SEP 11 A 2022

} Kick-started the celebration of HKRI's 45®

anniversary under the theme “Together We Fortify” } Certificate of consent for VILLA LUCCA was issued
BEBEERBSRERE  BRANUIRL and handover of units to purchasers commenced,
X 3K Together We Fortify | 4 == 8 #) )& B) and second batch of units was launched for sale by

tender in the same month
MEBILRERRER FAHEINTTER
RARAE _HGBEEREE

OCT + A 2022

} Refurbishment of Discovery Bay Pier commenced,
providing a better and more comfortable
experience for our passengers upon completion
MREBEBMFT IEH T FTIEER
FETREEEMELTFENER

} All launched units of Starlight One, Jiaxing,

FEB — H 2023 representing over 94% of total units, were sold out
on the launch day
} Entered into agreement to divest the remaining 7 A S BT 2 3% [ 4B 4B 049 HE & B A7 AT &
interest in a land located on Wireless Road, % K B
Bangkok, Thailand for an attractive return
AT 37 1 7 i %5 (30 3% [ £ 45 Wireless Road ) } Won the bid for a premium residential land lot in

i - AT R B O 3R

Nanhu New District, Jiaxing

RO GEEETEAREEEEHR
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Awards and Recognition S

BIE B e

Significant awards won by the Group
in the Financial Year 2022/2023:
EER2022203 B FEEGEH £ E 815

|
e

HKR International Limited GOOD MPF EMPLOYER 5 YEARS+, MPF SUPPORT  Tha pRIDE Creative Camp3.0 Integrated Marketing [l et (s Lr RLC L L L R AL
BEREXEREEERL T AWARD ANDE-CONTRIBUTIONAWARD 'S = [ [PRIDE BIiEE | BA1TH Limited
BEeRELSE+ BOBER STHEE BB RS A T
"15 YEARS PLUS CAR|N9COMPANY” LOGO Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority MAWARDS 2022
15EPLUS[ B R E BRI E BHENELHEEER 22T RIF R BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2021-22
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service - IP Marketing Innovation Award - Bronze Award  2021-2F BB R L EBE
TP AE ST ERB MANPOWER DEVELOPER AWARD SCHEME PEHEIFE B  Best Partnership Awards
ERBA T ¥ E 3T 3 meihuainfo BRI RRAEN LS
HONG KONG ESG REPORTING AWARDS 2022~ Grand Prize Award (Manpower Developer) 1748 NTS Regional Crime Prevention Office
WNERRE REREAREAR AT RE—LERR FREAEHIRERAS
- Best ESG Report (Small Cap) Grand Award Employees Retraining Board Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
BHESCHE (M HfE) A% EEBEIR BEREXARAR GOOD CITIZEN AWARD 2022
Hong Kong ESG Reporting Awards Limited WnFTRER
&) ‘?%g ESG gﬁi ERER ’Rg = HIGHEST PARTICIPATION RATE AWARD COMMUNITY PARTNER COMMENDATION AWARD. Good Org;;isation Award
(COMPANIES AND ORGANIZATIONS CATEGORY) 2022 N FHEE
ESG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS 2021/2022 EBSRER(BERERER) WABRFFHR Hong Kong Police Force
0212008 E HERLLEEAAAE  Community Chest Dress Casual Day 2021 OWA . ERLEKE
- Outstanding ESG Performer of the Year W1 RERERAB B SR
- Diamond Award VILLALUCCA
EEBEOE AR CORPORATE BRAND AWARDS OF EXCELLENCE 2022 AWARD FOR CHARITY SUPPORT 2022 ML
Institute of ESG and Benchmark WRERBRBS AR 2022%?&[1}}{%‘5{7?5%@ : !
BEHOLOLEAELES - Sustainable Property Development Award Lhe Nelghbgurhood Advice-Action Council  The Asia Pacific Property Awards
B THENERRAR LR TARBEAR
UNSDG ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS HONG KONG 2022 Hong Kong Economic Journal . X w - Residential Development Hong Kong
MBAETREIRAEEAARE  REMEHE Discovery Bay Saricsanagement imited et
- Recognised Organisation T — WREREEERRAR - Architecture Multiple Residence Hong Kong
LEDL L Eyraatphyn j?ig = HKQAA RECOGNITION PROGRAM FOR ERSEERRE
Green Council 202; &= ”i“x" ”E * Mxk E— ORGANISATIONS 2022 International Property Awards
= e - Excellence in Best Marketability Awar [P N :
ERERE BEME L EHAR ANEERERERRAENHY ARFERENR
REEHENSHAR = Gold Seal for Business Reslience & C. "
SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS AWARD 2021 Hong Kong Designers Association Cgmrigati;: usiessestience &omMUNY  HonE JOURNAL AWARDS 2022
WEETHERRAR BRXAIHE CUEMESAR(BEENLE) WNEFREAE
World Green Organisation T — Hong Kc;r;ngJ;th ;;sug ncé‘Age‘rgcﬂy - Best Luxury Low Density Residences
HREEHAE nthe RISE - From Dazhonglito HKRI Taikoo Hui £ O AR /o S REEZERT
(RLAE-EAPREBEALE) EERERER Home Journal
GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY AWARDS EHRE
LABELLING SCHEME AWARD FOR INNOVATION IN PUBLIC ENTERPRISE  CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2022
BORLTREHY PUBLICATIONS (GOLD AWARD) WRFEAFFREXAL )
- Green Office Label and Eco-Healthy Workplace Label ?h#\ :’-%P& EEE”STE i@ F”%ig)d - J;iflt ED?L gj)/(aiVing Award =
[ZeRAZIRIBEIEBIEE € ulerraciic Jlevie Avards HUERAR
World Green Organisation o TM-RFERBRK CLP Power GOLFERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2022
18 4240 5 W EFBRARAE
tRReEs CORPORATE PUBLICATIONS (BRONZE) TEEN = Choice Gof propeﬁy
ECO-BRAND AWARDS 2022 ERHRDRA (WR) HSBC LIVING BUSINESS AWARDS 2022 BEEEANE
WRERREAR PR Awar:ds/A\sw 202§ WREEERTD N LB E Golf Vacations, Senasia Publication Group Limited
East Week W22 HABAR - Certificate of Merit BRES ATHRERAF
RET . , e
“HKRI Love & Design” (SR Project : : : i
X Business Environment Council Starlight One
ENERGY SAVING CHARTER 2022 [REE | DRHERR HREEGS
WNEEAE
CULTURE SPACE SILVER AWARD
Electrical and Mechanical Services e e e HONG KONG AWARDS FORENVIRONMENTAL ~ OUTSTANDING PRODUCTIVITY PROJECT 2022
Department XL 2FRAR EXCELLENCE 2021 WFESHERNRE
BE - French GPDP International Design Award m o Jiaxing Daily, Nan Hu Evening News, Jiaxin
KETRE ; : WNERREEMAR g atly, g News, laxing
/REL S T GPDP AWARD - Property Management (Residential) Real Estate Market
UMBRELLA BAGS REDUCTION ACCREDITATION 6, ) AwARD _ Certificate of Merit REAR BHBR EmeE
PROGRAM 2022 # NEEE (f%)-BER
WRNEDER/RERBBRIBERELY - ian International Innovative Design Award  ENvironmental Campaign Committee VALUE?QI{E%ZR@%E%T&;HE DRTRCT 2021
- Diamond and Gold Levels and Reduction Award = B AIDAB I B 37 205 £ 58 BEEHESe W1BHE =
ERRLARE HEAE TR Jiasing Daly
Greeners Action GOLD AWARD BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL AWARDS 2021-22 REAH
Z\/ = g - R £ g | \§
88178 l%'f"*iz . . 202;;@3@ f‘?gjﬁaf di;‘ﬁar ) OUTSTANDING RESIDENTIAL PROJECT 2022
ternat i t t tive - &
CHARTER FOR AGE-FRENDLY SHOPPING MALLS o2 o7 e S A TIOMENE s e WFEABRARE
BEFENE esign Awar L”Tp(j ward) . S . Jiaxing Broadcast and Television Group, Tou
BB RN E N BRESAlf Rt R AE (288 - Residential (Merit Award) Ming Media
The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust FE-BEE "’ﬁﬂgi*ﬁ;% THEE. FREE
ERRRREELTES INTERIOR DESIGN BRONZE AWARD - Commercial (Outstanding Award) RADRR SRR .
VHZBEARER IH-#HE
IAI Design Award NTS Regional Crime Prevention Office

MRBEERHILERERE
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NEW COVER PROJECT OF JIAXING 2022

WNERFTHHE
Jiaxing Broadcast and Television Group

REMEAEREE

THE BENCHMARK QUALITY PROJECT 2022
WNFERARERTER
Jiaxing Nan Hu Real Estate Association

FETENERHEXTERS

INOne

QUALITY PROJECT 2022
WNEEREERE
Fang Xiaotuan

ENE

THE MOST INFLUENTIAL PROJECT OF HANGZHOU 2022
WRERMNETRER
- Excellent Property Project
SHELER
Hangzhou Housing Purchase Service Platform

mNER R

ANNUAL DOUBLE GOLD PROJECT 2022
WNEERTEEE

Metropolis Daily

#HoRE

EXCELLENT PROJECT 2022
WNFEXFNET
Hangzhou Daily

M B &

REAL ESTATE BRAND OF THE YEAR 2022
WEEEREEL
Qianjiang Evening News

BIBR

8%
8K

SHOPPING MALL AWARDS 2021-2022

W 2NEFEFHSAR

- Favourite Lifestyle Shopping Mall
AREENHLEES

U Magazine

HKRI Taikoo Hui
FERHE

LONG-TERM PUBLIC CHARITY AWARDS
NHEEERER

Shanghai United Foundation
TEBBARESS

GOLDEN LIGHT AWARDS 2023

WBERE

- Excellent Quality Award
FHRER

MCWzg.com

e

TOP BUSINESS VALUE AWARD - BRONZE 2022
WNEEREEXEER-HR

China Shopping-mall Value Board
coveeh Bl 5 B EE

TOP SHOPPING MALL OF THE YEAR 2022
WNFEERMES
Dianping.com

RREFT

MEMORIAL AWARD FOR THE FIRST JING'AN
TERRACE SEASON 2022
WNHZERFLLR

Shanghai Jing'an District Commission of
Commerce

LETHRERARZAE

BEST FASHION & LUXURY LANDMARK
FEHEE

Shanghai BANG

L+ EBANG

ANNUAL LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2023

WRFEHRA

- Trendy Luxury Landmark
EREHENE

GOGO Shanghai

BEST FASHION & LUXURY LANDMARK 2022
WNFERENE

BACAO Lifestyle Guides
WEEEER

TRENDY LUXURY LANDMARK 2023
WBFERENRE

Discovery Shanghai

BRI

QUALITY SHOPPING MALL 2022
WRFERERNHL
Shanghai CHAO Lifestyle
LR

BEST 50 LIFESTYLE DESTINATION 2022
2022 BB 4 EIEBESTS0

- Best Brand Crossover Mall
RiEMEERES
Shanghai WOW

34" PLACE FOR ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTION IN 2022
WNFEREERENE
Shanghai Jing'an District Government

LETEZEARRA

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong
BEEMREEE

WEDDING AWARD 2022

WNEERFRE

- Superb Wedding Banquet (Hotel) - Best
Outdoor Wedding Ceremony Venue
ERBE(ERE) REFMEESH

Weddinghkhk

TOP PRODUCING HOTEL 2022
WRHEEENERE
Trip.com

BRRTA

BEST ENGAGEMENT AWARD 2022
WNFREAL

Expedia Group

BiEREH

MEITUAN HOTELS AWARDS 2022

WREEEERE

- Popular Resort Hotel of the Year
EEARERERE

Meituan

%8

The Sukhothai Shanghai
LERAFEE

READERS' CHOICE AWARD 2022

WNFEEZERR

- Top 10in China
FE T KEE

Condé Nast Traveler

ANNUAL TOP 10 HOTEL
FETAEE
City Life 2022
WREET - FWHATEESE

TRAVELERS' CHOICE
RiTECE
Tripadvisor

it

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
ERAR-MEXR
Forbes Travel Guide

R E kiR

BEST CITY HOTEL
BEST/IRER WiERE
KOL Gold List
KOLRfE h &

The Retreat

THE MOST ATTRACTIVE SPA TREATMENT OF THE YEAR
FEERSInKBEREEAR
SpaChina

Urban (afé

TOP 50 BEST THAI RESTAURANT
BEREERETOPS0
Shanghai WOW

The ZUK Bar

FOOD & DRINK AWARDS 2022

WNEERAR

- Top Hotel Bar of The Year
FEREERE

that's Shanghai

The SukhothaiBangkok

THAILAND TOURISM STANDARD:
ACCOMMODATION STANDARD FOR TOURISM
(HOTEL) 2021-2023

Department of Tourism

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

ASEAN MICE VENUE STANDARD (AMVS)2021-2023
ASEAN National Tourism Organisations

ntermntiona

MR

Limited

TOP 500 HOTELS IN THE WORLD 2022
Travel + Leisure Publication

EXCELLENT LEVEL OF GREEN HOTEL
Department of Environmental Quality Promotion

EXPERTS' CHOICE AWARD 2022
Expert's Choice

CUSTOMER REVIEW AWARDS 2022
Agoda

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2022
- Top 10 Hotels in Thailand
DestinAsian Publication

THE 2022 EXCELLENT PRACTICES ESTABLISHMENT
ON LABOUR RELATIONS AND WELFARE NATIONAL
LEVEL

Ministry of Labour

MYSTERY INSPECTORS' EXCELLENCE AWARD 2023
Small Luxury Hotels of the World

Celadon

MICHELIN GUIDE BANGKOK 2022
Michelin Guide Thailand

LaScala

MICHELIN GUIDE BANGKOK 2022
Michelin Guide Thailand

Colonnade

RECOMMENDATION BADGE
Restaurant GURU

SpaBotanica

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
Forbes Travel Guide

LEADERS IN LUXURY AWARDS 2023
- Best Luxury Spa Hotel 2023 - Bangkok
LUXIife

Peony Chinese Restaurant
A EF R

THE TATLER AWARDS HONG KONG 2023
Tatler Hong Kong

BEST-EVER DINING AWARD 2022

RN RERE

- Cantonese Cuisine & Restaurant (Gold Award)
PZER REKRHFER

Weekend Weekly

R

Discovery Bay Recreation Club
MRERMS

NATURAL CHRISTMAS TREES RECYCLING
PROGRAMME
RAEERE W E
- Certificate of Appreciation

B
Environment and Ecology Bureau
REREER

FBIREREEAFRAR 20222023 £ Q7



Chairman’s Statement

EEWE

&€ | would like to thank our stakeholders
and the community for their ongoing
support over the past 45 years and
into the future. Together, we will
create a lifestyle that is better and

greener than ever. 7

[ BFZEIFHERTERER
RASFHIST - BRI
RIFEFRAE RN AIE
mREER FHRE < |

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BERREE
Executive Chairman
WITER

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND STAKEHOLDERS,

It gives me great pleasure to present our annual report for the financial
year 2022/2023 (the “Current Year"). The report covers the results for HKR
International Limited ("HKRI" or the “Company”), as well as its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the Current Year was HK$1,693.7 million, a
decrease of 59.4% against last year's HK$4,167.9 million. As a result, the
Group's underlying profit (excluding net unrealised losses on fair value
change of investment properties) of HK$495.6 million accordingly
declined by 48.4% from HK$960.4 million in the last year.

With the net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties included, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$455.6 million, decreased by 58.5% from HK$1,097.3
million in the last year. Basic earnings per share were HK30.7 cents for
the Current Year, compared to HK73.9 cents for the last year. As at 31
March 2023, the net asset value attributable to shareholders of the
Company stood at HK$24,397.9 million (HK$16.4 per share), as compared
with HK$25,026.9 million (HK$16.8 per share) in the preceding year.

08 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023
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The Board of Directors recommends a final dividend of HK1 cent per
share for the Current Year, which represents the total dividend payable
by the Company for the Current Year. A total dividend of HK8 cents per
share was paid to shareholders in last year.

FACING A CHALLENGING MARKET

COVID-19 has resulted in economic slowdown around the world over
the past three years. Stringent travel restrictions and social distancing
measures resulted in sharp contraction of social and economic activities
both domestically and internationally. Coupled with rising inflation,
climbing interest rates, and heightened geopolitical tensions across the
world, the long-lasting and widespread effects of the pandemic
presented businesses across industries with unprecedented challenges,
and it is expected that a full recovery to pre-pandemic level will take
considerably longer.

Hong Kong and mainland China, the Group's strategic dual geographical
focus markets, were not immune to this challenging business
environment. Economic growth in Hong Kong and the Mainland was
hampered by the pandemic’s resurgence in the spring and winter of
2022, respectively. The travel restrictions and social distancing measures
were only gradually relaxed in early 2023 when the pandemic receded.

To support the economy, the Hong Kong Government encouraged
convening a number of regional and international conferences, expos
and sports events, and implemented stimulus policies including a stamp
duty relief for first-time home buyers in the 2022 Policy Address. These
initiatives helped support the property demand, and market sentiment
gradually rebounded in the latter part of 2022 as a result. During the first
quarter of 2023, the reopening of borders and rebounding visitor arrivals
propelled Hong Kong's economy and its property and retail markets.
Hong Kong's GDP and employment rates also showed signs of modestly
recovering from a deep bottom.

Hong Kong's private home price index rose to 3514 in March 2023,
marking a three-month increment and setting a half-year high, according
to the Rating and Valuation Department. The market is beginning to
gradually absorb the abundant housing supply accumulated over the
three years of pandemic. Nonetheless, a recovery of the property market
in the remainder of 2023 depends on the restoration of market
sentiment to pre-pandemic level.

In the Mainland, economic activity was seriously interrupted by the
pandemic over most of 2022, and the real estate sector was hard-hit.

EFEeRRAFEESRARHERESBRUBM
HMFK TKiE&HkQZ@% il
—HMRFEE BRRERZKREAENSERS
Al -

WIS FERE TR

BE=ZF HEUBKBEERBHARZHE
o BRI IRER GBI M X REEEERE
ENEEHNUHENEEIDAREEZRE - K

FHRTEEEXNRMARZOTE &K
RIFTARBRBEE - i LmAR B - F 827 -

AEE2HMEBORREER BHFHER
RETRSEET2MEZRIBAIKT -

BRlEmBRRamksE  SEOMMEZLT
%—%%ﬂ$ﬂwmﬁT%ﬁﬁ AR EE
F20NFEFREEDHNEETENALETE
&%ﬁ’ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂg/ﬁi“ﬁ HE20BFVEBEA
ZOET R R B 3 BRI RN R RS R B E 5 IR BE 2

BEEWE -
E%ﬁ%w'%%ﬂﬁﬁﬁi% W% E i
BUMBREANER RERBARE I

F2NFHRBBREFE %yﬁﬂ%hm l
MBREREENIER HEPHIFEMS
Ko T RA IR A I 72 2022 4F 1 B T [B] BE o
F2BRFFE—ZFE - FARTEHAMBER
HBERBEARNEA BT EENLEE Y
¥NMTEMG EENANMEELBERRLE
EHWARRBFNIEF -

ﬁﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ 0B3F3/HBE
ERAAFTEEEHREA A48 BEEE=
MHL% BlEF s o M5B EHRA
BE-ZFTREHEZENEEHE BE W
gt 2023 F A TR M ERB R
ARTIS RS S RIEZZIBAAKTE -

AR B A FE 2022 FF K BB
RSy HEAIET -

B S R R 18 E B
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

Since late 2022, private home demand and supply have rebounded
modestly after having trended downwards. The upturn was propelled by
the gradual relaxation of pandemic-control measures, and the Central
Government's supportive policies, including the easing of purchase
restrictions, and its Three Arrows Policy, comprising adjustments to bank
lending as well as enhancement of real estate enterprise financing. New
home prices in 70 major cities increased month-on-month in January
2023, ending a five-month decline, and growth continued into February
and March 2023, according to National Bureau of Statistics data.
Encouragingly, housing transaction volume and transaction prices for
the cities where our businesses are located, also showed signs of
rebounding and the markets are relatively resilient.

PAVING THE WAY FOR LONG-TERM GROWTH

We celebrated the Group's 45™ anniversary in 2022. As we are moving
away from the impact of the pandemic and heading towards our next
milestones, the Group has already formulated plans that pave way for
our long-term business growth, and enhance our commitment to the
community and environment.

Hong Kong

In Hong Kong, the strategic DB 2.0 Roadmap shall transform our flagship
Discovery Bay ("DB") project. From providing new residential and leisure
offerings to creating a greener and more sustainable living experience
and uplifting our current infrastructure, the DB 2.0 Roadmap will cater to
the evolving preferences of residents and future homebuyers.

B20NFEB ZBEHEREBEERHNE  F
REFHEEFTRR BREREEEDER
Bl ARIRHI =& E R R — UAEET
BERMELCLEBED %ﬂﬁvhﬂ'ﬁﬁ%
AFEEHEERTITEY mﬂ@ﬂ
Eﬁl%m#%mﬁﬁﬁwmiﬂ

EXrEMme—FEEEBRIXRA LA

Tﬁﬁﬂm&%'ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬂwﬂﬁ%%
E-REEEEMENBET MERIXER
RBEBHEHZ2HEHR - S AKEIEE-

REERBERHR

QNFIEFEEBAKNASEF - RS EH
BREBEHREE M T —RREa0 HEt
A SEIAEHET RIS AEERE
E¥BEREE BEORMEBLEMNIRED
R o

i

EEE REUENARE0/EBSREHE
MEEERREMSETREFNER  BBER

AV E MK B R ElJfEZf’@&—HiZ*
ERER RREFARBEER il o

ERERFKEXRHS \i‘EE}]ﬁlﬁ>< °
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Under the Master Plan 7.0E, which has been approved by the
government, we are advancing the development of a land plot on the
northern part of DB. The entire project will provide over 1,400 housing
units, where residents will enjoy proximity to extensive green spaces and
convenient mobility.

The Group is also planning to enhance the existing infrastructure to
deliver exceptional leisure experiences to the residential community. For
instance, the upcoming multi-recreation centre in DB (official name to
be announced) will provide various educational, leisure and sports
facilities, and the pier facilities will be upgraded.

We are also exploring additional property development opportunities,
and are applying to rezone Area 10b in DB, which upon approval will
further enhance our residential and community offerings.

During the Current Year, the Hong Kong Government brought in policies
providing additional land supply to meet rising housing and commercial
demand. One notable land supply development is the Kau Yi Chau
Artificial Islands initiative, which is scheduled to be completed by 2033.
Together with related new infrastructure, it is set to improve Lantau
Island’s connectivity with other parts of Hong Kong and the Greater Bay
Area.

Though the government’s proposal is still at the planning stage, we are
hoping to see the relaxation of building height limits and establishment
of a sea/rail transport network to connect Eastern Lantau to the Atrtificial
Islands and then further to Hong Kong Island. As a key stakeholder in
Lantau, we believe that this proposal is an excellent opportunity to
unlock the full potential of Lantau and contribute to the growth of Hong
Kong as a whole.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

Apart from DB, the Group has rolled out sales activities to capture the
opportunities presented by the resumption of normal economic activity.
VILLA LUCCA, the seaview luxury residence at Tai Po hillside, received
increasing numbers of viewers. The project enjoys close proximity to the
proposed Northern Metropolis. Interest from local and cross-border
buyers is expected to further increase as cross-border travel fully
resumes.

Mainland China

In the Mainland, we are progressing with development in the Yangtze
River Delta Area. Building on our solid presence in the region, the Group
continues to prudently replenish its land bank by reviewing land plots
with development potential as the pandemic recedes in the Mainland.
We have acquired a land plot in Jiaxing’s Nanhu New District in March
2023, our sixth investment in Jiaxing, which will be transformed into a
premium residential development. The project exemplifies the Group's
confidence in the Mainland’s long-term sustainable growth.

As the property market has been consolidating over the past few years,
owing to the pandemic and insolvency of some developers, the
residential market values project quality more than ever. The Group
adheres to its corporate value of “Creating a Lifestyle”, and continues to
inject craftsmanship into building high-quality housing, aiming to meet
home-buyer demand and support the healthy development of the
housing sector in the Mainland.

Turning to HKRI Taikoo Hui (“HTH") in Shanghai, we are enhancing its
merchant mix by embracing a spirit of breaking the status quo. Our goal
is to create unique experiences for our customers, who nowadays prefer
brands with distinct characters. Customers can expect “new surprises”

each time they visit HTH. This also aligns with our overall position as an
industry trend leader.
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Overseas
Over time, we aim to enhance capital appreciation and earnings
potential through our active asset management strategy, especially amid
current and future macroeconomic headwinds and increasing
uncertainty.

In February 2023, the Group profitably divested the Wireless Road land
plot in Bangkok. The divestment will help the Group to better focus on
its core businesses, while providing additional working capital to fund
strategic projects, thereby reinforcing the Group’s medium- and long-
term growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Despite the varied challenges posed by the pandemic, we continued to
advance the Group's mission of building a sustainable and green
community.

HKRI is steadfast in its commitment to improving sustainability,
governance and environmental impact — our ESG Committee, CSR Task
Force, and Risk Management Steering Group work closely with the Board
of Directors to oversee group-level practices. Demonstrating our
commitment to transparent climate-related disclosures, we took a
significant step forward during the Current Year by adopting the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”") framework.

Turning to operations, we are committed to the United Nations’
Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs"). Our business units abided by
the Group's Environmental Policy and Climate Change Policy, which
enabled our teams to strategically move towards a sustainable future
across all regions and facets of our businesses.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Though the pandemic is receding and borders are re-opened, which
bode well for economic growth, there is cause for caution.

The COVID-19 pandemic inflicted structural damage on the global
economy and across industries, which will not be remedied in the short
term. Meanwhile, a full recovery to the pre-pandemic level is also
intertwined with global and regional macro-economic and geopolitical
vulnerabilities.

In addition, interest rate hikes are leading to higher financing costs, and
several currencies are depreciating, including the yuan, baht, and yen,
which increased the Group’s net exchange losses during the course of
our development and investment.

However, we remain cautiously optimistic on future economic growth.
The Group boasts strong fundamentals and balance sheet, and 45 years
of experience in responding to different market situations. Following the
spirit of our 45" anniversary theme “Together We Fortify”, HKRI remains
committed to our long-term business strategy to create a unique lifestyle
that is both aspirational and sustainable.

With our approach to ensuring balanced businesses, we will navigate
market volatility and achieve long-term growth. We will continue to
leverage diversified channels to replenish land bank and develop high-
quality homes, and reinforce our solid position in the hospitality sector,
while maintaining a disciplined approach to development and risk
management.
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To pave the way for medium- to long-term development, we will stay
vigilant to emerging challenges, while progressing with sustainable
development across our business units, fuelling future growth when
opportunities arise.

APPRECIATION

I'would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to
the Board of Directors for their guidance and wise counsel, which helped
us to sail through macroeconomic uncertainty. | am also deeply grateful
for our full team of staff across the regions, including the frontline and
senior management team, for their commitment and resilience in
achieving a number of milestones while overcoming varied challenges
amid the pandemic. Lastly, | would like to thank our stakeholders and the
community for their ongoing support over the past 45 years and into the
future. Together, we will create a lifestyle that is better and greener than
ever.

Vet

Victor CHA
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WD

HKRI is a conglomerate whose core business is property development
and investment. The Group's strategy is to increase its asset value by the
continued development and enhancement of its flagship projects,
including DB and HTH, acquisition of land plots or projects of varying
scale for development/re-development, and enhancement of the
Group's other investment properties’ value. The Group will continue to
look for opportunities to expand its property portfolio.

LAND BANK

As of 31 March 2023, total land bank (including those held directly by
joint ventures) attributable to the Group amounted to 8,435,000 square
feet, which is earmarked for property development upon fulfilment of
the related terms and conditions. During the Current Year, the Group
acquired 1,415,000 square feet of developable gross floor area ("GFA”).

ERHEXBEBRIELEYERRIRER
B EENROKBERAEEBE X3
B=AEBREINNLER BRFEERLE
EEEBERB(BEERSERBEENLHE)
WREARAENRKNBRETER/E2
AEBETEMREYRIEE - KRBT
Mewes BREXEYEES -

+ it

MR2023F3A31H SEEML T HEEREE
B ET8435000 F TR (BIERAERRIFARN
Ti) HEOTHEHBEERERE %%
MEBIEMEZE - SERAFE D WE
1,415,000 75 IR ] 22 48 #E T [ 15 ©

Property Development And Investment

VWERERKREXRE

The Group's revenue from property development and investment
for the Current Year, including the proportionate share of joint
ventures and associates of HK$973 million (2022: HKS$1,061 million),
was HKS$1,833 million, down from HKS$4,525 million in preceding
year.

The contribution from property development and investment,
including the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates of
HKS251 million (2022: HK$286 million), was HK$819 million (2022:
HKS1,371 million).
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong

The COVID-19 pandemic’s fifth wave and stringent social-distancing
measures adversely impacted economic activity for most of 2022.
Property sales activities were interrupted and transaction price and
volume trended down. During the Current Year, volatile global economic
conditions, rising interest rates and a weakened stock market further
hindered market confidence and local demand. The property market has
only rebounded after Hong Kong re-opened its borders and removed
social-distancing measures in February 2023. Nonetheless, the uptick is
relatively shallow compared to the extent of the downturn over the
course of the pandemic. A full recovery to pre-pandemic levels will take
longer and will depend on the macro-economic situation. The Group
will remain cautious when implementing its strategies and paving the
way for its long-term sustainable development.

During the Current Year, planning and upgrade works continued to
progress at DB (in which the Group holds a 50% interest). The
investments exemplify the Group’s commitment to the community.
According to the strategic DB 2.0 Roadmap, apart from providing high-
quality housing units that align with the market's growing expectations,
DB's infrastructure and facilities will also be upgraded, providing a high-
quality living environment and sustainable homes for the residential
community. As part of this upgrade program, the Group is refurbishing
the piers’ facilities to enhance customers’ convenience and experience.

The planning for and development of a land plot in DB North continued
according to DB Master Plan 7.0E. The whole project provides over
1.3 million square feet GFA with over 1,400 residential units, located
around a green living environment featuring a 160,000 square feet
central park. Construction of the first phase (Phase 19) commenced in
February 2022. Stage 1 of foundation work was completed in February
2023 while stage 2 is targeted to complete by July 2023. Superstructure
work commenced in April 2023 and is expected to be completed by the
end of 2025.

The rezoning of staff quarters at DB Area 6f to residential use was
approved in principle by the Town Planning Board. Corresponding
revision of outline zoning plan and approval of master plan is being
processed by the relevant departments. Area 6f will provide about 500
residential units upon completion. The Group is now exploring the
feasibility of adopting Modular Integrated Construction ("MiC"), an
environmentally-friendly building method that maximises off-site
construction and reduces waste, for this project.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

The sustainability-inspired multi-recreation centre complex in DB (official
name to be announced) is advancing, and site work has commenced in
May 2023. The complex’s plan incorporates green architectural design
by utilising renewable energy and leveraging up-cycled materials for
construction. It will offer a range of educational, sports and leisure
facilities, and is set to establish another brand-new leisure hub in DB.

VILLA LUCCA (a 40:60 joint-venture with Hysan Development Company
Limited), a world-class luxury residential project with sea views in Tai Po,
has been attracting an increasing number of local and Mainland
prospective buyers, attributing to its proximity to the proposed Northern
Metropolis, and convenient access to the city centre and multiple land-
border crossings. Viewing volume for the project increased significantly
following the full resumption of normal travel arrangements between
Hong Kong and the Mainland. The certificate of compliance for the
project was issued in March 2023,

With regards to the residential redevelopment project at Hollywood
Road and Upper Lascar Row, the foundation work is in progress. The
project is expected to be completed by the end of 2025.

The Group's residential projects in Hong Kong as of 31 March 2023 are
summarised below:

Poggibonsi, DB 5= & Z 12

LA BEZREAESNMEEZHEEY
FOEREREE) CAEEEFR TEDR
203Fs AR -THEBMEAZRGEERT
BEBEPRBABAEREAALBEY
Be-THEBE —RINHME - EBMIKHE R
R—5 A= EERENIREEE-

EERGzE=EHENS UL RS ES &
KR BB @BH - AERETTH LR
ZERER A F - RS T RS A AN
BEER -EEAUEANMRERBER EA
RSB ASABEEL M HB B R2023F3 88
BEHNTXREFRES(RBIORBEALLD - B L
WAEBEFEEEFRAANLERERE &
1% £ 51 5 Bl & 40% K2 60% ©

R EENRERE LENEEERRBE
FETHETRE BHER205FERT -

HZE2023F3A3H SENEEEEEEMH
T

(50% owned) (1 50% 1 #= )
Total units 25 1 42 2: 196

Units sold E & & {2: 190
(2 sold during the Current Year/ 7K 4F & & & 2 @)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$40.3 million
TEEHENRZE 403FEBT

Revenue of 2 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

FEEEEMNBRAEREIFEAIR
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IL PICCO, DB i =& Z g

(509% owned) (1 50% & 25 )

Total units 2 {7 #2 £{: 21 garden houses 21 & 1 B 3% &
Unitssold E &8 {z:7

(2 sold during the Current Year/ N 4 £ & H 21&)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$105.8 million
AEEHEWRSR 1058 BET

Revenue of 2 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

QEEEFENRACREREEAR

(40% owned) ({h 409% 1 %5 )
Total units 28 {7 48 £: 262

Unitssold E €8 {7: 18
(18 sold during the Current Year/ 78 F £ & ) 18 1)

Sales proceeds generated during the Current Year:
HK$464.9 million
FEEHENRS 4649BBETT

Revenue of 9 sold units recognised during
the Current Year

IEEEEMNRACREAFEEAR

Mainland China

As a result of interruptions caused by the pandemic, construction and
transactions of Mainland's residential market contracted for most of the
Current Year. The property market began to recover after the easing of
stringent containment measures and gradual resumption of economic
and social activities in the last quarter of 2022. The property markets in
the cities where the Group operates are relatively resilient and showed
signs of recovery.

Supportive central and local government policies helped warm up the
market from the beginning of 2023. Housing demand started edging up
and land sales rebounded from a low base. Full positive impact on the
market will probably be apparent in the long term — property developers
are cautiously resuming the pace of development and investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWNR DN

Alongside the gradual resumption of economic activity and the
expected increase in market demand, the Group has started to ramp up
its property development and sales activities during the Current Year.

In Jiaxing, Starlight One, a deluxe residential project of 392 high-rise
apartments and villas, obtained its occupation permit in January 2023.
Over 94% of the units were sold on the launch day in March 2023.

Total units 2 {i 42
3NRESELAEE

BEEEEEHERBIME RSERATSEEX
BN EEEAFECHRBMBEY ¥R M
SHEES -

UREET E’J%EEE%IEEE@'%ET%
NEEEBABEMEANE - B R2023F1 A

BB MME& I‘Eﬂiaﬁﬁﬂ% FI&EE KA
£ LB IR 4% ) B i o

| £:392 high-rise apartments and villas
2 v & Bl 2

Units sold & & & {: 371

GFA (sq.ft.) 2 HHE & (£ 5 R):768,000

Occupation permit ¥ A £ 4% B RS :
obtained in January 2023
202314

In the same month, the Group acquired a residential plot in Jiaxing's
Nanhu New District with a GFA of 1,415,000 square feet. It sits at a river
junction and is set to benefit from the development potential of the
Nanhu Fund Town.

In Hangzhou, development of IN One, a premium low-density project
comprising 245 apartments and 50 villas, is progressing on schedule
with completion expected by the end of 2023.

BAA SERBMLAZETEHTEEET
I B TE S A1415000F 5 R - %8B A
HIR/K BT ERERES/NENER -

UMM THBEEZE TR EMESET
ZEZREEB B SIRM245E R E E L K50mE
BIEF > FEHARA 2023 F KB T

IN One # &
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The residential plot in Shanghai's Songjiang District, which the Group
acquired in January 2022, will be developed into low-density residences
providing around 300 units. Foundation work has completed and
superstructure work is progressing.

The Group's key residential projects under development in mainland
China are:

GFA (sq. ft.)
BEEEE(EAR)

Projects
EHHE
Jiaxing, Zhejiang I E E &

Land lot no. 2023-06 in
Nanhu New District
80 37 [ 2023-06 5% 3 8

1,415,000

R202F 1A SEWEBALN EESTMRTERN
FEHEUEREARZREEE - REL3001E
B -METEE K FEEETREER
HITH -

ERMEANTEAHEEFEFEEEE
mF :

Status as of 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31HMMMAR

Planning in progress, to be developed into a premium apartment
development with a plot ratio of 2:1.
Expected works commencement: End of 2023

HHEAERBREF BERafEE HWEHLRE -
TEHAE) TR RS : 20234 /K

Hangzhou, Zhejiang 37 5T & #1 M

245 low-rise apartments and 50 villas.
Construction works: In progress.

Expected completion: End of 2023

2458 1K [ A

%
H
Hib

BB MSotE R B IEHEITE

TEHASE A B [ 2023 F R

IN One 430,000
mER

Shanghai L&

Land lot no. $JS30003-02-04 350,000

in Songjiang District
ST 8 SJS30003-02-04 5% i 158

Around 300 units with a plot ratio of 1:1.
Foundation work has completed and superstructure works
commenced in February 2023.

#9300{E B (7 - HFELL T A1 o
WETEERK FEEETREER2023F2AFT -

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in
mainland China to expand its business footprint in other cities, especially
in the Yangtze River Delta region.

Thailand

Thailand relaxed travel restrictions in 2022, with Thailand Pass removed
in July 2022. Since then, Thailand’s economy and tourist arrivals have
been recovering and growing sharply compared to 2021. At present,
they are around halfway to returning to the pre-pandemic level, and full
recovery will take time. Real estate market sentiment is expected to
continue improving as the economy recovers.

In February 2023, the Group disposed of its 49% interest in the Wireless
Road project, realising an attractive return to expand its pool of funds for
future investment opportunities. The Group will continue to assess
appropriate development and investment opportunities and divest
existing land bank at appropriate time when the land price has
appreciated to a favourable level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Hong Kong

Business sentiment in Hong Kong stabilised from mid-2022 as the fifth
wave of the pandemic receded. Economic activity started to restore
order following the removal of social distancing measures and the re-
opening of borders in 2023.

Retail sales in Hong Kong rebounded from a relatively low base in 2022,
and rose 7% year-on-year in January 2023. The momentum continued
further with 31% and 41% year-on-year growth in February and March
2023 respectively.

Office rental demand was subdued in 2022 because of the pandemic
and uncertain economic outlook. Businesses tended to relocate to more
cost-effective locations or reduce office space by implementing remote
working from home, a trend that continued even when market
sentiment started to improve in early 2023.

To maintain occupancy rates and recruit new tenants, the Group
deployed proactive leasing activities including a series of marketing
campaigns and provision of furniture and fitting out packages.

The property investment projects in DB, in which the Group holds a 50%
interest, recorded stable revenue during the Current Year. DB Plaza and
DB North together achieved an average occupancy rate of 87%. Planning
is under way to enhance the retail mall, providing a better environment,
and retail and dining experiences for DB residents and visitors.

MERKRE

&8
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DB Plaza THi=2/E%
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The Group retained its major anchor tenants at the CDW Building in
Tsuen Wan, and secured a range of new tenants. As a result, the retail-
cum-office complex achieved an average occupancy rate of 93% during
the Current Year. At the 8% retail mall, both retail sales and footfall
recorded an upward trend since May 2022.

The United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan recorded an average
occupancy rate of 97% during the Current Year. Approval to modify the
land use from industrial to residential has been obtained and premium
negotiation is ongoing. West Gate Tower, a revitalised 24-storey office
building in Cheung Sha Wan, recorded an average committed
occupancy rate of 73% during the Current Year and reached over 90% in
May 2023.

Wellgan Villa, a residential building in Kowloon Tong held for rental
purposes, recorded an average occupancy rate of 86% during the
Current Year.

Mainland China

During the Current Year, performance of HTH in Shanghai (in which the
Group has a 50% interest) and HKR International Centre in Hangzhou
steadily recovered from the pandemic.

In Shanghai, the city-wide lockdown in April and May 2022 resulted in
across-the-board shop closures which significantly affected HTH's retail
mall performance during this period. After the lockdown was lifted, the
retail market has recovered noticeably amid the challenging market
environment. Since January 2023, with the easing of pandemic control
measures, HTH mall turnover has started to gain positive momentum,
attributing to its enhanced tenant mix and a strong traffic rebound.
During the Current Year, HTH retail mall recorded an average occupancy
rate of 92%.
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In 2022, despite the slowdown in demand for office space due to COVID-
19's resurgence, office rents at HTH remained resilient. HKRI Centres One
and Two continued to focus on retaining and attracting high-quality
clients while maintaining positive rental reversions. During the Current
Year, the two office towers recorded a combined average occupancy
rate of 99%.

For HKR International Centre in Hangzhou, where the Group holds 156
office units and the usage right of 62 parking lots, the property achieved
an average occupancy rate of 91% during the Current Year. Since its
acquisition in January 2022, the project has provided stable recurring
income for the Group.

Through continuous efforts to enhance the tenant mix, tenant retention,
new tenant acquisitions, and increasing marketing initiatives, the Group
speeds up the pace of recovery of its malls and offices in mainland China.
The Group will continue to explore further high-quality property
investment opportunities in the Yangtze River Delta and other regions
with growth opportunities to generate stable income growth.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

DB's transportation operations are managed by the Group's various
operating subsidiaries in which the Group has a 50% interest. With the
pandemic easing and the removal of social-distancing measures,
demand for sea and land transportation services is recovering steadily.
However, some existing operational challenges had intensified during
the Current Year, such as driver shortage was aggravated by heightened
demand arising from cross-border and tourist services expansion due to
the border re-opening, high fuel costs and more stringent maintenance
requirements.

Transportation emission controls remained a sustainability priority for
DB. Three newly ordered Euro VI-compliant double-deck buses were
delivered to Hong Kong and will be deployed to operate in the first half
of 2023, thus improving carrying capacity. As part of the Group's
environmental conservation efforts, plans are under way to procure new
electric vehicles, including buses and hire cars. Other plans are in the
pipeline to enhance transportation services by covering more locations
and increasing on-demand flexibility.
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For ferry services, refurbishment of DB Pier commenced in October 2022
and renovation of Central Pier No. 3 commenced in May 2023. Upon
completion, the upgraded transportation facilities will enhance the
customer experience and provide a much greater level of comfort for
both residents and visitors.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group's property management services in DB and elsewhere in
Hong Kong continued to perform well in the Current Year, as exemplified
by their commitment to service excellence and sustainability.

The property management team strives to integrate sustainable
practices into operations when managing DB's residential and public
areas. DB is one of the first communities in Hong Kong to launch the
Environmental Protection Department’s Pilot Scheme on Food Waste
Collection. It has also made use of the composting of food and yard
waste and the recycling of waste for horticultural purposes. The Green
DBers Programme was launched during the Current Year to boost
residents’ awareness of DB's green community initiatives.

HOTEL OPERATIONS AND LEISURE
BUSINESSES

After a challenging first half of the Current Year, international travel and
local social and economic activities gradually resumed, which helped
propel the performance of the Group’s hospitality businesses, especially
hotel operations. The clubhouses and leisure businesses are expected to
benefit from the full return of local and international travellers as well as
large scale events.
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HOTEL OPERATIONS

Hong Kong

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong (in which the Group holds a 50%
interest) has been riding on the previous success of its staycation
initiative and introduced another themed summer staycation package in
mid-2023. In the second half of the Current Year, alongside the removal
of social distancing measures and the re-opening of borders, the hotel
rolled out popular festival packages and campaigns, driving a sustained
occupancy rebound. The hotel recorded an average occupancy rate of
70% during the Current Year.

The hotel will continue to reinforce its market leadership in themed
staycations, strengthen its wedding and Meeting, Incentive, Convention
& Exhibition business segments via external and internal expos, and
create promotional synergies by collaborating with the Group’s other
business units, including DB Ice Rink (“DBIR") and Peony Chinese
Restaurant, to drive business and brand awareness. To attract and retain
inbound customers, extra effort will be focused on leveraging the
Group's business partner networks and influencer marketing, coupled
with investment in Customer Relationship Management ("CRM")
technology.

Mainland China

The Group'’s hotel businesses were interrupted by the Shanghai-wide
lockdown over the second quarter of 2022, and continued to be affected
by stringent pandemic restrictions for the rest of the year. Since the
beginning of 2023, market sentiment has begun to rapidly revive
alongside with the easing of pandemic containment measures and
travel restrictions. The Sukhothai Shanghai and The Middle House (the
Group holds a 50% interest in both) are expected to benefit from this
upward trend.
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Thailand

Visitor arrivals in Thailand grew steadily after the gradual relaxation and
later removal of travel restrictions in 2022. Nonetheless, visitor volume is
only around half-way back to the pre-pandemic level. During the Current
Year, after a relatively weak first half, the hotel’s occupancy rate began
recovering. The Sukhothai Bangkok is expected to benefit from the
ongoing rebound of Thailand’s tourism industry. Construction of new
premise of The Sukhothai Spa is under way, with the new luxury spa
complex scheduled to open in the third quarter of 2023.

LEISURE BUSINESSES

DB is becoming an increasingly popular leisure hub. With its various
world-class venues and facilities, it is also poised to enhance Hong
Kong's image as Asia’s sports event capital. The various establishments
under the leisure business segment delivered good performance.

Despite DBIR being closed from January to end of April 2022 due to the
pandemic, the various festive and seasonal events held after the
closedown period resulted in year-on-year growth for walk-in visitors,
figure skaters and ice sports activities rentals. With its international
standard rink and team of professional coaches, DBIR has established
itself as an elite ice-skating academy, and has solidified its position as a
popular training-cum-competition venue for professional figure skating,
speed skating and ice hockey development.

Since June 2022, DBIR has introduced Hong Kong's first international
standard short-track speed skating programme in collaboration with
local Winter Olympian Sidney Chu. It has also been selected as one of
the official training centres for the Hong Kong National Figure Skating
Team, the only training base for the Hong Kong National Speed Skating
Team, and the venue partner for the Hong Kong Cup 2022, hosted by
the Hong Kong Skating Union.

The Sukhothai Bangkok
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DBIR will continue to reinforce its position as an international sports
competition venue and an elite ice-skating academy. In 2023, it will host
various regional and international competitions, including the Greater
Bay Championships Il and Skate Asia 2023, the world's largest
recreational figure skating competition.

At Lantau Yacht Club ("LYC"), yachtcation package customers and visiting
members generated additional revenue for LYC during the Current Year.
The yachtcation package offers an exclusive yacht lifestyle experience in
DB, including access to the LYC's gastronomic and hospitality offerings,
as well as spa treatments at Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong.
Characterised by its unique services and facilities, LYC was chosen to
host various yacht brand and yacht owners’ events. LYC will continue to
build on its exceptional brand equity to strengthen its membership
acquisition and partnership collaborations.

At Discovery Bay Golf Club, the number of golf rounds expanded year-
on-year during the Current Year. Plans are under way to further enhance
its clubhouse in 2023.

The Group holds a 50% interest in all of DB's leisure businesses.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Despite challenging circumstances, HKRI steadfastly pursued its
sustainability objectives by aligning its Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") initiatives with the SDGs and other regional
sustainability goals. The Group's sustainability objectives are realised
through its five strategic pillars comprising the Environment, Human
Capital, Community, Value Chain and Product Responsibility.
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To deliver on its commitment to climate accountability, the Group will
fully implement the recommendations established by the TCFD by 2025.
During the Current Year, the Group took a significant step in adopting
the TCFD framework, which enables the systematic disclosure of climate-
related information.

The Group will continue to enhance the comprehensiveness,
consistency, and transparency of its climate disclosures, while promoting
greater awareness of climate resilience within the organisation. Full
disclosure of the Group's sustainability vision, initiatives and performance
is contained in the Group's £SG Report. Interested stakeholders may refer
to the online £5G Report for more details.

In recognition of the Group's commitment to sustainability and
disclosure, it was awarded the Outstanding ESG Performer of the Year
(Listed Company) Diamond Award by the ESG Achievement Awards and
the Best ESG Report (Small Cap) Grand Award by the Hong Kong ESG
Reporting Awards (HERA) programme in 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group's Environmental Policy and Climate Change Policy serve as
guiding principles for its business units’ sustainable practices. HKRI has
evolved its environmental goals, continually enhancing energy and
water efficiency, lowering emissions, and curbing waste production.

HKRI's internal Project Management Guideline encourages all new

developments to obtain Hong Kong Building Environmental Assessment
Method ("BEAM Plus") certification.
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The Group achieved its commitment to expand its use of clean and
renewable energy, and joined the CLP Power Hong Kong's Feed-in Tariff
scheme. The CDW Building commenced pilot installation of a rooftop
solar panel system. The installation of more rooftop solar panels is under
way for other projects in DB.

HKRI's hospitality businesses are committed to reducing their carbon
footprints, and have been progressively phasing out plastic products in
favour of biodegradable alternatives, such as takeaway boxes made from
corn starch and oyster shell powder. Concurrently, all the Group's
businesses have implemented rigorous internal policies to govern
material sourcing and waste management practices.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

In alignment with the Group's HKRI All-in ESG theme, HKRI remains
dedicated to serving communities and individuals in need, especially
low-income groups and the socially disadvantaged, through its
volunteer initiatives.

During the Current Year, HKRI introduced foam bar football, a new sport
for the elderly that originated in Japan, to Hong Kong. The Group
collaborated with the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals and other non-
governmental organisations ("NGOs") to organise the All-In Foam Bar
Football Play-offs for the elderly. The sport is safe and inclusive for players
of various ages and levels of mobility, and encourages the elderly to
exercise and engage in interpersonal relationships.

To nurture the new generation, the Group held its third PRI’DE Creative
Camp Movable Chair Design Competition, which provided a platform for
young designers and artists from 27 countries, to showcase their
ingenuity while raising awareness of sustainable design. Besides, the
Group organised an architectural design competition for its
multi-recreation centre in DB (official name to be announced). By
offering related internship opportunity and together with experts as
honourable judges, the event aims to nurture young architectural talents
through academic-industrial-synergy.
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The Group continued to promote a caring culture in the communities it
operates by partnering with a wide range of NGOs, schools and other
community stakeholders and participating in various activities. During
the Current Year, the Love.Together@DB platform hosted the DB Kids
Farming Programme, DB Fun Carnival and DB Chinese New Year
Drawing Competition, and participated in a mural painting day in Tung
Chung.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group's donations and sponsorships to a range
of charities, educational institutions, and welfare organisations amounted
to HK$4.8 million, a year-on-year increase of 25%.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2023, the total number of the Group'’s employees was 1,435.
Management frequently reviews its talent development schemes to
ensure the Group's competitiveness in the human capital market. The
Group fosters a harmonious working environment and an engaging
corporate culture through staff training and benefits, as well as wellness
programmes. Feedback and recommendations from employees are
collected through a corporate culture survey.

To support the personal and professional development of staff and
maintain competency levels, the Group conducted a series of training
programmes, covering a wide range of topics including leadership and
problem-solving skills. A “Safety Supervisor Training Course” and a “Speak
Up for Safety Programme” were arranged to promote safety awareness.

The Group believes employees are a vital company asset and values their
contributions. Staff across regions are annually recognised by “Outstanding
Employee Awards’, and long-service staff are eligible for special awards.
Starting mid-2022, a new birthday leave entitlement is being offered to
all permanent full-time employees.
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Staff wellness is another key element of an engaging workplace culture.
The Group's Hong Kong office introduced “HKRI Relaxing Time” for staff
to recharge during work, and “Casual Fridays” to encourage participation
in recreational activities after work.

During the pandemic, the Group continued to regularly organise
physical and mental wellbeing activities under its “The PRI’DE Wellness
Programme” to provide staff with support and foster a positive working
environment. Activities included a Pastel Nagomi Art Workshop and an
Emotion Management Workshop.

The Group was recognised with the “Manpower Developer — Grand Prize
Award 2020-22" under the ERB Manpower Developer Award Scheme;
and the “e-Contribution Award", “MPF Support Award” and “Good MPF
Employer 5 Years+" recognition by the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority.

CUSTOMERS

In order to consistently deliver high-quality operations, the Group has
implemented thorough internal policies and processes to effectively
manage its value chain.

During the Current Year, the Group adopted the Hazard Analysis Critical
Control Point ("HACCP") System and HACCP Food Safety Plan to ensure
strict oversight of, and adherence to, all critical aspects of food
preparation in line with the guidelines laid out in the Food Safety &
Hygiene Book. The Group's hotel ensures the high quality and standards
of its food and equipment through collaborating with food safety and
product testing specialists.
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The Group implements regular customer research and analysis to stay
informed on the latest market developments and changing stakeholder
expectations. A variety of communication channels were used to gather
input from customers, including service feedback, complaints, and
suggestions.

For the property segment, the leasing team held frequent meetings with
tenants to address their concerns and foster relationships. With regards
to transportation operations, quarterly meetings were held to gather
feedback from passengers.

SUPPLIERS

HKRI pursued supply chain sustainability, and paid close attention to its
product quality and environmental impact, as well as health
considerations. To ensure a high-quality supply chain, the Group selects
suppliers in accordance with the Tender and Procurement Policies, which
outline transparent, competitive, and equitable procurement procedures.

In response to stakeholders’ evolving preferences, the Group is
enhancing its Supplier Code of Conduct and Procurement Policy. The
Group's Supplier Code of Conduct outlines its expectations for suppliers in
areas such as business practices, labour and human rights, and
environmental performance. To improve the Group’s procurement
practices, the procurement system was upgraded during the Current
Year by enhancing integration and digital capabilities.
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BRARKTE

Executive Chairman
HITERE

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor B4 mgA aged 73, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company in 1989 and November 2020
respectively. He was the Managing Director and the Deputy Chairman of
the Company until his appointment as Chairman. Mr CHA is also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 40 years’ extensive experience
in real estate development and textile manufacturing. Mr CHA is a non-
executive director ("NED") of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”, a subsidiary
of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust")) and a director of LBJ
Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ Regents”). Mingly, CCM Trust and LBJ
Regents are substantial shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and together
whose interests in the Company represent the substantial interests of
the Cha Family in the Company. He ceased as an alternate independent
non-executive director ("INED") of New World Development Company
Limited ("NWD") with effect from 6 November 2020 (PST) and NWD is
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Mr CHA is the chairman of Hong Kong Arts Festival Society
Limited and a governor of the China-United States Exchange Foundation.
He is also a member of the board of trustees of The Better Hong Kong
Foundation and trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund (“Sang Ma"). Mr CHA is
the father of Mr Benjamin CHA and a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and
Mr Johnson CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
EFEXELL

Non-executive Deputy Chairman

FHITRIER

Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 83, was appointed as Non-
executive Deputy Chairman of the Company in November 2020. She
joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director of the Company in December 2004. Ms WONG is also the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. She is the executive chairman of Mingly and also a director of
a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas, including
LBJ Regents. Ms WONG is the chairman and a trustee of Sang Ma. She is
a sibling to Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA as well as an aunt of Mr
Benjamin CHA.

Mr TANG Moon Wah
BmzE &

Managing Director
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Mr TANG Moon Wah BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 69, was appointed as
Managing Director of the Company in November 2020. He was
appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December 2004 and
is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr TANG has
been serving in the Group since 1985 and has over 40 years’ extensive
experience in property development. He is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Architects (“HKIA") and has been an Authorised
Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991 respectively.
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Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon
TROEEL LA
Executive Director

HITES

Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 60, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in
1996 and currently serves as Head of Projects and Country Head of
Thailand, leading the Group’s projects team and overseeing the daily
operation and property development in Thailand. Before joining the
Group, Mr CHEUNG worked in various architectural and property
developers and has over 30 years' extensive experience in project
management on property development. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in 1989 with an honors degree both in Bachelor
of Architectural Studies and Bachelor of Architecture. Mr CHEUNG is a
member of HKIA and has been the Authorised Person since 1991.

Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay
ZRLER A

Executive Director

HITES
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Mr LEE Ivan Wank-hay cHa, miH, aged 65, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 2022 and is also a director of
some subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the Group in 2012 and
currently serves as General Manager — Hospitality leading the
operations team in Hong Kong, mainland China, Thailand and also future
hospitality business development for the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr LEE has extensive hospitality management experience serving
at the capacity of regional vice president and area vice president for
Millennium & Copthorne Hotels, Pan Pacific Hotels Group in USA, Canada
and Singapore and as executive director, chief executive officer, group
general manager of Sino Land Company Limited and Sino Hotels
(Holdings) Limited for their 6 hotels and clubs in Hong Kong and
Singapore, namely The Conrad Hong Kong, The Fullerton Singapore and
others. He is a Certified Hotel Administrator, a graduate of Hotel
Management from British Columbia Institute of Technology, Canada and
Master Certificate holder of Cornell University School of Hotel
Administration, USA. Mr LEE is also active in the industry by having
served as chairman and vice chairman of Hong Kong Hotels Association,
board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, executive committee
member of The Federation of Hong Kong Hotel Owners and advisory
member of School of Hotel and Tourism Management of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.
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Ms NGAN Man Ying
BAN L L

Executive Director

HITES

Ms NGAN Man Ying BA (Business), FCCA, CPA, aged 57, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. She joined the Group in
2018 and currently serves as Head of Group Finance in leading the
Group finance and treasury functions as well as overseeing the Group's
residential property management, transportation services, information
technology, procurement, corporate communications and legal
functions. Before joining the Group, Ms NGAN had held several senior
positions in New World group and an international accounting firm. She
has over 35 years' extensive experience in finance function and in
property development sector. Ms NGAN holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business from the University of Southern Queensland and is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom ("ACCA").

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
BRI 5

Non-executive Director

FHITES
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson 8s,m84, aged 71, joined the Board in 1989 and
was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years' extensive experience in venture
capital and investment management and is currently the chairman of CM.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited, non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and a NED of Mingly and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope"). Hanison and
Million Hope are listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also an INED of
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a number of other
companies in Hong Kong and overseas including CCM Trust and LBJ
Regents. Mr CHA is a member in non-profit organisations including Qiu
Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral Education Concern
Group. He is also a Co-opted External Member to Finance Committee of
the Council of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
("HKUST") and a member to the court of HKUST. Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms
Madeline WONG and Mr Victor CHA as well as an uncle of Mr Benjamin
CHA.
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Board of Directors
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Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin
B S

Non-executive Director

FHUITES

Mr CHA Yiu Chung Benjamin &4, mgA aged 49, was appointed as Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. He has over 20 years’
experience in property investment, property development and fund
management. Mr CHA is the founder and currently the chair of Seradac
Foundation Limited and was previously the chief executive and director
of Grosvenor Limited, the managing director and the head of global real
estate for Greater China of UBS Global Asset Management and Co-CEO
of UBS/Gemdale. Prior to these, he was Executive Director and Head of
HKR Asia-Pacific of the Company until he left the Company in July 2013.
Mr CHA is also active in non-profit making organisations and currently
serves on the board of Urban Land Institute, Tai Kwun Culture and Arts
Company Limited, and the Asia Art Archive Limited, serving as co-Chair.
He has a master's degree of Business Administration from Stanford
University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in International Politics and
Economics from Middlebury College. Mr CHA is the son of Mr Victor CHA
and a nephew of Ms Madeline WONG and Mr Johnson CHA.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SRIKFRITE

Independent Non-executive Director

BN FHTES
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Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus 8ssc, Jp, aged 75, joined the Board in January
2006 and was re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in March 2012, He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited
which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He ceased as the board of
directors of Sotheby's with effect from 3 October 2019 due to its
privatization and delisted from the New York Stock Exchange on the
same day. Mr CHEUNG was also the chief executive of Hong Kong
Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 2000, deputy chairman of
PCCW Limited from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of Taikang
Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.
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Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
SEARE Tt

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry, 84 18 s8s Jp, aged 75, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2017. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has over 30 years’ experience in
business management. He is currently an INED of Sun Hung Kai
Properties Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange and the
managing director of Hong Kong Glory Limited, a family investment
company. Mr FAN also served as a director and then managing director
of CITIC Pacific Limited (now known as CITIC Limited) from 1990 and
1992 respectively to 2009 and the deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 1997 to 2009. He has a long record of public
services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR") and
is currently the chairman of the Hospital Authority and West Kowloon
Cultural District Foundation Limited, a member of the board of the
Financial Services Development Council and the West Kowloon Cultural
District Authority. Mr FAN was also a non-official member of the
Executive Council of Hong Kong, the chairman of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority, a NED of Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") and an INED of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited ("HKEC"). He is an Attorney-at-Law in the State of
California, US.A. and Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England and
Wales.
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Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
AREZE

Independent Non-executive Director

B FHITES

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta FCIH (retired), aged 76, was re-designated as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from
April 2010. Prior to her re-designation, she was appointed as Executive
Director in 1994 and redesignated as Non-executive Director in April
2008 upon her retirement from all executive roles in the Group. Ms HO is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. She is a retired member of the Chartered Institute of
Housing Asian Pacific Branch and has over 45 years extensive experience
in property development, property investment and management.

Ms Barbara SHIU
ABERR 2+

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFHTES
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Ms Barbara SHIU, 8s¢, M4, aged 67, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2021. She is also a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company. Ms SHIU has over 35 years’
experience in financial services and had held several senior positions in
various financial institutions including the Bank of China group. She was
the general manager of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited in charge of
the operational risk and compliance department when she retired in
2014. Ms SHIU is currently an INED of Livi Bank Limited and Livi Holdings
Limited and chairs the risk committees of both companies. She also has
a long record of public services in the HKSAR and is active in non-profit
making organisations. Ms SHIU was a member of risk management
committee of HKEC, the chairman of Hong Kong Securities Institute, a
director of Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board and Financial Dispute
Resolution Centre, a member of the international advisory committee of
China Securities Regulatory Commission as well as a member of the
Product Advisory Committee and Investor Education Advisory
Committee of SFC. She obtained a Bachelor honors degree in Science
and a Master degree in Business Administration, both from University of
Toronto.
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Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEZ L

Independent Non-executive Director

BAFHTES

Mr TANG Kwai Chang rcca, Fcpa, aged 70, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2014. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with
extensive experience in auditing and audit risk management, the vice
chairman of Deloitte China and board member of Deloitte Global when
he retired in May 2013. He is currently an INED of Bank of
Communications (Hong Kong) Limited, Baowu Resources Company
Limited and Baosteel Resources International Company Limited
(subsidiaries of China Baowu Steel Group Corporation Limited), Tsit Wing
International Holdings Limited (“Tsit Wing”) and Foxconn Interconnect
Technology Limited (which carries on business in Hong Kong as FIT Hon
Teng Limited (“FIT")). Both Tsit Wing and FIT are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr TANG is a fellow member of both ACCA and HKICPA. He is
also currently a convenor of Financial Reporting Review Panel of the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set
out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 224 to
236.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 106.

The Board has recommended the declaration of a final dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK5 cents) to the
shareholders whose names appear on the registers of members of the
Company on 1 September 2023. The proposed final dividend will be
paid on 19 September 2023 following approval at 2023 annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 23 August 2023 (the “2023
AGM"). The proposed final dividend represents the total dividend
payable by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK8
cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 18 to 23 August 2023 (both days inclusive) for the 2023 AGM
as well as from 30 August to 1 September 2023 (both days inclusive) for
the final dividend. During the periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM,
and to qualify for the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 and 29
August 2023 respectively. The notice of the 2023 AGM will be published
on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and despatched to the shareholders of
the Company in due course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business and analysis of the Group's performance
using financial key performance indicators during the year, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group and an
indication of the likely future development of the Group'’s business are
provided in the sections of this annual report headed “Chairman’s
Statement” (on pages 8 to 15), “Management Discussion and Analysis” (on
pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 44 to 65), “Financial
Highlights” (on page 90), “Financial Review” (on pages 91 to 95), “Five-year
Financial Summary” (on page 240) and in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. For review of the development, performance or
position of the Group's business, the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and understanding of the
Group's key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers
and others that have a significant impact on the Group, please see
sections of this annual report headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” (on pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 44 to 65) and
"Corporate Governance Report” (on pages 66 to 89) as well as the £SG
Report of the Group which is published online at the same time of this
annual report.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the applicable companies laws.
Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in the Listing
Rules are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 66 to
89.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence to the
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group in conduct of its business, including but not limited to the
Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance, Competition
Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse Accommodation
Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Minimum Wage
Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Regulations on Administration of Development and
Operation of Urban Real Estate, Regulations on Administration of
Qualification of Real Estate Development Enterprises and Regulatory
Measures on the Sale of Commercial Houses. Any new enactment of or
changes in the relevant laws and regulations would be communicated
to the relevant departments and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders
on compliance would also be sent out where necessary. During the year
under review, there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding the environment, labour
standards, occupational health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy
in Hong Kong and overseas.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly or
indirectly pertaining to the Group'’s businesses. The risk factors set out
below are those that could result in the Group businesses, financial
conditions, results of operations or growth prospects differing materially
from expected or historical results. Such factors are by no means
exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be other risks in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be very material in the future.
In addition, this annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
advice to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

A) PROLONGED COVID-19 PANDEMIC

More and more governments, including places of businesses at which
the Group operates, are relaxing their pandemic restrictions and trying
to support the sluggish economy with various measures, but time is
required for the economy to recover. At current time, there is no clarity
as to how long the domestic or the global economies can resume to
pre-pandemic level. In addition, the pandemic remains unpredictable
due to the potential emergence of new coronavirus variants and might
cause disruption to businesses and tangible costs to the Group's
operation should the pandemic becomes a major health risk again. To
mitigate the risks, the Group will continue to closely monitor the
pandemic development and react timely and proactively to the impact
of the same on its operations and performance, including but not limited
to the implementation of further cost control measures and launching
more creative initiatives to enhance its competitiveness. Moreover, the
Company will continue to use its best endeavours to protect the well-
being of its employees, including regular disinfection in the workplace,
increasing utilisation of virtual meetings and adopting appropriate
flexible working arrangements while ensuring its operations is
maintained at normal level.
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B) RISKS PERTAINING TO PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

Property development and investment are the Group’s core businesses,
primarily in Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand. There exist a
number of factors which could affect the property market in these
regions, including among other things, changes in the economic,
political and legal environment, as well as social issues like large-scale
outbreak of pandemic disease and changes in the government’s policies
and regulations in these regions. These inherent risks may affect the
Group's investment strategy, business model and the overall
performance of the Group's financial results and positions. To mitigate
the risks, the Group actively assesses overall economic, social, political,
legal, and property market developments as well as their changes in
these regions and continue to review and evaluate its investment
strategy to ensure the Group responds to the market changes promptly
and appropriately. The Group will also stay alert to market needs and
continuously upkeep the quality of its investment properties, and build
up a diversified and high-quality tenant-mix in order to preserve its
competitiveness. For each potential project, detailed feasibility and stress
test with regard to all aspects will be carried out before making any
commitment and will also share such risk with potential joint venture
partner, if considered appropriate.

C) RISKS PERTAINING TO OPERATIONS OF THE
GROUP

The Group's operations are subject to a number of risk factors distinctive
to the operation of property development and investment, hospitality,
leisure and transportation businesses. For instance, default on the part of
contractors or sub-contractors, buyers and tenants; or inadequacies or
failures of internal processes and systems; or other external factors such
as the outbreak of pandemic disease, rising construction cost, increase in
inflationary pressures including fuel cost, increasing competition and
seasonality. In addition, accidents which may happen despite policies
and procedures are set up for their prevention, can lead to financial loss,
litigation, damage of reputation and may cause certain degree of
negative impact on the results of the operations. To mitigate the relevant
risks, the Group regularly reviews its existing policies and procedures to
ensure their effectiveness and adequacy, imposes straight guidelines on
carefully selecting and engaging vendors, closely monitors the project
time frame and status, keeps on assessing the market condition and
changes in order to react with appropriate business strategies, such as
try to increase the local market shares in its hotel operation by launching
attractive package and themed campaigns as well as continuously
improves its service quality and facilities to ensure its competitiveness on
attracting banquets and corporate events to protect and drive
profitability. The Group has also arranged adequate insurance coverage
on business interruption or disaster that may result in loss of income.
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D) FINANCIAL RISKS

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due from
associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 210 to 223.

E) HUMAN RESOURCES RISKS

The Group's success is dependent upon its ability to attract, train, retain
and motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members in every aspect.
The loss of key personnel, or the inability to find additional qualified
personnel, could materially and adversely affect the Group’s prospects in
providing adequate resources to support the existing and growing
business, and hence the results of operations. To mitigate such
uncertainty, succession planning is adopted to identify successors for
key management positions and continuously provide coaching and
training, both in-house and external, for talent development. The Group
also regularly reviews its compensation and benefit packages to ensure
such packages are in line with the market as well as creates a bonding
culture to strengthen the sense of belongings of staff members.

F) CYBER-ATTACKS RISKS

Corporate cyber-attacks have increased in frequency, scale and severity
in recent years. Cyber-attacks may cause loss of data, leakage of
confidential information including personal information of customers
and employees, equipment failure and also disruptions to the Group’s or
its partners’ operation for a significant period of time. The adverse impact
of cyber-attacks may include reputation damage, loss of investors’
confidence, loss of revenue from business interruption and resulting
claims, all of which could be substantial. To mitigate the risk of cyber-
attacks on the Group, external cyber security consultant has been
engaged to conduct cyber security assessment and penetration tests on
a regular basis. Information technology orientation sessions and disaster
recovery drills are regularly conducted. Firewall, email filtering and web
content filtering have been adopted and anti-virus programs on servers
and computers have been installed. In addition, regular user-education
on cyber security risks is maintained through internal communication.
All these measures could prevent the attacks from hackers and reduce
cyber security risks.

48 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

D) B & B

EEzFECRITIEAERREEATFETAEM
PERFFEZHRATARE - BAFHAEFAR
HERMEE REHEKAGEZLEBIA
KE - EBREFIRK EBWE L QR HE -
BERTEEQR BRAEZEQRIHE  RTT
HEHRkBEe HUMemEE EHNEIER
EiEeREMmeRmBEE RITEEMER
UWEREMmEE 2SS TARABRRSIE
MERR(EERER - FlERR &H M ESR
%) EERBUEGRHESRER ZE 2
TAZHBROABRERERRR 2 BESHRL
F20BEF2BB AV BHRRMTTH4R -

E) AKEBEREAER

SEZRINABEELTRS - Fl - BER
HEEEEZRARNEFET - RABAEA
B ARERGHREEMAERNARBXSY
SEERHEPWERUIFRAERBER K
ZEBRASEREAINEE MEEXRE
NEMEXITE - BRLZTEERE
SEREECTTINYCEREERM 2 #
EA UHERERNBRIN GRS EEF
BB AT - RE TS E Bin T H 0 RE
B NERABTEED S HMKF—
B YRBIEAXCAERE THRBR -

F) #RKERR

MER BECEREAEBEREZEE R
BERBREREDRMEN - BRI ERRES
TEMEXR BTEN (BREPREEZME
ANER) IR REHE UREBEHESE
BHEERZEETEH BXPERBAEN
REZTE BREBEXBR 1TBREESR
O B R PR 8 B A8 K N BE 2 2R
MRE-SERREEXHEERE ZAR
EZRIIAESL2ERAERETHARLE
A R2EAB  ERRTEMBRARBE
IR X REREE: RAKAE  EFEHMH
K@t NB BB X &R R R EK
RERMHERM - I EETSEBAEE
AMEHHUEAFAABELR2RARNMA -
LAt AT h S AT B L R B N K A AR
ZEERE -



G) COMPLIANCE RISKS

Whilst the Group has a diversified portfolio of business operations across
Hong Kong, mainland China and other key cities in Asia, there may be a
risk associated with the failure to anticipate the trend of regulatory
changes on compliance with the relevant requirements of the local laws
or regulations. To mitigate the risks, the Group continually monitors
changes in relevant local laws and regulations, actively assesses the
effect of relevant developments and seeks for legal advice whenever
necessary to ensure that the relevant requirements are properly
complied with in an effective manner.

H) ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE-RELATED
RISKS

Climate change affects all regions around the world. Main threats
stemming from the accelerating global warming due to the increase in
greenhouse gases include melting of polar ice shields, rising in seas
levels, and more extreme, intense and unpredictable weather events like
excess rainfall, typhoons, flooding, etc. Extreme weather may increase
the risks of disruption of the Group’s business operations and supply
chain, and physical damage to the Group's assets located in the affected
areas, resulting in loss of revenue, higher repair and maintenance costs,
as well as the loss in value of our investments. In addition, extreme
weather conditions may lead to loss of life or injury to the Group's
employees, customers or third parties, for which the Group is expected
to be held responsibilities, causing legal and financial liability, as well as
reputational damage. In support of “Goal 13: Climate Action” under the
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the Company adopts a
proactive approach to assess its vulnerability to climate risks and
integrates such considerations into its strategic planning, aiming to
mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations and enhance
resilience to climate change. Initiatives include monitoring and reducing
the Group'’s carbon footprint by formulating and implementing long-
term emissions reduction targets; adopting industry best practices as far
as feasible to improve energy efficiency through introducing more
advanced green technology and green building design, and exploring
the use of renewable energy in our operations; improving the design of
new development projects to resist natural hazards; providing training
to employees to enhance the Group's preparedness and adaptability to
extreme weather events; and closely monitoring the market and
regulatory changes about low-carbon transition. More details on how
the Group addresses the environmental and climate-related risks are set
out in the ESG Report of the Group which is published online at the
same time of this annual report.
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Risk management is closely linked to the Group’s internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the risk
management process are subject to independent review by the Internal
Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit Committee,
on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems. Details of the aforesaid
review of the effectiveness are disclosed in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 66 to 89.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 198.

DIRECTORS

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr Benjamin CHA was
appointed and Mr Ronald ARCULLI retired as Non-executive Director
(“‘NED") of the Company with effect from 4 July and 24 August 2022
respectively. In addition, Mr lvan LEE was appointed as Executive Director
("ED") of the Company with effect from 1 December 2022. The Directors
as at the date of this annual report are those set out on pages 36 to 43 of
this annual report.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”),
the CG Code of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Ivan
LEE, Mr Johnson CHA, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang will retire
by rotation at the 2023 AGM. All the retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election and except Ms Loretta HO, all other retiring Directors have
offered themselves for re-election. Ms Loretta HO shall retire from office
as Independent Non-executive Director (“INED") of the Company and
accordingly cease as a member of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from conclusion of
the 2023 AGM and will not offer herself for re-election. Other remaining
Directors will continue in office.

None of the Directors who offering themselves for re-election at the
2023 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance with
the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure that all
Directors shall retire at least once every three years.
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Each of the INEDs of the Company has confirmed his/her independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs of the Company meet the independence guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the EDs of the Company have the
direct responsibilities for the business and operations of the Group and
hence the EDs of the Company are regarded as the Company’s senior
management. Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
36 to 43. Details of the Directors’ emoluments are also provided under
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 166 to 168.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS
AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy is in place to
protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and adopted by the Company
were as follows:
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A) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE A) REABSREE2EBTR
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH BZ2HER
Number of ordinary share Approximate
BEERHA percentage of
issued share
Personal Other capital
Name of director  Capacity interests interest Total hEBITHRAZ
E=E8 =87} PN F Hfth # % By BB
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1,254,278 791,896,895" 793,151,173 5340
B discretionary trusts
ExEAALRBBERIEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of - 789684,8827* 789,684,882 53.17
FEXE discretionary trusts
BiEEEIL AR/ZmA
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 790,469,647 790,469,647 5322
BRI BEEEXEA
Benjamin CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - 780,233,599" 780,233,599 5253
R+ BIEELEXEA
Loretta HO Beneficial owner 94,160 - 94,160 0.01
e 5 BExnEAA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 148,720 - 148,720 0.01
B m & EnEA A

52

The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ
Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

ZERMBRE T REEISEF &A% ACCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([ CCM Trust]) & LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited ([LBJ Regents|) Z /& B %
HARE MEREEBERREBEZRA -

635,627,031 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees and the
Director is among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

635627031 RN BN E T AREBIEEFELHABCMTrust X LBJRegents ZZE ZEAB B M EFERBBETHEA -

The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the
classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 154,057,851 shares in aggregate.
ZEERABRCIMTrust ZLBJ Regents ZEBRFAAMFHZMETNRABBEETNAZAREPHNRBEREA ZEEERERE
B 6 $£154,057851 B A& 17 2 A% o
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B) SHARE OPTIONS

Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details of
which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding non-beneficial
interests in the share capital of some subsidiaries of the Company as the
nominee shareholders, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or
their respective associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by shareholders of the Company on 25 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”) and the listing status of shares to be granted under the 2021
Scheme was granted by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 27 August 2021. Particulars of the 2021 Scheme as required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules are set out below:

A) PURPOSE

To provide the participants who have been granted share options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

B) PARTICIPANTS

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a
contract basis) of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to
participate in the 2021 Scheme.

C) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE
FORISSUE

A maximum number of 148,530,180 shares of the Company may be
issued upon exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the 2021 Scheme.
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D) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH
PARTICIPANT

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and unexercised share options)
under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme (if any)
adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an INED
of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options already granted and to be
granted to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company
inissue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

E) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES MUST BE
TAKEN UP UNDER A SHARE OPTION

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

F) MINIMUM PERIOD AND REQUIREMENT, IF ANY,
FOR WHICH A SHARE OPTION MUST BE HELD
BEFORE IT CAN BE EXERCISED

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

54 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2022/2023

D) BESHRENEED LR

BERRBBRRSITHOAESN  AITERTM
124E B HA AR 35 2021 F 51 & 3k AN & 7] FK 4N
2 EMHEMR GO BAETE(mE)REH& T
B zROEBE(BEEITERERITEZR
M) MAMEBR2EEZFTESTEITZ
KRABRMDBHE T ERBEARARDETRG
Z1%

WAARAZETERRABEARES B
ZEMBEACEER EHAR) RERO B
B BeEHXAERE B2 E[12ME
AR (BRREZB)AZALTERE RS
TREZAERNDHBRETER ZETRET
BT 2 ARARD

- AHREERDFBSBITRMN Z01%MA L
P4

- REREE A MR Y A R
MAR A 2 W B E - R EEB50E
BT

AR HZERD BRAERGL AR A H
BAL(EER ETRZARBKRRER
HEAE -

E) REROGHETIBRGZ
S BR

BRRODHAEARER L BHEF10FRL
HEFS(RERZES)NEROBN MES
P E < B HR AT

F) ROMBTEALEAREZR
BEHRRAE (WE)

m !/

\

RELROBER B2 (XREHEZES)
BEERBODHERA FTITEMLARAZ
mAEMR(WmE) -



G) PERIOD OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE OF A SHARE
OPTION AND AMOUNT PAYABLE UPON
ACCEPTANCE

The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant must
be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted within 14
days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered to the
participant and a consideration of HKS1 must be paid upon acceptance.

H) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE SUBSCRIPTION
PRICE OF A SHARE OPTION

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the higher
of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days of the Stock Exchange immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of grant.

1)  REMAINING LIFE

The 2021 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 24 August 2031
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the 2021
Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

The total number of shares in the Company available for grant of share
options under the 2021 Scheme is 148,530,180 shares which represents
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the date of adoption
of the 2021 Scheme (i.e. 25 August 2021). During the year, 420,000 share
options were lapsed and no share option was granted, exercised or
cancelled in accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme.

Upon the adoption of the 2021 Scheme, the share option scheme
adopted in 2011 (the “2011 Scheme”) was terminated on 27 August 2021
but the share options granted prior to the termination continue be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the 2011 Scheme. During the vyear,
no share option was exercised or lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2011 Scheme.
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Details of the movement of share options during the year and the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2023 under the 2021 Scheme
and 2011 Scheme, respectively were as follows:

A) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2021 SCHEME

B AE 2021 F 51 & 2011 F5H 81 4R £ A R 5
AFERNZEE EN2023FE38318 HKITE
2O EAEFEES RN

A) BEB2021FEFEFHR M EE

Number of share option

Exercise price R BRHE
per share Balanceasat Lapsed Balanceasat
Name or Category of HK$ 1April 2022 during 31March 2023
participant Date of grant** BRITEE R2022& theyear #2023 F
SHENHZRER R B (Bx) 4818 &% FREMU 3A31B &8
Victor CHA 24 November 2021 3.028 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
EMK 2021115248
TANG Moon Wah 24 November 2021 3.028 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
HimE 2021511 A 248
CHEUNG Ho Koon 24 November 2021 3028 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
& 2021 11 A4 A
Ivan LEE 24 November 2021 3028 600,000 - 600,000
TR 202111 A 248
NGAN Man Ying 24 November 2021 3.028 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
BXE 20216115248
Madeline WONG 24 November 2021 3028 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
TEXE 202111 B 248
Johnson CHA 24 November 2021 3028 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
EmeE 2001 11 A1 B
Linus CHEUNG 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
KK AR 2021115248
Henry FAN 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
BER 2021511 A248
Loretta HO 24 November 2021 3028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
AIHE 2021411 B 248
Barbara SHIU 24 November 2021 3.028 600,000 - 600,000
ER 2021115248
TANG Kwai Chang 24 November 2021 3.028 1,200,000 - 1,200,000
HEY 2021511 A24H
Ex-director® 24 November 2021 3028 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
AEES 20218115248
Employees € 8 24 November 2021 3.028 4,140,0007 420,000 3,720,000
2021F 11 A4 A
Total &5t 39,940,000 420,000 39,520,000
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Share options granted are exercisable during the period from 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026.

¢ R ZRRMERER R2021F11 A24 B E 2026511 23 BB ARITE ©

The share options vested immediately on the date of grant.

O BROBEARLARNKES -

©  ADirector retired with effect from 24 August 2022.
¢ —HBR2002FSAMUAREZESE-

600,000 share options were reclassified upon the appointment of an employee as Director.

7 600000 RN EIERE T — G EEARESRETHE -

B) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2011 SCHEME B) HBIB2011FFERLERHDHRE
Number of share option
#
Exercise price R BRHE

per share Balance asat Lapsed Balanceasat
Name or Category of HK$ 1April 2022 during 31March 2023
participant BRTEE R2022F theyear R2023 5
SHEERZHER Date of grant®”’ R B (B) 41 BER FREMK 331 B &%
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201742 A 28H 3845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
BB 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 20172 A 28H 3845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
BimiE 12 March 2018 2018F3A12H 4373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
CHEUNG Ho Koon 12 March 2018 2018F3A12H 4373 440,000 - 440,000
R E
lvan LEE 12 March 2018 20183 A 120 4373 220,000 - 220,000
%L BR
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201742 A 280 3845 1,210,000 - 1210000
TEx% 12 March 2018 2018%F3H12H 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 2017%2 8280 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
BitE 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 2017F2 A 288 3.845 550,000 - 550,000
RIKFR 12 March 2018 2018F3A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Loretta HO 28 February 2017 2017F2 A 28H 3.845 770,000 - 770,000
mkiEE 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 201792 A 288 3845 220,000 - 220,000
HEw 12 March 2018 20183 A 128 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Ex-directors" 28 February 2017 20179282808 3.845 4,620,000 - 4,620,000
HEE" 12 March 2018 20183 A 12H 4373 5,940,000 - 5,940,000
Employee & 8 12 March 2018 20183/ 128 4373 220,000" - 220,000
Total 23+ 35,750,000 - 35,750,000
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Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027. Share options granted on 12
March 2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.

O R2017F2 A28 B 2 B n BRME AT A 2017F 2 A28 B E2027F 2 A27 B HARI M 1T o 20183 B 12 AR 2 B 1 HA#E AT 12 2018

F3/8128F2028F3 811 AHMAITE -

The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

¢ ROBERSELBBAESEE -
Y BEZEZ55IR2018F3H31H8

220000 B RN EE - R EEREFREHN O -

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme” above, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors in
businesses, which competed or were likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules are as follows:

- Mr Johnson CHA is the non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) whose group’s businesses
consist of property investment, property development and property
management. Hanison is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors was interested in any business apart from the Group's
businesses which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year.
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Including three Directors resigned or retired with effect from 31 March 2018, 1 April 2021 and 24 August 2022 respectively.
C20215F4 A1 H K202 8 A4 ABHERREMNES -

220,000 share option were reclassified upon the appointment of an employee as Director.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons (other than the Directors) 7202343 A31 8 B AR & 1R B 5 &0 &
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of 336 (&R EBF B2 S MRt To AL
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under (EEBIN RNAR T Z R0 R AR IK D T %

Section 336 of the SFO: BREDSABWT :
LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF RAQXTEREENL2SEBTRG Z
THE COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH 'S

Approximate
percentage of
Numberof issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary share HERITREAZ

IR R A g7} EBRHAE BB

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 715,617,969" 4817
EERFEA

LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280" 6.81
EEEFEA

Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,606,568' 9.73

BHEBEERER AT REAE R

OEl Kang Eric Interest of controlled corporations/

= M Interest held jointly with another person 76,222,400 513
XmEE R/ EMARRFEZ

=
Claudio Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 74,560,800 5.02

HEEE S

These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust and 144,606,568 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiary
of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), which CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee
of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s
spouse and their issue.

ZERNERBECMTUtEER B 2571011401 KROH R EBENERERERARDNTEND 2 2EWNBARBEREZ
144,606,568 A% B& 17+ 11 CCM Trust Bl #E B & J1875% M 1 2 % o COMTrust BUE B R sEA S D AE T AR MG S5t A L7 #
o MZEEAZHEIRARECHEERBLI ZEBREE 2K -

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue.

ZERMDTIALBIRegents LUEBZ AT N RET IRANBEERARE MREFERAZNEXEACRRCREERBL 2R -

The shares are held indirectly by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiary.
ZERDAEGNBERETEMBRAMRERSA -

As at 12 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, 4,936,800 shares are held jointly by OEI Kang Eric with another person and 71,285,600 shares are
held by corporations (including Claudio Holdings Limited) controlled by OEl Kang Eric.

22021455 B 12 H AR X P 2 #R 58 - 4,936,800 A AR 15 A =Ml B2 4 A S RI45 8 - 171,285,600 A% A 1 B £ 25 Ml 122 1 2 )% B (8 45 Claudio
Holdings Limited ) 3 74 ©

As at 14 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, the shares are held by, through corporations controlled by, Claudio Holdings Limited.
202155 A 148 R R FT 2 5 0 5% B8 10 B Claudio Holdings Limited i 38 HL 12§ 2 A @5 5 ©
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no other interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company has issued HK$300 million in a
principal amount of unlisted notes due May 2031. Details of the debt
securities are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 194.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs (a) of note
46 to the consolidated financial statements on page 237 constitute
connected transaction(s) or continuing connected transaction(s) under
the Listing Rules but are exempt from shareholders’ approval and
disclosure and other requirements under rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
Save for the aforesaid transactions, the other related party transactions
shown in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements do not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or controlling shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligations set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the loan
agreements with covenants relating to specific performance on the
controlling shareholders of the Company as at the date of this annual
report pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly:

a)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 August 2020 (the “Loan Agreement |") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$3,350 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement I.

b)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 9 October 2020 (the “Loan Agreement II") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,000 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Il.

c)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 6 September 2021 (the “Loan Agreement IlI") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$600 million with
final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement
Ml

d)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 29 April 2022 (the “Loan Agreement IV") for a term and revolving loan
facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,400 million with final
maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan Agreement IV.

Under the Loan Agreement |, Loan Agreement Il, Loan Agreement Il and
Loan Agreement IV (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”), among others,
an event of default is triggered when the existing largest shareholder of
the Company (together with his associate(s)) holding the largest
shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the date of the
respective Loan Agreements ceases to be the Company's largest
shareholder at any time during the term of the respective Loan
Agreements unless the situation can be remedied within a prescribed
timeframe pursuant to the respective Loan Agreements.
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In the Company’s case, 816,702,249 shares (representing approximately
54.98% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this
annual report) are owned by corporate trustees of certain, but not
identical, discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries include the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue are
together treated as the existing largest shareholder collectively holding
the largest shareholding in the Company. This has been the continuing
status since the signing of each of the Loan Agreements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULES 13.20 AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER
13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of financial
assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to affiliated
companies of the Company as at 31 March 2023 pursuant to rules 13.13
and 13.16 thereof:

a) On 26 May 2022, the Company and Hysan Development Company
Limited (“Hysan") in proportion to their respective effective shareholding
interests in Gainwick Limited (“Gainwick”), a joint venture formed by the
Company (indirectly owned as to 40%) and Hysan (indirectly owned as
to 60%) for the purpose of a residential property development in Tai Po,
New Territories, have provided Gainwick with HK$1,500.0 million
shareholders’ loan (i.e. the Group's portion is HK$600.0 million) in a form
of interest-free, unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, for
Gainwick to make a partial repayment to the original lenders of banking
facilities with the maturity date on 26 May 2022. As of 31 March 2023, the
advances which are unsecured and no fixed terms of repayment to
Gainwick from the Group are in a total amount of HK$1,491.9 million
(including the aforesaid HK$600.0 million), in which HK$80.0 million as
working capital loan with an interest rate of 2% per annum over 1-month
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and the remaining of the
advances is interest free.

In addition, for purpose of provision of mortgage loan financing to the
purchasers of the development, the Group also provided advances to
Gainwick Mortgage Limited (“GML"), which the Group and Hysan hold
indirectly respective 40% and 60% effective shareholding interests. As of
31 March 2023, the Group advanced HKS$27.0 million to GML and the
advances are unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment, and at an
interest rate of 2% per annum over T-month HIBOR.
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On 26 May 2022, the banking facilities granted to Gainwick in the
principal amount HK$5,000.0 million were extended for 18 months with
one of the original lenders of the facilities which the new maturity date is
26 November 2023 and the interest rate is a sum of 0.79% per annum
and HIBOR of relevant interest period (one, two to three months or
subject to availability six months at the selection of Gainwick and
mutually agreed with the financial institution). The Company continues
to provide guarantee as security for Gainwick's obligation under the
banking facilities in proportion to the Company's effective shareholding
interest in Gainwick, i.e. 40%. As of 31 March 2023, the banking facilities
utilised by Gainwick in proportionate of 40% which is secured by
guarantee given by the Company amounted to HK$1,252.0 million.

b) As at 31 March 2023, the Group advanced to Dazhongli Properties
Limited and its subsidiaries ("Dazhongli group”) an aggregate amount of
HK$4,733.1 million. Dazhongli group is engaged in the operation of
investment properties and hotel properties in Jing'an District, Shanghai,
the People’s Republic of China in which the Group has 50% interest. The
advances were provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in
proportion to its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of
financing the development expenditure of Dazhongli group. Out of the
advances, HK$292.8 million are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per
annum and repayable in December 2023. Pursuant to the undertaking of
bank loans, Dazhongli group is refraining from settling the loans from
shareholders until the settlement of all bank loans. The remaining of the
advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

Q) As at 31 March 2023, the Group also advanced to and guarantees
given for other several affiliated companies an aggregate amount of
HKS$768.9 million. The Group has interests ranging from 31% to 50% in
these affiliated companies.

As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of advances provided to
and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the Group
amounted to HK$8,272.9 million representing 17.6% of the consolidated
total assets of the Group of HK$46,902.4 million as at 31 March 2023.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March
2023 are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 177 to 182.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.
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Directors” Report

EEEHE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’'s five largest customers
was less than 30% of the total value of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group's purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers and suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$1.3 million (2022: approximately HK$1.2
million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles although
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage of
the Company's shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25%
of the Company’s total number of issued shares.
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group'’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2023 has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company established in
compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant provisions
of the CG Code.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers ("‘PwC") was appointed as the auditor of the
Company at the AGM of the Company held on 20 August 2020 to fill the
vacancy arising from the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the
conclusion of the said AGM of the Company. PwC was further re-
appointed as the auditor of the Company at the AGM held on 24 August
2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023
have been audited by PwC. A resolution will be submitted to the 2023
AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor.

On behalf of the Board
REESE

CHA Mou Zing Victor
Executive Chairman
B

HITFEE

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
B 2023F 68218
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Corporate Governance Report
SEERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate governance
which it believes to be core to the success of its businesses and
operations.

The corporate governance functions are undertaken by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”), through the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company as delegated by the Board, as
prescribed by code provision A.2.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate
Governance, Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices as set
out in Appendix 14, the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) which are
included in the terms of references of the Board and the Corporate
Governance Committee.

During the year under review, the Company has applied the principles
and fully complied with the code provisions and certain recommended
best practices of the CG Code with more details as set out below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company has a well-established vision, mission and values to drive
its strategy with the principal objective to enhance long-term total
return for all its stakeholders. The vision, mission and core values of the
Company are duly set out in the corporate profile of 2022/2023 annual
report and the website of the Company. To better align the corporate
culture with the vision, mission and values of the Company, the Board
has established Company Culture Policy to set the tone from the top
and shape the desired corporate culture with the core purpose to instil
and continually reinforce across all levels of the Group the values of
acting lawfully, ethically, respectfully, diligently, creatively and
responsibly. The full text of the Company Culture Policy is available on
the website of the Company. Apart from the policy, the Board, led by
example, conducted annual board self-evaluation since the year under
review to enhance Directors’ accountability and ensure the effectiveness
of the Board in monitoring and overseeing the operations and
behaviours of the Company. To ensure the desired culture and expected
behaviours are adequately communicated and understood by
employees, the relevant company culture elements such as integrity,
caring, trust, respect and commitment are incorporated into the annual
individual performance assessment. In addition, through biennial
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employee surveys, employees’ comments or opinions in relation to the
promotion of desired company culture are collected for enhancement
purpose. As an assessment on the effectiveness of the alignment of
company culture, indicators including whistleblowing reported cases,
identified material breach of code of conduct or regulatory requirement,
fraud-related/high risk and employee turnover ratio are set by the Board
and to be reviewed by delegated Board Committees on a regular basis
with any concern to be further reported to the Board and, if required, for
examination.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr Benjamin CHA was
appointed and Mr Ronald ARCULLI retired as Non-executive Director
(“‘NED") of the Company with effect from 4 July and 24 August 2022
respectively. In addition, Mr lvan LEE was appointed as Executive Director
("ED") of the Company with effect from 1 December 2022. As at 31 March
2023, the Board comprised thirteen Directors of which five are EDs and
eight are NEDs of whom five and hence, with more than one-third of the
Board, are Independent Non-executive Directors ('INEDs"). Each Director
possesses skills and experience appropriate to the business of the Group
and the biographical details of Directors are duly set out in the section
headed “Board of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of 2022/2023 annual
report.

Save for Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG who
are siblings, as well as Mr Benjamin CHA is the son of Mr Victor CHA and
nephew of Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline Wong, all other Directors
have no family relationship with each other.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has the responsibility for strategic leadership, control and
providing guidance to management to ensure the Company's objectives
are achieved.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given comprehensive
and formal induction documentation of the business operations of the
Group and information for his/her understanding and awareness of his/
her responsibilities as Director under the Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory and statutory requirements, and briefings with senior
executives and department heads of the Group, if required.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Group and has informed the Company in a timely
manner for any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. Details
of Directors’ other appointments are shown in the section headed “Board
of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of 2022/2023 annual report.
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A list of the Directors, their roles and functions and, in particular whether
they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange and is updated as and when required.

BOARD PROCESS

The dates of the regular Board meetings in a particular year are
scheduled ahead to give all Directors adequate time to plan their
schedules to attend meetings. There are four regular Board meetings in
a year which are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc Board meetings
will also be held as and when required. For the year ended 31 March
2023, four Board meetings were held and attendance records of the
Board meetings held during the year are set out in the below paragraph
headed "Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular Board
meeting and not less than forty-eight hours' advance notice would also
be given for other Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to
whether they wish to include any matters in the agenda and the
Chairman of the Board would review and approve the agenda before
the agenda for each Board meeting is issued.

Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors/Board
Committees members at least three days (or such other period as
agreed) before meetings. With the assistance of the EDs, the Chairman of
the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive adequate documents and
information about the Group in a timely manner. The Chairman of the
Board, orin his absence, the Deputy Chairman or the Managing Director,
leads meetings and ensures that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Directors in a timely manner. Directors are provided
sufficient time for discussion on issues in the meetings and encouraged
to express their viewpoints on the Board's affairs and voice their
concerns, if any. The Chairman directs discussions in the meetings in
reaching a consensus and consolidates discussions with conclusions.
Minutes of Board/Board Committees meetings record matters
considered and decisions reached. Draft and final signed minutes of
Board/Board Committees meetings are properly kept by the Company
Secretary or respective committee secretary and sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively. Directors are entitled to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company's expenses, if he/she
considers necessary in order to perform his/her duties.
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The Chairman of the Board meets at least once annually with the INEDs
without the presence of EDs and NEDs. In March 2023, the Chairman of
the Board met the INEDs without the presence of EDs and NEDs and four
out of five INEDs attended the same.

Where necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters which are their
specific responsibilities. During the year, no such meeting was required
to be held.

BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from Directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board has adopted the Board Evaluation Framework in September
2022 and it will be reviewed by the Corporate Governance Committee
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman,
starting from the year under review, the Board conducted annual board
evaluation in the form of questionnaire and, if required, one-on-one
meeting between the Chairman and individual Director. The primary
goal of the board evaluation is to assess board culture and dynamics,
ensure optimal board composition and improve board practices and
enhance effectiveness. Views of individual Director in respect of board
organisation and functioning, board structure and composition,
shareholders’ communication, company culture, director training,
conflict of interest and overall board effectiveness are collected and
consolidated to be presented to the Board on a no-name basis annually
to assess if there are gaps between where the Board strives to be and
where the Board currently stands, including the reasons for such gaps,
and if considered appropriate, set out an action plan with concrete steps
for mitigating the gaps. For the year under review, the Directors
considered all aspects evaluated are overall effectively performed and
adequate. In addition, for any addition of director, if required, preferable
to be younger, female and independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and not be performed by the same
individual to ensure there is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the executives who run the business.

The role of Chairman and Managing Director have been taken up by two
different individuals. Mr Victor CHA is the Chairman and Mr TANG Moon
Wah is the Managing Director of the Company. The respective roles and
responsibilities of Chairman and Managing Director are clearly separated
and set out in writing.
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The Chairman provides leadership to, and oversees the functioning of,
the Board to ensure it acts in the best interests of the Group. With the
support of the Company Secretary and Corporate Governance
Committee, the Chairman is primarily responsible for establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures of the Company. The
Managing Director, assisted by other EDs and executive management
team, implements the strategies approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS)

NEDs of the Company are appointed with a specific term of three years
which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election of Directors
under the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”). Details
of the mechanism are set out in below paragraph headed “Appointments,
Re-election and Removal”.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in writing. They
are not involved in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses but participate in Board/Board Committee meetings where
they bring independent views and judgment on issues of strategy,
policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and
standards of conduct of the Group.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and the
implementation of the rules, procedures and plans established by the
Company and help to ensure that the interests of the shareholders as a
whole are taken into account by the Board. Each of the INEDs has
provided to the Company an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all of them continue to be independent with reference to the terms
of guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Articles stipulate that at each annual general meeting ("“AGM") , one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until the
first AGM of the Company after his/her appointment and be eligible to
offer himself/herself for re-election. Re-election of each eligible Director
is subject to approval by shareholders at the general meeting of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest changes or
material development in laws, the Listing Rules, corporate governance
practices relating to the duties and responsibilities of Directors and are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Directors, who are in office during the year under review and remain
at the date of this annual report, have participated in the following
various continuous professional development activities in order to
develop and refresh their skills and knowledge. Each Director has
provided his/her training records for the year under review to the
Company with particulars set out as follows:
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Type of training(s)

Name of Director EERE B ER
Victor CHA B A
TANG Moon Wah B w2 A
CHEUNG Ho Koon KOG E A B
Ivan LEE Z= B0 BR A B
NGAN Man Ying AR A
Madeline WONG TEFEE A
Johnson CHA BIHE A B
Benjamin CHA B A
Linus CHEUNG 9K K TR A
Henry FAN BIEER A
Loretta HO (EIR=N=1 A
Barbara SHIU AR B A B
TANG Kwai Chang & AB

Notes:

A. Reading/viewing materials/articles/videos in relation to directors’ duties and
responsibilities as well as the updates, developments and refreshments on regulatory
requirements, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”"), banking, tax, artificial
intelligence, financial technology, business environment, financial compliance, business
continuity planning, risk management and governance.

B. Attending workshops/lectures/seminars/webinar/conferences/forum/training in
relation to the directors’ duties and responsibilities as well as updates and
developments on statutory and regulatory requirements, accounting and auditing
profession, risk management and compliance, mainland China market, board, financial
technology, cyber security, banking, tax, ESG, global business and economic
environments.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated and set out levels of authority and expressed
terms of reference for the Board Committees and reserves the rights to
oversee and decide all other non-delegated matters, in particular, major
acquisitions or disposals and connected transactions. The Board also
delegates certain management and administration functions to the
management as it considers appropriate from time to time, with
directions as to the powers of management, including circumstances
where management shall report to and obtain prior approval from the
Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and other
committees, namely Finance Committee, Investment/Divestment
Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and Transfer of Shares Committee, Inside
Information Committee and ESG Committee. All committees are entitled
to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if
they consider necessary in order to perform their duties. The Board may
also on a need basis set up special committees with clear terms of
reference to deal with specific transactions or matters of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established in March
2012 and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter alia,
that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three members
with a majority of INEDs and the chairman must be either an INED or the
Chairman of the Board. The Nomination Committee currently comprises
five members, namely Mr Henry FAN, Mr Victor CHA, Ms Madeline
WONG, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang with Mr Henry FAN
acting as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons to
become members of the Board, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, as well as to maintain (i) a
policy concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and make recommendation to the Board, if required, for
achieving diversity of the Board; and (i) a policy concerning nomination
of Director (the "Director Nomination Policy”).

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March 2013 and
updated in March 2022. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination
Committee will review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and discuss and agree annually measurable objectives, targets, timeline
and plans, if any, based on rigorous analysis and benchmarking data for
achieving diversity of the Board and recommend them, to the Board for
adoption. The Nomination Committee also monitors the progress and its
policy implementation for annual reporting in the corporate governance
report. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an
annual basis and when required to ensure effectiveness.

The Director Nomination Policy was adopted by the Board in November
2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee will discuss and
consider the nomination of candidates from various sources for new
Directors, examine the qualification of these candidates, and then
recommend such candidates to the Board, which have the final authority
on determining the selection of such candidate to be appointed as a
Director. The major criteria considered by the Nomination Committee
are, inter alia, candidates’ educational backgrounds, experience and
expertise in their chosen industries, their proposed commitment to the
Company and the goal, if any, of diversity of the Board. Regarding the
nomination of INEDs, the Nomination Committee will also particularly
consider the independence of such candidates. The policy will be
reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis and when
required to ensure effectiveness.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee in the meeting held in
March 2023 has (a) reviewed the retirement of Directors and
recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr Victor CHA (ED), Mr
lvan LEE (ED), Mr Johnson CHA (NED) and Mr TANG Kwai Chang (INED) at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held in August 2023 as well
as noted that Ms Loretta HO (INED), who will retire from office, will not
offer herself for re-election, and accordingly, will also cease as a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from conclusion of the 2023 AGM,; (b) reviewed,
assessed and considered that all INEDs are independent; () reviewed,
assessed and considered the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy; (d) reviewed the
benchmarking data and determined the target number of female
members to be not less than 25% of the Board remains adequate; and (e)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, in particular
on gender diversity, during the financial year of 2022/2023 and
considered that the current diversity of the Board, including the proportion
of female directors of the Board (with four out of thirteen as at the date
of the 2022/2023 annual report and to be three out of twelve after the
retirement of Ms Loretta HO) which still meet the target set, is
appropriate and it is not necessary to set out any timeline or plan for
enhancing the diversity of the Board for the financial year of 2023/2024.
However, taking into account the views of Directors according to the
board evaluation results for the year under review, the Nomination
Committee will put particular focus on identifying younger female
independent candidates for joining the Board as when required. The
records of the meeting held by the Nomination Committee during the
year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in
December 2004 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require, inter
alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus CHEUNG, Mr Henry
FAN and Mr Victor CHA with Mr Linus CHEUNG acting as the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.

The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to
exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration and packages of individual EDs and senior management,
including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind, share options and other
plans. Factors such as remuneration paid for comparable positions, time
commitment and responsibilities of the EDs and senior management as
well as the Company’s remuneration policy will be considered. More
information in relation to the Directors’ remuneration policy of the
Company can refer to the below paragraph headed “Directors’
Remuneration”.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by electronic
circulation the proposals of (a) additional bonus payment to EDs for the
financial year of 2021/2022 based on the audited account; (b)
remuneration of a newly appointed ED; (c) bonus payment for EDs for
the financial year of 2022/2023; (d) further salary review for the financial
year of 2023/2024, including EDs; and (e) remuneration of an ED whose
employment was extended upon reaching retirement age. The records
of circulated electronic communication of the Remuneration Committee
during the year are duly set out in the below paragraph headed
“Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee
Meetings”.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in July 1998 and
its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code.
The full text of the terms of reference of the Audit Committee is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia, that
the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members who are
NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the Company. The Audit
Committee currently comprises four members, namely Mr TANG Kwai
Chang, Mr Linus CHEUNG, Ms Loretta HO and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr
TANG Kwai Chang leading the Audit Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Audit Committee is to assist the
Board in (i) meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective system of
risk management and internal controls and compliance; (ii) meeting its
external financial reporting objectives; and (iii) maintaining the
Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Fraud Policy, both were newly
established in 2022.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held, of which
two meetings were held with the Independent Auditor together with
senior management and has (a) reviewed and received the audit
strategy memorandums for the audit of the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023; (b) considered the
Independent Auditor’s projected audit and non-audit services fees; (c)
reviewed the independence of the Independent Auditor, the nature and
scope of the audit as well as recommended the re-appointment of
Independent Auditor after considering the matters set out in the
guideline of Accounting and Financial Reporting Council; and (d)
reviewed and discussed the interim and final financial statements and
the Independent Auditor’s review and report for the Board's approval. In
these two meetings, the Audit Committee also met with the head of the
Internal Audit Department of the Company to receive their work plan
and, review and discuss on their findings and rectification actions taken
by the business units. In addition, the Audit Committee had met with
senior management in another meeting to review and receive the risk
management report in evaluating the effectiveness of the risk
management system of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.
The records of the meeting held by the Audit Committee during the
year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was established in September
2018 for the purpose of enhancing and ensuring that the Company
maintains a high standard of corporate governance. lts terms of
reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code. The full text of
the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee is
available on the website of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee require,
inter alia, comprises not less than three members with majority of them
must be NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company. The Corporate
Governance Committee currently comprises four members, namely Ms
Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Henry FAN and Mr TANG Kwai
Chang with Ms Madeline WONG leading the Corporate Governance
Committee as the chairman.

The principal role and function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing, reviewing and
monitoring the Company's policies and practices on corporate
governance to ensure their compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a meeting
in March 2023 and through an electronic communication have (a)
reviewed the corporate governance report to be incorporated in the
annual report of 2021/2022; (b) received and reviewed the training
records of all Directors for the financial year of 2021/2022; (c) reviewed all
the key Company’s policies and practices, among others, the Company
Culture Policy, Shareholders” Communication Policy, Board Evaluation
Framework, code of conduct for Directors and employees as well as
terms of reference of officers and respective Board Committees and
considered all of them remain adequate and effective. The records of the
meeting held by the Corporate Governance Committee and circulated
electronic communication during the year are set out in the below
paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board
Committee Meetings”.
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ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS, BREAE EESENEES
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS ZTEES2S2Z 2 HEXR
Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the R EBEE AN RITZREASNEET2
Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination B ZE@ - FHMETE@ - IEELZTEe@ kD
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee held during the year ¥ E A EZB@@Z 2 =S HEXEHMNNOT
under review are set out below:
Corporate
Governance
Remuneration Committee AGM
Audit Committee Nomination meeting/ held on
Board Committee circulated Committee circulated 24 August
meeting meeting communication meeting communication 2022
EEg ENZEY FMEEE RRZEY LEERZEE® M2022F8H24A
Name of director BEEn -4 -f BB 8% CR/EHEN ZTZREEE
Victor CHA™* B 4/4 - 4/4 1/1 22 v
TANG Moon Wah B EE 4/4 _ _ _ _ /
CHEUNG Ho Koon RIHE 4/4 - - - - v
Ivan LEE LB 11 - - - - -
NGAN Man Ying BN 4/4 - - - - v
Madeline WONG®* FTEEES 4/4 - - 1/1 22 v
Jonhson CHA BEE 4/4 - _ _ _ X
Benjamin CHA" BRP" 3/3 - - - - X
Linus CHEUNG* %Eﬂ<”'“*’* 4/4 33 4/4 - - v
Henry FAN‘e* B e 4/4 - 4/4 1 22 v/
Loretta HO*® ﬂ mae 4/4 3/3 - Wl - v
Barbara SHIU* =R 4/4 33 - - - v/
TANG Kwai Chang*e* HEge 4/4 3/3 - 1/1 2/2 v
Notes: B E
* members of Audit Committee * EBEZREZBEKE
# members of Remuneration Committee ! FTMEZEBEEKE
e members of Nomination Committee e REEZBEKE
- members of Corporate Governance Committee * TEERLZE®KE
3 appointed as Director on 1 December 2022 o R20NFENA'BEZTAES
8 appointed as Director on 4 July 2022 ! R2002F7R4REZTERES
Chairman of the Company and chairman of each of the Audit 2N 2 & & & A &%V? BEg HWEZET-

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee and representative of Independent
Auditor were all present at the 2022 AGM and available to answer

questions from shareholders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts for financial year which is required to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, its results and
the cash flows for the Group. For preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimations that are prudent and reasonable, and
prepared accounts on a going concern basis. The statement of the
Company's Independent Auditor about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 is contained in the Independent Auditor's report of
2022/2023 annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for evaluating and providing
direction to the Company on the nature and extent of the risks that shall
be taken in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
systems of risk management and internal controls, which include
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as
well as a reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks
across business operations. Key policies and procedures have been
developed, implemented and communicated to staff as well as regularly
reviewed to ensure that there are continued relevant and effective risk
management and internal control systems and for continuous
improvement which include (a) setting core values and beliefs which
form the basis of the Group’s overall risk philosophy and appetite; (b)
having an organisational structure in place with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority which hold individuals
accountable for their risk management and internal control
responsibilities and provides necessary information flow for risk analysis
and management decision-making on an on-going basis; (c) imposing
budgetary and management accounting controls to efficiently allocate
resources and providing timely financial and operational performance
indicators to manage business activities and risks; (d) ensuring effective
financial reporting control to record complete, accurate and timely
accounting and management information; and (e) having structural
internal audit function to perform independent appraisal of business
units and corporate functions on an on-going and cyclical basis.
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The Board has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee for
providing oversight in respect of risk management and internal control
activities. The Audit Committee discusses the risk management and
internal control systems with management for the year under review to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an effective risk
management and internal control systems. Discussion covers areas, inter
alia, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programme and budget (collectively, “Resources”) of the
Company's accounting and financial reporting functions.

To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for performing independent reviews on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal
controls and risk management and reporting audit findings to the Audit
Committee and the Board regularly. An Internal Audit Charter, which was
adopted in 2008, formulates the processes and procedures of internal
audit function for strengthening the control framework. The Audit
Committee also separately consults with the Internal Audit Department
in respect of the adequacy of Resources of the Company’s internal audit
function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The successful management of risks is essential for the long-term growth
and sustainability of the Group’s business. To ensure risk management of
the Group is integrated into the day-to-day operation of the Group and
is continuously carried out at all levels of the Group, the Company has
established a risk governance and management framework and
governance structure which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
risk management steering group and business lines to facilitate a
systematic approach to the management of risks within the Group.

The following diagram illustrates the Group's risk governance and
management framework:
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Board of Directors

evaluate and provide direction to the Company on the nature and
extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives

ensure that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective systems of risk management and internal controls

Audit Committee

oversee management in design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems

review, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group with the support of Internal Audit Department
to ascertain whether management has fulfilled its responsibilities in
establishing and maintaining effective systems

review risk assessment results, including changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last review and the Group's ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment
consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters and management’s response to these findings
identify any significant risks that should be brought to the attention of
the Board

review and consider enhancement to the risk management and
internal control systems as proposed by the risk management steering
group and/or the Internal Audit Department

Risk Management Steering Group

establish and maintain risk management infrastructure and
recommend change as appropriate

conduct, at least annually, risk identification and assessment on group-
wide basis

escalate risk and control issues on a timely manner as appropriate
ensure business lines conducting risk assessment and controlling self-
assessment within their business units/departments on a regular basis
provide assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management and
control systems of the Group to the Audit Committee and the Board

Business Lines

manage risks within their business units/departments

identify and evaluate risks potentially impact the achievement of
business objectives within their business units/departments

mitigate and monitor risks identified in day-to-day operation

conduct risk assessment and control self-assessment on regular basis

Internal Audit Department

perform audits to evaluate the proper functioning of the risk
management and internal control systems

report findings to the Audit Committee and provide the Committee
with an independent and objective assurance on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
propose any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems for consideration by the Audit Committee and the risk
management steering group
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The Company has also formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the risk management
steering group, which comprises the heads of all business units and
corporate functions, collects and collates risk information from business
lines, identifies risks (including ESG-related risks), on a group-wide basis,
that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's objectives,
and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk owners
are also assigned to closely monitor those risks which are considered to
be significant on an on-going basis and implement the mitigation plans.
The identified risks which are considered to be significant to the Group,
including their changes in nature and extent since the last review, and
the relevant mitigation plans for the year under review have been
presented and accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board in April
and June 2023 respectively.

The Internal Audit Department acts as an independent assessor as
another line of defence on risk management system. It conducts
independent review and assesses, at least on an annual basis, if all the
key risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance with the
Risk Management Policy and whether the existing risk controls are
operating effectively. A control self-assessment process was also
established which requires risk owners to assess, through questionnaire,
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk controls over the areas under their
responsibilities. The process and its results were reviewed by the Internal
Audit Department and form part of the Audit Committee’s annual
assessment of control effectiveness.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

In addition to the independent assessment of the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried out
audits on the (a) operation of the Leasing Department; (b) marketing
function of Discovery Bay; (c) operation of and ad hoc review for HKRI
Taikoo Hui; (d) operation of Lantau Yacht Club; (e) voting mechanism
and arrangement in 2022 AGM of the Company; (f) whistleblowing cases
received; and the reviews on the other business units with audit follow-
up. With the implementation of follow-up measures after the audits, the
areas with irregularities has gradually improved. Findings on the audits,
control weaknesses, if any, and the relevant recommendations have
been presented to and accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board
in November 2022 and June 2023.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board, through the works of
the Audit Committee, risk management steering group and the Internal
Audit Department, has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and considers that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems for the year were effective
and adequate. Management of the Group has also provided
confirmation to the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness
of such systems for the year under review.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”") and the Listing Rules. A Disclosure of Inside
Information Policy has been established by the Company to set out the
procedures on reporting the likely inside information to ensure that
potential price sensitive or inside information of the Group can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for disseminating to the
public. The Company discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the “Safe
Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Company will ensure that the information is
kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality
may have been breached, the Company will immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Company is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as
to any material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of any
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders and
has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the Policy, the
declaration or recommendation of dividends is subject to the sole
discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the following factors
before declaring or recommending dividends:

° the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

° any restriction on payment of dividends that may by imposed by
the Group's lenders;

° the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
motion control business or financial performance and position of

the Company;
° taxation considerations;
° statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board, through the Corporate Governance Committee, will
continually review the Policy, and reserve the right in its sole absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Policy at any time, and
the Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate
the Company to declare dividend at any time or from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for the year ended
31 March 2023 online at the same time with the publication of
2022/2023 annual report, which captures in detail the Group's ESG-
related initiatives, policies and performance in Hong Kong, mainland
China and Thailand throughout the financial year.
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https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2022-2023.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=DE2DEBC06C9BC7ADC5E5BEBCB153BA6B63EE673E
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Company strives to maintain gender-balanced workforce and
considers capability is more important than gender. Except for the
general staff level which has a relatively more male than female due to
the nature of works and the workforce availability in the market for
transportation industry sector such as crew, technician, engineer and
bus captain, the Company maintains a relatively balanced gender ratio
across the workforce and it is considered not necessary to set out any
plan or measurable objectives for enhancing workforce diversity for the
financial year of 2023/2024. Detail of the gender ratio in different level of
workforce for the year under review can refer to the ESG Report
published at the same time with the 2022/2023 annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject to
shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with reference
to prevailing market situation, their respective duties and responsibilities
and the Group'’s remuneration policy. Under the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration Committee should
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and it
has the delegated responsibilities to determine the remuneration of the
EDs. In general, the EDs under the remuneration policy are entitled to (i)
basic salary which will be reviewed on an annual basis by making
reference to remuneration survey conducted by independent external
consultant on companies operating in similar businesses; (ii)
discretionary bonus which are subject to the ED's and the Company’s
performance; and (jii) contribution to retirement schemes and other
fringe benefits.

The Chairman, who is a member of the Remuneration Committee, is
involved in recommending proposals on the remuneration of other EDs
for due consideration and approval by the Remuneration Committee.
However, he abstains from discussion and voting when his remuneration
is reviewed and considered by the Remuneration Committee. No
Director will participate in the discussion and review of his/her own
remuneration under the remuneration policy.
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The remuneration of NEDs is in the form of annual directors’ fee. To
ensure that NEDs are appropriately remunerated for their time and
responsibilities devoted to the Company, the Remuneration Committee
will periodically review and consider the factors including fees paid by
comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities in the
Company and the prevailing market situation, and make
recommendation for the approval of the Board pursuant to the authority
given by the shareholders at general meeting from time to time.
Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per annum being the basic fee for acting
as a NED, additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each
member, who is NED, of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and additional fee of HK$150,000 per annum will be paid to
each member, who is NED, of the Audit Committee. An additional fee of
HKS$50,000 will also be paid to each INED having a seat in any
independent board committee which is required to be set up from time
to time under the Listing Rules.

All Directors are also eligible to be granted of share options under the
Company's approved share option schemes. Each grant to Directors is
subject to the approvals of the Remuneration Committee, INEDs and the
Board having regard to their respective role and responsibilities as well
as the prevailing market situation.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 are disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 166 to 168 of 2022/2023 annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC’) is the Independent Auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by PwC to the
Group for the year under review amounted to approximately HK$8.5
million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed PwC
for the interim results review and the other non-audit advisory services
in respect of accounting system migration, major transaction and
corporate governance, remuneration of which amounted to
approximately HK$3.1 million for the year under review.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(including amendments as effected from time to time) as its own code
of conduct to regulate securities transactions by Directors (the “Model
Code”). All Directors, who in office during the financial year ended 31
March 2023 and remain at the date of this annual report, have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive). The Model
Code has been extended to and has become equally applicable to
dealings in the securities of the Company by senior management and
relevant employees.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, she has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and
will continue to comply with such requirement for the year ending 31
March 2024 and report regularly.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall
also be convened by the written requisition of any one or more
shareholder(s) of the Company holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of
the voting rights of the Company which carry the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Shareholders wishing to do so must
serve a duly executed written requisition to the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at 23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168- 200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal
Place of Business”) specifying the object(s) of the meeting and the
resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda. If the Directors do not
within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed to
duly convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, such
shareholder(s) may convene a physical general meeting at only one
location, provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by such shareholder(s)
as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene the meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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In addition, any shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) may
nominate a person to stand for election as Director at the general
meeting in accordance with article 120 of the Articles. Any shareholder
wishing to do so must serve (a) a written notice of intention to propose
such person for election as Director; (b) a notice executed by that person
of his/her willingness to be elected; and (c) the information of that
person as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules to the Principal Place of Business between the period, which shall
be at least 3 days, commencing from the date after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and ending
on (and excluding) the date that is ten clear business days prior to the
date of such general meeting. The Company shall issue an
announcement and/or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to inform
the shareholders the biographical details of the candidate proposed if a
valid notice to propose a person to stand for election as Director is
received.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
Shareholders” Communication Policy has been adopted by the Board
which sets out the Company's policy for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and investment community. Full text of the
Shareholders" Communication Policy is available on the website of the
Company and the same is subject to regular review by the Corporate
Governance Committee to ensure its effectiveness. In view of the below
stakeholders’ activities conducted by the Company, the Shareholders’
Communication Policy is considered effectively implemented during the
year under review.

The Company’s 2022 AGM, for which at least 21 days' prior notice is
given, was held on 24 August 2022 and is one of the Company’s
principal channels of communication with its shareholders for each year.
Shareholders have the opportunity to communicate face to face with
the Directors if they have any questions on the Company’s performance
and operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on the
Company'’s activities in respect of its financial, business and operations is
provided by way of announcements, annual and interim reports,
circulars, ESG Report, relevant policies and procedures such as
Shareholders” Communication Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-
Fraud Policy, etc,, as well as various corporate news and information are
sent to shareholders and/or available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Investor/analysis briefing, site visit, media
interviews, marketing activities for investors are also available from time
to time in order to facilitate communications between the Company,
shareholders and the investment community. During the year, there
were over ten meetings, site visit(s) and media interviews conducted for
sharing and exchanging views between the Company and various
stakeholders.
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Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is
responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within
the Board's direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
customers concerns, to the relevant executive officers of the Company
under the direction of the Chairman of the Board and/or Managing
Director of the Company. While other investors and stakeholders may
send their enquiries to the Company’s investor relations officer. During
the year, the Company has fully responded to all the legitimate enquiries
through the above channels. The contact details of both Company
Secretary and investor relations officer of the Company are set out in the
Shareholders” Communication Policy.

As one of the important stakeholders, employees’ view on the elements
in relation to company culture such as working environment, benefits,
relations and engagement, training and development, talent retention
and management style, etc,, are also collected through employee survey
conducted biennially. The first employee survey was conducted in 2022.
With the valuable feedbacks and opinions from employees, the
Company’s focus and priority on employee engagements can be set
more precisely for enhancing the identified areas.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the AGM of the Company held on 24 August 2022, a special resolution
was passed by the shareholders of the Company approving certain
amendments to the Company's memorandum and articles of association
("M&A") to (i) conform the M&A with the core shareholder protection
standards set out in Appendix 3 of Listing Rules; and (ii) make other
amendments for house-keeping purposes to better align the M&A with
the provisions of the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands. Details of the amendments were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 June 2022 and circular dated 19 July 2022. The
amended M&A is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.
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Financial Highlights

P HE

2023 2022

For the year ended 31 March BZE3AMBLEE HK$'M HKS'M

Results E BEABT BEAT

.

Revenue from continuing operations BEKGEEBRA 1,693.7 41679
Profit attributable to owners RNATER AEAS =T

of the Company 455.6 1,097.3

Basic earnings per share arising from REFBBEREKRIEEEEBL 2

continuing and discontinued BREARRBF CEAW)

operations (HK cents) 30.7 739

1

2023 2022

At 31 March MA3A31H HK$'M HKS'M

Financial Position B 3 iR R BEAT BEAT

.

Total assets BE®RE 46,902.4 43,4075

Total liabilities BEERE 19,631.5 154612
Equity attributable to owners of the KARER ANEMLER

Company 24,397.9 25,0269

Net asset value per share (HKS) BREEFEGET) 16.4 16.8

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)

BREEFE (Br)

-,

20
168
. 16.4

5 143 14.9
10
5
0

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

At 31 March A3 A31H
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Financial Review

i JE)

OVERALL RESULTS
RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries’
(collectively, the “Group”) revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
("FY2023") amounted to HK$1,693.7 million, decreased by 59.4% from
HKS$4,167.9 million in the last year. As a result, the Group's underlying
profit excluding net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties of HK$495.6 million accordingly declined by 48.4% from
HK$960.4 million in the last year. Such decline is primarily owing to: (i)
decrease in the Group's revenue and profit from sale of properties as the
pace of property sales in Hong Kong has slowed down considerably
during the year while property sales launch of Starlight One, a project in
Jiaxing, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") was rescheduled to March
2023 for capturing the reviving market sentiment leading to the
deferment in profit recognition of sales from FY2023 to next financial
year; and (i) rising interest rates leading to increase in the Group's
finance costs.

With the net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment
properties included, the profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$455.6 million, decreased by 58.5% from HK$1,097.3
million in the last year. Basic earnings per share were HK30.7 cents for
the FY2023, compared to HK73.9 cents for the last year.

SEGMENT RESULT ANALYSIS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During the FY2023, the Group recognised a segment revenue of
HKS$274.3 million (2022: HK$2,963.2 million) and segment profit of
HKS$213.2 million (2022: HK$450.1 million) from property sales and other
services rendered in Hong Kong and mainland China. The drastic decline
in the Group's revenue and segment net profit were largely attributed to
the slow-down in pace of property sales in Hong Kong and reschedule
of sales launch of Starlight One, a project in Jiaxing, the PRC to March
2023 for capturing the reviving market sentiment leading to the
deferment in profit recognition of sales from FY2023 to next financial
year. Impact of the aforesaid factors affecting the property sales was
mitigated by the Group's disposal of 49% interest in Wireless Road, a
joint venture project in Thailand, generating a net disposal gain of
HKS$368.0 million and a cash proceeds of HK$705.2 million, providing
with the Group financial resources for replenishing land reserves.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group has HK$2,262.2 million contracted but
unrecognised property sales.
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Financial Review

i A

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group recorded segment revenue of HK$585.3 million (2022:
HK$500.3 million) and segment profit of HK$605.4 million (2022:
HK$920.7 million) for the FY2023. Decrease in segment profit was
however attributable to: (i) decline in disposal profit contributions from
Japan for two investment properties were disposed in the FY2023 as
compared with three major investment properties disposed in the
preceding year; and (i) decrease in the Group's share of results of HKRI
Taikoo Hui ("HTH") due to the city-wide lockdown in Shanghai during the
second quarter of 2022 which had caused occupancy drop in HTH's
hotels and serviced apartment.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

The segment recorded revenue of HK$270.8 million (2022: HK$224.1
million) and profit of HK$53.9 million (2022: HKS$37.5 million) for the
FY2023. Following the removal of social distancing measures, basic
demand and usage for ferry and bus services in Discovery Bay have been
recovering steadily thereby improving the operating environment. On
top of this the bus fare adjustment implemented in July 2022 boosted
the segment revenue providing relief against high fuel costs and
increasing staff costs.

Property management services continued to provide a stable
contribution to both revenue and net profit of the Group for the year.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The segment recorded revenue of HK$274.7 million (2022: HK$218.4
million) and loss of HK$4.4 million (2022: HK$31.3 million) for the FY2023.
With the gradual recovery of tourism in Thailand, The Sukhothai
Bangkok's operating performance has embarked on a recovery trajectory
since the third quarter of 2022 but is yet to revert to pre-pandemic level.
With the re-opening of borders and removal of social distancing
measures, Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong maintained satisfactory
room occupancy and captured the revived demand for corporate events
and wedding banquets, and attained better performance versus that of
the preceding year.
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LEISURE BUSINESSES

The segment including mainly Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club
Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club ("DBGC"), Lantau Yacht Club (“LYC"), DB
Ice Rink and Peony Chinese Restaurant. The segment recorded revenue
of HK$288.6 million (2022: HK$261.9 million) and profit of HK$2.7 million
(2022: loss of HKS$5.7 million) for the FY2023. During the year, LYC
experienced a growth in membership and marina facilities revenue
despite the pandemic while DBGC recorded a higher level of incomes
from usage of club facilities and food and beverage. Performance of
other operating units have been improving with the easing of social
distancing measures.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

NET DEBT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had total bank balances and cash of
HKS6,212.6 million (2022: HK$2,717.7 million) and a net debt of
HKS$5,366.5 million (2022: HKS 7,937.7 million) after deducting total bank
borrowings and other loans of HK$11,579.1 million (2022: HK$10,655.4
million).

As of 31 March 2023, about 18% of the Group'’s bank balance and cash
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 68% in Renminbi, 3% in US
dollars, 8% in Japanese Yen and the remaining were mainly in Singapore
dollars and Thai Baht.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group’s debt portfolio comprised of primarily
bilateral and syndicated bank loans to finance its general working capital
and the development projects. The unlisted notes of HK$300 million was
issued under Medium Term Note programme in May 2021.

The maturity profile of bank borrowings and other loans were 19.8% (2022:
22.4%) falling within one year, 34.2% (2022: 30.4%) falling between one
and two years, 43.4% (2022: 44.4%) falling between two and five years
and 2.6% (2022: 2.8%) falling over 5 years.

As of 31 March 2023, all bank borrowing and other loans were on
floating rate basis whereas the unlisted notes were at fixed coupon rate.
About 92% of the Group’s total bank borrowings and other loans were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the remaining were in Renminbi.
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Financial Review

i A

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND AND GEARING

As of 31 March 2023, the shareholders’ funds of the Group decreased by
HK$629.0 million to HK$24,397.9 million (2022: HK$25,026.9 million).

The Group's gearing ratio was 22.0% (2022: 31.7%) as calculated by the
Group's consolidated net borrowings to the shareholders’ funds as of 31
March 2023. The consolidated net borrowings included bank balances
and cash of HK$1,206.6 million, being the over subscription monies
received from property buyers which have been refunded in April 2023.
If these amounts were excluded, the gearing ratio would be 26.9%.

AVAILABILITY OF FACILITIES

Total available loan facilities as of 31 March 2023 were HK$17,523.8
million (2022: HK$14,638.6 million), of which 88.6% were committed.

As of 31 March 2023, the unutilised credit facilities were approximately
HK$5,918.2 million (2022: HKS$3,956.2 million). The Group closely
monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges financing for its
development projects and operations as and when appropriate.

During the FY2023, the average financing cost was at 3.3% per annum as
compared to 1.1% per annum in the preceding year.

With the unutilised loan facilities, cash on hand and expected cash flows
from operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to fund its
current commitments and future potential investment opportunities
ahead.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a conservative
approach for its treasury management. The Group closely reviews and
monitors its foreign currency exposure. To manage foreign currency
exposure in certain overseas investments, the Group maintains certain
naturally hedged positions and will make any swap or future
arrangements as appropriate. The Group’s banking facilities are
principally on floating rate basis and interest rate swaps will be employed
to manage interest rate risk for its short- to medium-term borrowings
when appropriate and necessary.

The use of derivative financial instruments is strictly controlled and are
primarily used for management of interest rate and currency exposures.
It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives for
speculative purpose.
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MAJOR ACQUISITION, DISPOSALS AND
PROJECTS

The disposal of two investment properties in Japan which was entered
into agreement in February 2022 at consideration of HK$223.4 million,
was completed and the balance payment was received in April 2022.

In March, a piece of land lot in Jiaxing, the PRC was acquired through
land auction, which a deposit of HK$239.6 million was paid in March
2023.

The Group disposed of 49% interest in a parcel of land on Wireless Road
in Bangkok, Thailand at a consideration of HK$705.2 million in February
2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2023, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by
certain investment properties at a total carrying value of HK$434.0
million (2022: nil).

As of 31 March 2023, the loans to a joint venture by the Group including
interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,506.3 million (2022:
HKS$854.5 million) were subordinated to banks to secure a banking
facility granted to the joint venture for financing the development in Tai
Po.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group had financial guarantee contracts relating to a corporate
guarantee on the Group's proportionate share to the extent of HK$98.9
million (2022: HK$107.1 million) as at 31 March 2023 given to a bank in
respect of a banking facility granted to an investee company.

The Company provided a corporate guarantee in proportionate share to
banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint venture to finance
the development in Tai Po. The bank loan balance in proportionate share
of 40% is HK$1,252.0 million (2022: HKS$1,616.1 million) as of 31 March
2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
financial guarantee contract as of 31 March 2023.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
v % G5

_E

pwc

To the Shareholders of HKR International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of HKR International Limited (the

"Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages

106 to 239, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March

2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its joint
venture

Recoverability of properties held for/under development for sale
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B BE RS

Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture

BREBRACERAMFENREYENIEE

Refer to notes 4, 16 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the investment properties held by the
Group were stated at fair value of HK$14,157.2 million with a
net realised and unrealised loss of HK$59.7 million recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group's joint
venture also has significant investment properties.

Independent external valuers were engaged to determine the
fair value of the investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture.

EREGEEH BRI T4 16K20 -

R2023F3A31H EEBEFAENKREME H141572
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

We understood management’s controls and processes
for determining the valuation of investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
the judgements involved in determining the fair value;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

We obtained the valuation reports and met the
independent external valuers to discuss the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNAEEERENSE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and
its joint venture (Continued)

BEEBRASERNAMFENREY XN 1EE (&)

Fair value of investment properties was generally derived by
using the income capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, the direct comparison approach. The income
capitalisation approach was based on the capitalisation of the
rental income and reversionary income potential by adopting
appropriate capitalisation rates and market rents. The direct
comparison approach assumed sale of property interest in its
existing state based on comparable market transactions, as
available in the relevant market.

We focus on this area because the fair values of investment
properties are subject to significant judgements and estimation
uncertainty.
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We involved our in-house valuation experts and
assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of investment
properties, based on our knowledge of the property
industry, research evidence of capitalisation rates,
market rents and comparable market transactions for
similar properties, where applicable; and

We tested, on a sample basis, the data used in the
valuation of investment properties, including rental rates
from existing tenancies by agreeing them to the
underlying agreements with the tenants.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations were
appropriate and the key assumptions were supportable in light
of available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
AREITER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NMNEEERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale

R EFRE/RE Y E R A

Refer to notes 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying values of the Group's
properties held for/under development for sale amounted to
HK$3,149.7 million and HK$6,067.8 million respectively.

Management assessed the recoverability of the carrying values
of properties held by the Group based on estimates of the net
realisable values of the underlying properties. These involved
the estimation of selling prices of the properties based on
current market prices of properties of comparable locations and
conditions, the construction costs to complete based on the
existing development plans and the costs necessary to make
the sales, where applicable.
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Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of properties
held for/under development for sale included:

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
controls and processes in determining the net realisable
values of the properties and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the net realisable values;

We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness of
relevant controls around the property development
cycle with particular focus on, but not limited to,
controls over cost budgeting for estimated costs to
completion, where applicable;
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Key Audit Matter
ARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNAEEERENSE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale (Continued)

HRUEFRE/REF YR 7 KB (&)

If the estimated net realisable values of the underlying
properties were significantly different from their carrying values
as a result of changes of market conditions and/or significant
variation in the budgeted development costs, material write
down for the properties held for/under development for sale
may result.

We focus on this area because the existence of estimation
uncertainty warrants specific audit focus and attention.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on the
recoverability of the carrying values of the properties,
and assessed the reasonableness of key assumptions
and estimates in management’s assessment including:

(i) For the estimated selling prices, we compared, on a
sample basis, to the current market prices of properties
of comparable locations and conditions; and

(i) For the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales, we assessed the
reasonableness of the costs necessary to make the sales
and the latest budgets of total construction costs and
tested, on a sample basis, the construction costs to
committed contracts and other supporting information.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the key
assumptions in the recoverability assessment were supportable
in light of available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
EORKESHMERAR
Certified Public Accountants

HEEEED

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
B 202368218
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

GEEmR

Fortheyearended 31 March2023 #(ZE 20233 A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
Ff 5 BEBR BEBTT
N
Continuing operations FEREER
Revenue A 5 1,693.7 41679
Cost of sales 5 & K A (906.0) (2,675.9)
Gross profit SVl 787.7 1,492.0
Other income E A A 6 179.6 229.1
Other gains and losses H e K 18 7 249.3 (45.0)
Selling, administrative and other operating HE TTBREMEERS
expenses (656.1) (667.3)
Change in fair value and gains on disposals of WEMEAFEEHREE
investment properties 2 Was
Realised gains on disposals HERZEZFRKE 16,27 26.6 3846
Unrealised (losses)/gains REIE (B8 /W= 16 (86.3) 633
Finance costs B 1% & 8 (230.0) (123.3)
Share of results of associates DB E RN B EE (0.2) 0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures DEEEREEE 284.3 3434
Profit before taxation B B4 A v Al 9 554.9 1,676.6
Taxation fig 10 (76.7) (483.9)
Profit for the year from continuing operations RS & E B AR FE A 478.2 1,192.7
Discontinued operation ERIEREENK
Profit for the year from discontinued operation BRI E TSR EE A 12 - 26.8
Profit for the year NEE 478.2 12195
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the RAEHERE ANEBEREE
Company i A
From continuing operations REFEEEERK 455.6 1,069.8
From discontinued operation RE DKL EER 12 - 27.5
Profit for the year attributable to owners of RNAREBANEBEREE
the Company }‘E\L %lj 11 455.6 1,097.3
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to IR EEEERNFE
non-controlling interests w A/ (B HR)
From continuing operations KEFEREEK 22.6 1229
From discontinued operation REBEKIELE B 12 - 0.7)
Profit for the year attributable to non-controlling  JE % A% 4 25 Ji& {5 7K 4F & 335 7
interests 22.6 122.2
Earnings per share from continuing operations KEFBEREEBTRART 15
Basic (HK cents) AR GEAD 30.7 72.0
Diluted (HK cents) #se (B L) 30.7 720
Earnings per share from discontinued operation 7K 8 B2 #& |[F & & £ B EF X
& 15
Basic (HK cents) EARCGEM) - 1.9
Diluted (HK cents) B5w (B 4L) - 1.9
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

meBEmkEMZEKER

Forthe yearended 31 March 2023 #{Z=2023F3 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEAT
N
Profit for the year N £E [ 555 R 478.2 1,2195
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Emem(FEx)/ W :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss B TreEH B2 Em2HE
Investments in equity instruments measured at 1% A P {E 5t )\ H b 2w W=
fair value through other comprehensive FFEZRATAKSE :
income:
Fair value changes during the year FRANFEZH (19.2) (8.0)
Deferred tax arising from fair value changes NP EEBEE ZELERIE 0.1 =
(19.1) (8.0)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit B sl @ EF B E 8w 2 B H
orloss
Exchange differences arising from foreign joint BINGERNRIEEZIER =5
ventures (639.3) 3100
Exchange differences arising from translation of 22 H fth 3B 4N 2 5 B 4= 7 [E i,
other foreign operations =% (404.5) 444
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of a HEEING Z N A R R IE L
foreign joint venture ER 22.3 -
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration #8538 SN i B & &) 5% 1 B R (6
of foreign subsidiaries b 5 & 28.1 0.3)
Share of asset revaluation reserve of a joint DIHEERRIZCEEEGHFEE
venture 2.2 =
(991.2) 354.1
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEMEE(FAX) /W - 1k
for the year, net of tax I8 (1,010.3) 346.1
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEE2EFAX)/WREE
for the year (532.1) 1,565.6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THEEEE () /WA :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATHEAE A (554.7) 14434
Non-controlling interests FE 12 A e 2 22.6 1222
(532.1) 1,565.6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income attributable ZNA Bl A A fEh2mE (FAXX)/
to owners of the Company arises from: W BEER B
Continuing operations =R S (554.7) 4179
Discontinued operation BRI T - 253
(554.7) 14434

e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRR

At31March2023 7202343 A31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEAT BEATT
N
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties HEYHE 16 14,157.2 14,303.1
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MERE 17 2,648.1 2,741.8
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 18 78.2 85.5
Interests in associates FR=NC Pl - 3y 19 - -
Interests in joint ventures ABEDNRZER 20 10,105.3 10,2222
Properties held for development for sale HHEEFERDE 24 3,149.7 45920
Equity instruments measured at fair value EATEGFAEMER
through other comprehensive income WHirE2RATA 2] 24.7 442
Financial assets at fair value through profitorloss & A F{Ezt AR 2
TREEE 21 462.1 528.0
Investments in debt instruments measured at REHEK ARG E 2B
amortised cost TEAKE 21 49.5 73.0
Other assets HEmEE 22 396.8 702.0
Deferred tax assets BT IHE E 33 109.4 57.6
31,181.0 33,3494
Current assets MEE E
Inventories FE 23 31.8 32.5
Properties held for sale BHIELEmE 2,337.5 877.8
Properties under development for sale HEEZERYE 24 6,067.8 4,596.8
Trade receivables FEW B SR 25 47.6 639
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be ENRIEREAM
FE YRR 26(a) 750.4 1,2524
Amounts due from associates JFE Wi Bt 2 X B FR0B 19, 26(b) 4.0 41
Amounts due from joint ventures U A & AR kI8 26(c) 192.1 205.3
Investments in debt instruments measured at REBHEKAFE 2 EH
amortised cost TEKRE 21 21.6 34.3
Taxation recoverable A] R B 7 18 56.0 85.8
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHBRIA S 26(a), 36() 6,212.6 2,717.7
15,721.4 9,870.6
Assets classified as held for sale DHEAEEREZEE 27 - 187.5
15,721.4 10,058.1
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2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS$'M
P &£ BEET BEBT

e

Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges  FEN 2 5 BE3 ~ B8 K
EstE R 28 1,169.3 1,081.3
Deposits received and other financial liabilities CWRE LEMERBE 1,363.1 159.9
Contract liabilities EHEaE 29 2,075.4 13838
Bank and other loans due within one year —FREEZRTREAM
B® 30 2,297.4 2,390.8
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 6.0 7.1
Taxation payable e T IE 291.0 3207
7,202.2 4,098.6
Net current assets mENEEFE 8,519.2 5,959.5
Total assets less current liabilities wEERABARE 39,700.2 39,3089
Non-current liabilities IEREBEE
Contract liabilities aHNaE 29 70.9 63.8
Bank and other loans due after one year — SR RIT R EAM
B3 30 9,281.7 8,264.6
Lease liabilities HEAaE 31 47.9 526
Other liabilities due after one year —FREPzEMERE 32 2,621.9 2,479.1
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIB ARG 33 406.9 502.5
12,429.3 11,362.6
27,270.9 27,946.3
Capital and reserves BARRFEE
Share capital [N 34 371.3 3713
Reserves et 24,026.6 24,655.6
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KANFER NEIRREZR 24,397.9 25,026.9
Non-controlling interests FE1E R 2 2,873.0 29194
27,270.9 27,946.3

e

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 239 were SE106B E F20BFFH G MK HRExE R
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 20236 A21 B EE T €t £ RIFE T2 - I

2023 and are signed on its behalf by: ATIEEREKESE:
TANG Moon Wah NGAN Man Ying
Managing Director Executive Director
B w2 BAXH
EFAK HITEF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Fortheyearended 31 March2023 #(ZE 20233 A31HILFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
Bt 5 BEEBT BEBT
N
Cash generated from/(used in) operations SEME/ (TR BES 36(a) 3,035.7 (4,668.7)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEBREH (76.9) (194.3)
Overseas tax paid B8N IR (98.6) (386.8)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities BBEBG/(FTA)BES
F R 2,860.2 (5,249.8)
Investing activities wEEE
Repayment of loan from a joint venture AEDNAIEEER 91.0 935
Cash distribution from a joint venture xEELRRZEE DK 17.5 60.0
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HEGE QR ZMERIE 704.6 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEYWE BMENMEREZ
equipment FTi5 518 2.6 140
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRAAZE KA
R 37 - 2834
Redemption of investments in debt instruments B Bl 3% 8k 85 Bk AR5t 2 2
measured at amortised cost BEHRLAKE 20.0 28.1
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair HEZAFEFAERZZ
value through profit or loss CREEZMFHIE 24.2 292
Interest received 2 W F B 26.4 227
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  H &R E ¥ ¥ 7 15 1A 248.9 1,470.5
Loans to joint ventures ERTEEQTA (675.0) (66.5)
Additions of investment properties NEREME (25.5) (584.4)
Additions of property, plant and equipment REWE BWEREE (109.1) (188.6)
Additions of investments in debt instruments RERBHENAFEZ
measured at amortised cost BEILEKE - (31.6)
Additions of financial assets at fair value through R EIE A L EE ABZ 2
profit or loss SREE (2.5) (28.5)
Net cash from investing activities BEFRDFAEE TR 323.1 1,101.8
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2023 2022
Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 3 BEAETL BEABTT
N
Financing activities BEES 36(b)
New bank and other loans raised IR rTREME R 6,432.8 8,770.0
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder JE 98 B& A% BR = 3R 78.0 1,572.0
Club debentures (redeemed)/issued (Bl /BEITEMES (14.0) 3.2
Repayment of bank and other loans EERITREMER (5,498.7) (5,734.6)
Interest paid =EEES (334.0) (120.7)
Dividends paid 2K % & (74.3) (1188)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEEAE (9.3) (22.2)
Repayment of shareholder loan to RFEIER R R EZER R
a non-controlling shareholder B - (463.2)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder 2 4] 3F #%2 B% A% B8R £+ A% 2 (69.0) (124.1)
Net cash from financing activities BB R ER S FRE 511.5 3,7616
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BekIRE&EFEEEE Z
cash equivalents a0/ Gl ) %58 3,694.8 (386.4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYIzREeMREEEIER
of the year 2,717.7 3,060.9
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EREH & (199.9) 432
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRZEERREEEEAR 36(c) 6,212.6 27177

e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

1T GENERAL INFORMATION

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
development, management and provision of essential and recreational
services for residential housing and leisure projects in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island, other property development, property investment and
hotel operations. The Group’s associates and joint ventures are
principally engaged in property development and property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT
YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") for
the first time in the current year:
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018—

2020 Cycle

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations
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The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance and on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

RAFEEEREER] B A B RS LR &
HEBZUBRRRRRARZEFLEETH
BRABRBEXNERTE -

© 18 5 {8 I8 AR &£ 2 2 3 /] RS FT
BERUBREER
£ B30 RI AT A A T E M E M R ERZ

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)

Insurance Contracts

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Insurance Contracts

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

The Group anticipates that the application of above new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for mortgage instalment receivables,
investment properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
“Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset taken into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from
the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSTITUTING
A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the
purchase price first to investment properties which are subsequently
measured under fair value model, and financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Ajoint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint
ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net
assets of the associates and joint ventures other than profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.
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The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an

alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is determined at contract inception. It
represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques
such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods
or services to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an
amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in the
amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the
contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of
the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the
promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the period
between the advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the same basis as
other borrowing costs.
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Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.
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Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and

any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liabilities based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for
investment properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are
estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they
arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group'’s ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customer” to
allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group's
interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group'’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (ie. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation, attributable to owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint
control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under
development, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as
the properties are ready for the Group's intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

BEEMBNREEVBRRAINEERERE
FREEEAEERNENHRABZHEERE
MeEREZHEER BEEHBERE—RLAHN
BERRAREFZHER EERBEEE R
RARATBEB ER DS K Al AR K 85 5% 5 7] &)
Rz MR E R ZRERRATE A HBERE
R - WEREZEIRNAEIATTER
AR B A BB EHE N R 5 (KA GRS B
ZEMEERAREL  EREEREER
BERNTHER -

BEEHRBERETHMERKE QR KB EQF
ZHRENENREBERR 2B BN ERM
ERHEZMTUER HEHEEETZHEEE
BMOEE AREREZHRAER LG RRA G
TEEE AATER BEXFRELRER
EENAHREREZEREEANELEREE
E-ERRAEETEMNERDLE N AER
EREZHMNa AREREEZENATR
%R AT B BB - 5 T HERR

EEFRBEEZRAERSERSHRELR
AOETHEBBERAERTENAKE 2
O BEERE T AR

EEFRBEERBBENRENRBEHRER
HRERLERME 2 HER(RBIR)  REH
BEABHEREENMER CHEXFE -

fird B AT OE #0117 #E A LA B HA 3% 18 & 2 K 85 AD
HREAE MEEHBAEHRF —REEE
AR —-—ERRERRWZAEHMAR AA
HHEEEHAEERRELEHEAE -

B RERERATDRNBEER  EEERHE
fEEREERXREERNEaRRAZERSR
AR EEREANELSREMEE
Weat sk ERERNERANER - EHRAEIE
EBBADEXEBEHNTARMEL - BIE
MBTEREBEHARRKA -

EREXEREEFRAF 20222023 £ 129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than freehold land and construction in progress as
described below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to accumulated profits.
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Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than
freehold land and construction in progress, less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Hotel properties

Freehold land

Buildings, commercial and
leisure facilities

3-40 years

No depreciation

5-50 years, or over the lease term if
shorter

Leasehold improvements 5 years, or over the lease term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 3-7 years
equipment

Plant, machinery and 5-15 years
equipment

Ferries, launches and motor ~ 3-20 years

vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement of owner
occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall
be its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties held for/under
development for sale to investment property when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced
by the observable actions taken to support the change in use. Any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer
and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER DEVELOPMENT
FOR SALE

Properties held for/under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to
make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties held
for sale upon completion. Properties under development for sale
included in the current assets are expected to be realised in, or is
intended for sale in the Group's normal operating cycle.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are classified under
current assets. Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost relating to the development of properties,
comprising lands and development costs, are included in properties
under development for sale until such time when they are completed.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all
anticipated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the gross carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the subsequent reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of
the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOC| are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL") model on financial assets (including investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, loan to a
joint venture, loan to an investee, other receivables, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances) and other
item (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-months ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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0] Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a
low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other

party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate
instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and other
receivables, are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to associates
and joint ventures are assessed for ECL on an individual basis);

Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at
the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises reversal of
impairment or impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of
trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification of debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, except for derivative financial liabilities, are
subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other loans, trade payables,
deposits received, advance from a non-controlling shareholder, advances
from joint ventures and club debentures are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Club debentures
were issued to members at the principal amount and is recognised
initially at fair value. The difference between the initial fair value and the
principal amount is recognised as deferred income. Deferred income is
recognised to profit or loss over the terms of debentures.
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Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing
similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to accumulated profits. Regarding to the share
options of the subsidiary, when share options are exercised after the
vesting date, the amount previously recognised in share options reserve
of a subsidiary will be transferred to share of net assets of subsidiaries
within non-controlling interests.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS/SUBSIDIES

Grants/subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair values
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant/subsidies will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Government grants/subsidies relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government
grants/subsidies relating to the purchase of property, plant and
equipment are deducted from the cost of the property, plant and
equipment.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a
liability in the financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders/directors, where
appropriate.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their
carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly
probable. They are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. Investment properties classified as assets held for sale are stated at
fair value at the end of the reporting period.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been
disposed of and that represents a separate major line of business. The
results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimation, that the directors of the Company have made in the process
of applying the Group'’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the investment property
portfolio of the Group and concluded that none of the investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors of the
Company have determined that the “sale” presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The Group has not
recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment
properties to the extent in which the disposal of those investment
properties are not subject to income taxes.

The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have determined that the “sale” presumption
set out in HKAS 12 is rebutted.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023 at their fair value of HK$14,157.2
million (2022: HK$14,303.1 million) (Note 16). The fair value was based on
valuation of these properties conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). In determining the fair values of the
Group's investment properties, the Valuers applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates
and adjusted market price that has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location and timing of referenced
transactions. The management of the Company has reviewed the
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the investment properties held by
a joint venture amounted to HK$23,591.2 million (2022: HK$25,277.3
million) (Note 20) and the Group's share of the value of the investment
properties amounted to HK$11,795.6 million (2022: HK$12,638.7 million).
The valuation of such investment properties was conducted by an
independent firm of professional valuers (the “Valuer”). In determining
the fair value of the joint venture's investment properties, the Valuer
applied a market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
appropriate rentals and capitalisation rates.

representing

Properties held for/under development for sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group's properties held
for/under development for sale amounting to HK$9,217.5 million (2022:
HK$9,188.8 million) (Note 24) with reference to current market
environment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets may exceed its net realisable value.
Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit
or loss when the net realisable value is below cost. The estimates of net
realisable value are based on the evidence available at the time the
estimates are made of the amount the properties held for/under
development for sale that are expected to realise. Actual realised amount
may differ from estimates or changes in facts and circumstances may
result in downward revision of estimated net realisable value of these
properties held for/under development for sale and additional write-
down may be required.
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Interests in joint ventures

The Group determines whether interests in joint ventures are impaired
by regularly review whether there are any indicators of impairment of
the investments by reference to the requirements under HKAS 28 (2011)
“Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” and HKAS 36. For
investments where impairment indicators exist, management estimated
the recoverable amounts of the investments, being higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use.

The measurement of ECL of the loans to joint ventures is measured as
either 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, through the
management’s critical assessment on the recoverable amounts based on
cash flows from underlying assets, the actual and expected changes in
business performance and general market default rate. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into five operating divisions: property
development, property investment, transportation services and property
management, hotel operations and leisure businesses. Each of the
operating divisions represents an operating and reportable segment.

The segment information reported as below does not include the
financial information of “Healthcare” operating segment as it had
become a discontinued operation described in Note 12

BELNFzED

EEEREEBSSTED F 28502011 HE A

ARAERAZREIRB LG ERE 36
ZEFR EHERKRELSE N B EFAIRED
RUMETRLEAREaBESRE RV
FEREREENRE BEEBERFTERR
Bz lm &5 BIRFER L SR A EE
AEEMERZESE -

ERTEERAZABEEERR2AARE
HEEERAERFHAZEREEER
AECBORAREEEERHBEEZHER
E EBRACERMEHREGREEMS
é@¥ﬁ7%@iﬁ¢ﬁ2%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ§m
B¥nEREEER BERE IR N0 - fd FE
Wk 1E B th wéﬁgﬂ“ﬁﬁﬁm Al
MERERFHANZ AP EEBHRTE -

5 WARZHEHR

SELASLBEEENMT: MEER VER
B RBRERDEERE @E%%&Wﬁ
X - RLEHFIARKR—ELERA 2R

5 -
AT 2% 2 5 8 & R I 2 S5 M 12 i 2
[EERRIBEHB2HBRES BRER
BERILEE TS -

BRAXEREEARAT 20222023 5 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE i) WADE
Continuing operations HFELSEXEK

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BZE2023F3A31ALFE

Transportation
services and

Property  Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RBERBER
NEERE NERE MEEE FEEXK KBEL Bt
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEERT HEAER BEET BEER HEERT BEER

Types of goods or services: EmSREES:
Sales of properties HEW 2415 - - - - 2415
Hotel revenue B TE e A - - - 274.7 - 274.7
Other services rendered 1R it H fth R 7% 32.8 1126 270.0 - 287.2 702.6
Revenue from contracts with RERFAHZ

customers WA 274.3 112.6 270.0 274.7 287.2 1,218.8
Rental income s ON - 472.7 0.8 - 1.4 4749
Consolidated revenue, as reported £ & UL A » 11 2 3] 274.3 585.3 270.8 274.7 2886  1,693.7
Geographical markets: HE M :
Hong Kong e 163.3 561.3 270.8 198.6 288.6 1,482.6
Mainland China T E A 110.6 23.7 - - - 134.3
Japan SN - 0.3 - - - 0.3
South East Asia HEs 0.4 - - 76.1 - 76.5
Total =t 274.3 585.3 270.8 274.7 288.6 1,693.7
Timing of revenue recognition: U A B 58 KRS
At a point in time 7 X (B R 2 2415 - 252.6 124.4 176.2 794.7
Over time k& B T 32.8 112.6 17.4 150.3 111.0 4241
Total @t 274.3 112.6 270.0 274.7 287.2  1,218.8
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE)00F3IANBIEFE
Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure

development investment ~ management  operations  businesses Total

R R
MEER MERE MEER BEELE KBEB Bt
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEET AEATL BEAET BEAT BEET BEAT

Types of goods or services: ERBREESE:

Sales of properties HEMSE 29379 = = = - 29379
Hotel revenue N = - = 2184 - 2184
Other services rendered R E M RS 213 313 2233 - 2617 5376
Revenue from contracts with KEREANZ

customers WA 2959.2 313 2233 2184 2617 3,693.9
Rental income He A 40 469.0 08 = 02 4740
Consolidated revenue, as reported 474 UL A » 11 2 5§ 2,963.2 500.3 2241 2184 2619 41679
Geographical markets: HEmE
Hong Kong B8 1,196 4550 224.1 1886 2619 22492
Mainland China HE R 18313 90 = = = 18403
Japan BA - 363 - - = 363
South East Asia Y 123 = = 298 = 421
Total F 296322 500.3 2241 2184 2619 41679
Timing of revenue recognition;: Y A\ fE 2 B[
Ata pointin time 1A 35 1B 5 D 2 29379 - 2080 96.0 2114 34533
Over time B B 213 313 153 1224 503 2406
Total @t 2959.2 313 2233 2184 2617 36939
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

(i) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Property development

Revenue from sales of residential properties is recognised at a point in
time when the completed property is transferred to customers, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and collection of
the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits from
customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement. However,
depending on market conditions, the Group may offer customers a
discount compared to the listed sales price, provided that the customers
agree to pay the balance of the consideration early while construction is
still ongoing. Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property construction period for the
full amount of the contract price.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all incremental
costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Transportation services

Revenue from provision of various transportation services in Discovery
Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel operations, is recognised
when the related services are provided.

Property management

Revenue from property management represents charge-out collections,
which consist of payments in respect of the operation of the properties
which are payable by the tenants, are recognised over time using output
method when the services and facilities are provided. The Group applied
the practical expedient in HKFRSs by recognising revenue in the amount
to which the Group has right to invoice, since the Group is entitled to bill
a fixed amount in advance for each month according to the terms of the
relevant agreements. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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Hotel operations

Hotel revenue from the room rental is recognised over time during the
period of stay for the hotel guests using output method. Revenue from
sales of food and beverage and other ancillary services provided is
generally recognised at point in time when the goods and services are
provided.

Leisure businesses

Revenue from using the club and ice rink facilities in Discovery Bay by
customers is recognised over time during the period in which the
customers are entitled to use the facilities.

Revenue from sales of food and beverage and various services provided
under leisure businesses is generally recognised at point in time when
the good and service are provided.

(iii) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT WITH
CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:

W IE E5

KEHEFHZBERARBEZAANED
B A HOERER MR - RE ERHEE IR
HEMEERSE 2 WA —RREHRSE @ &R
75 By ) R 18] By ] A R 00

NEES:S

B PR e =8 £ A & Fr KOB K5 R e 2 WA
K& F A #EE R 3% it 2 ) BE i ] W R o

HABEBAIE‘R 2 ERFEERZEARSE 2
WA —RR IR E G &R B & 3 (8 B 2
MR -

(i) 7EEREBNEBRREFEN
ZBRTENEENXZER

M202353A31H R2022%F3 8318 D E &
TEHET(RERKBOREKR) NS E
R TEHAERRARRZIHMOT

Sales of properties

HEME
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEAT
I
Within one year —F N 2,228.9 1194
Over one year —F LAk 33.3 -
2,262.2 1194

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied but not
yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

OPERATING SEGMENTS EE DB

Segment information oI E R

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by TN ARBELEERAESHRI LT AEEE
operating and reportable segments for the year: B2WARES :

Continuing operations FEREER

Transportation
services and

Property  Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RERBR
MERRE YERE MEEE BEEXB KEEHR @st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M  HK$'M
BEERT BAEER BEET BHE#®T HEERT BEAR

- e e Y Y A
For the year ended 31 March 2023 % Z2023 F

3ANALEE
Revenue WA
Segment revenue - sales to external - 3 E U A - H
customers derived by the Group, H“* ENAIRE "
an associate and joint ventures DA E P
JIHER 535.5 2,311.6 270.8 274.7 288.6 3,681.2
Excluding revenue of an associate il B B & 2 &) %
and joint ventures BEDNAIZHA (261.2)  (1,726.3) - - - (1,987.5)
Consolidated revenue, asreported R & YA + 11 2 3R 274.3 585.3 270.8 274.7 288.6  1,693.7
Results E4
Segment results - total realised DEEE—
results of the Group, associates Haﬁ YN &
and joint ventures (note a) NAIZBER %
A ET) 194.9 869.3 53.9 (4.4) 27 1,164
Excluding realised results of WBR IE £ B 516 B
associates and joint ventures not ERAREER
shared by the Group 7 ZEEHFE ii 183 (263.9) - - - (245.6)
Results attributable tothe Group £ B JE(E# 48 213.2 605.4 53.9 (4.4) 27 8708
Unallocated other expenses APREEMAT (32.0)
Unallocated corporate expenses APEARER (145.3)
Finance costs and corporate level Bt & B %A 7
exchange difference BEERZR (162.1)
Net unrealised losses on fairvalue & &) % A T & &
change of investment properties B AERER
(note b) 558 (Ft7ED) (86.3)
Net unrealised gains on fair value EIFE{EE\%’&
change of investment properties RIBEYE R
attributable to the Group’s interest 2 /A {8 & @J 2
inajoint venture, net of deferred tax R & 37 I 2%
B NRE ﬁ
I8 33.1
Profit for the year RE R A 478.2
Non-controlling shareholders’ share ~ 3E#22 % A% 8 215
of profit for the year REZER (22.6)
Profit for the year attributable to AARER AERL
owners of the Company AAE B i A 455.6
||
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Transportation
services and

Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment ~ management operations  businesses Total
iR &
MEBE MERE MEERE BEEEK KBEES #at
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEET BEABTL BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
For the year ended 31 March 2022 & Z2022F
3ANBIEEE
Revenue WA
Segment revenue - sales to external 9 ZF UL A — 5 & I
customers derived by the Group, ~ BEE R F KA
an associate and joint ventures NEEIMLR }5
ZHEE 3,1309 24551 224.1 2184 2619 6,2904
Excluding revenue of an associate i BR B 2 A &) ]z
and joint ventures NG Hﬁz)\ (167.7) (1,954.8) - - - (21225
Consolidated revenue, asreported R AU A » T2 296322 5003 2241 2184 2619 41679
Results i
Segment results - total realised DEEE-EH
results of the Group, associates ’éﬁ ERRAIREE
and joint ventures (note a) NAElZE# fﬁ %
A ET) 4583 1,1953 375 (313) (57) 16541
Excluding realised results of MiBR IS B o BB
associates and joint ventures not EBNEIRAER
shared by the Group AZEBRER (8.2) (274.6) - = = (2828)
Results attributable to the Group SEEGESR 450.1 920.7 375 (313) (57) 13713
Unallocated other expenses x9N @E E i B 3% (14.1)
Unallocated corporate expenses ADEDRER (1944)
Finance costs and corporate level ~ Bf % ;gf ARRARE
exchange difference HZEREHE (90.1)
Netunrealised gainsonfairvalue ~ $R&E M E N FEE
change of investment properties )2 R & B Iz
(note b) HE (Pt D) 630
Net unrealised gains on fair value SEELEGELNT
change of investment properties RERENEER
attributable to the Group's interest ~ Z A FEEE) 2
inajointventure, netof defered tax R 43R W 25 /%
B HIRET
wIE 57.0
Profit for the year REE G H 1,192.7
Non-controlling shareholders’ share  FE 22 A% A% 38 2 14
of profit for the year REZER (1229)
Profit for the year attributable to /NI 2PNl
owners of the Company INE E A 1,060.8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

Notes:

(a) The segment results of the Group include the entire results of associates and
joint ventures, excluding the net unrealised gains or losses on fair value change of
investment properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised losses on fair value change of investment properties for the
year ended 31 March 2023 of HK$86.3 million (2022: gains of HK$63.0 million)
represented the unrealised losses on fair value change of investment properties of
HK$86.3 million (2022: gains of HK$63.3 million) net of deferred tax charge arising from
change in fair value of HKSnil (2022: HK$0.3 million).

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss from) each
segment without allocation of unallocated other expenses, unallocated
corporate expenses, finance costs and corporate level exchange
difference, net unrealised gains/(losses) on fair value change of
investment properties and net unrealised gains on fair value change of
investment properties attributable to the Group’s interests in a joint
venture, net of deferred tax. This is the performance measurement
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external customers.
No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the chief

operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for review.
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ANy 7.3

Other segment information Hth 5 &R
Continuing operations FFEKE XY

Transportation
services and
Property  Property property Hotel Leisure Unallocated
development investment management operations businesses amounts Total
RBBRER
VEBRE WERE WEEE FEEEB KHES RIELE @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET HEER BEEr AE®RT BEEnT HEET BEER
I s S B

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023%3A31H
LFE
Amounts included in the measure of HESDERAEE
segment profit or loss: % &
Revenue from inter-segment sales* DERE 2 HE WA - - (7.7 (0.1) (3.2) - (11.0)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERIELZ
equipment nE 214 13.8 14.4 60.9 69.4 77 187.6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZNE 4.0 - 0.8 - 0.5 3.2 8.5
Impairmentloss on loans to joint ventures  ERXFAZAEZ
REER - - - - - 2.3 23

Impairment loss on investrents in debt REBHERATEL
instruments measured at amortised cost ~ BEHRLAREZ

REEE - - - - - 165 16.5
Impairment loss reversed on property, plant, BE¥% « BE &%
and equipment B2 REERE - - (6.5) - - - (6.5)
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFABEL
SREEFRFE - - - - - 49.6 49.6
Net loss on mortgage instalment receivables & Utk 18 2 B 72 2
BREFR 1.5 - - - - - 15
Net loss on deregistration of subsidiaries i $5f B 2 &) 5E 2
BEEE - - - - - 27.8 27.8
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant & ¥ % + & K&
and equipment Rz BB/
() $8 01 03) 01 - - 02 ol
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HESEREZ
W38 (368.0) - - - - - (368.0)
Interest income = ON (17.6) (1.3) - - - (33.9) (52.8)
Finance costs HHER 0.2 0.1 13 - 0.6 227.8 230.0
Income tax charge/(credit) gk B/ (%) 25.1 28.4 0.7) 6.8 5.6 1.3 76.5
Share of results of associates DIEHME AR EE 0.2 - - - - _ 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DEABARIERE 12.7 (263.9) - - - (33.1) (284.3)
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Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure  Unallocated
development investment  management operations  businesses amounts Total
TERER
NEER NERE NEEE BEEL KEEB AOREH @t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEETL BEATL BERET BERET AEBET REBL AERETL

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZ02F38318
HEE
Amounts included in the measure of HESHBEMEE
segment profit o loss: LR
Revenue from inter-segment sales* SEEZHERA = (16) (82 = @) - (129)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERREZ
equipment wE 250 159 16.6 675 627 78 195.5
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREBEZHE 42 = 08 = 05 33 88
Impairment loss on loans to joint ventures B FAERAEZ
WEEE - - - - - 07 07

Impairment loss on investments indebt IR # R A E 2
instruments measured at amortised cost BRI AKREZ

WEER = = - - - 86 86
Impairment loss on other assets EtEEZRESR = = = 02 = = 02
Impairment loss on property, plant, and ME BEREREZ

equipment REER - - 7. - - - 7.

Net gain on financial assets at FVTPL BATEGFABRZ

EREERZER = = = - - (1) (1)
Net gain on mortgage instalment receivables Ji& 1% 18 % H1Ht 7 2

Y% (145) - = = = - (145)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZ

BR/ () 58 84 (24) = - - - 60
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant & ¥ % * B E &

and equipment HE 7 (zs)/

BRFE (04) = (03) (19) 17 - (09)
Interest income M E WA (314) 0.1 - - - (172) 487)
Finance costs B%ER 10 31 13 - 06 1173 1233
Income tax charge/(credit) ek i/ (Ee) 3557 820 (26) 75 126 287 4839
Share of results of associates DI E AR FE 02 - - - = - 02
Share of results of joint ventures AMEBERREE (118) (27456) - - - (57.0) (3434)
* Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant * DB ZIEENIREREZER G 2 BB 3
agreements, if any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was determined (WB)ET RSBRIBI2BRITMERETRE E/K
with reference to prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate. ANETFEBEAME)ETE -
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Revenue from major products and services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major
products and services:

TEREmMREH WA
RTIREBXTEERERBZWADN

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEREER BEAETT

-

Continuing operations BEKSEER

Sales of properties SHE M 241.5 2,937.9

Rental income e WA 474.9 4740

Hotel revenue B IE U A 274.7 2184

Other services rendered R E MRS 702.6 537.6
1,693.7 41679

Geographical information

For each of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the
Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, mainland China, Japan
and South East Asia.

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location of
properties and goods delivered or services rendered, and location of
properties in the case of rental income, and information about its non-
current assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

e

ih & & K

H 22023438318 %202F38318 I & F
B SEZEBMNRES PEAM - BEK
HEgas e

SEREIFEPAYE XNERKIEHR
REZMEBLRSEE  BHSBATME - K
MEMEBEE) 2RARBRAEREEN
BUEBSIDZIFRBEEER ZFBAOT

Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (note a)
REMBEF ZWA FREBEE (K Fa)
2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

BEEERT BEBT BEBRXT BEET

.

Continuing operations BEREER

Hong Kong B 1,482.6 2,249.2 17,785.7 19,410.0

Mainland China e B A 3 134.3 1,840.3 4,277.9 4,643.8

Japan SN 0.3 363 50.1 50.3

South East Asia (note b) R s (i sEDb) 76.5 421 1,709.0 1,744.0
1,693.7 41679 23,8227 25,848.1

N
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Notes:

(@) Non-current assets excluded those related to financial instruments and deferred
tax assets.

(b) Revenue from respective country within “South East Asia” contributed less than
10% of the Group's revenue.

Information about major customers

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% of the
total revenue of the Group for both years.

6 OTHERINCOME

@ FRDEETERELBMIAREERBAEE-

0 REREBEIENERZBEADRERREAZ
10% °

ERETEFEFZ2ER
RERMEFE REEBZFZWALR
EEBUWAZ10% °

6 HMA

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEAT

-

Continuing operations BEREER

Bank and other interest income RITREMF B U A 52.9 48.7

Other income (note) H b ug A (B EE) 126.7 1804
179.6 229.1

e

Note: Included in other income are government grants and subsidies of HK$88.9
million (2022: HK$94.2 million) recognised by the Group during the year, which are
mainly contributed by the Employment Support Scheme, Anti-epidemic Fund, 5-year
Special Helping Measures and other government subsidies that compensate the Group
for staff costs and other expenses incurred.
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7 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7 HttW=mREER

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEATT
Continuing operations BERKEER
Other gains/(losses) include the following: HipWz/ (B8 BE TS E :
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HEAE QR 2 W FRE 368.0 =
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZEEFERE - 6.0)
Net (loss)/gain on deregistration of subsidiaries BEMB AR Tz (BE) /Wi F
5 (27.8) 03
Net foreign exchange loss HNEELE H B 18 &R (18.0) (39.2)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME BMELKEZ W FHE
equipment 0.5 0.9
Impairment loss on other assets HihBEZRERBIE - 0.2)
Impairment loss reversed/(recognised) on BE/ (MR)ME BEREREZ
property, plant and equipment BIEE R 6.5 7.1)
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at FVTPL EATEFABGZEREEL
(BE) /=558 (49.6) 1.1
Net (loss)/gain on mortgage instalment receivables [iE W iz 48 7 HAflk 7k 2 (B 18) /U &5
YE 28 (11.5) 14.5
268.1 (35.7)
Impairment losses under ECL model, net of EHEEBEBEEX T ZREREE
reversal, include the following: (FOBR#EER) B 4E T 57 &8 ¢
Impairment loss recognised on loans to joint BRERTEE QR ZRERISE
ventures (2.3) 0.7)
Impairment loss on investments in debt REHEKN AT ECERITEREEZE
instruments measured at amortised cost ZBEEBE (16.5) (8.6)
249.3 (45.0)
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8 FINANCE COSTS

8 HMBEHR

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAETT

Continuing operations

Interests on

FEREER

NHBFREZFE

Bank and other loans RITREMER 334.0 1207
Advances from non-controlling shareholders FE 7 A% A% B EA R 82.3 35.1
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.2 2.1
Bank and other loans arrangement fees RITREMERLZHER 29.1 210
447.6 178.9
Less: Amounts included in the qualifying assets 8 : st AR BREE 2 & 5 (Mt 51)
(note) (217.6) (55.6)
230.0 1233

e

Note: To the extent funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of B SR -—REEESHAEETHHERRT DX
financing certain properties under development for sale and assets under construction, REREERE AUBEREREARALZBERAR
the capitalisation rate used to determine the amounts of borrowing costs eligible for & 88 H) & ANE F 5 5 4 3.53% (2022 6F © 1.48%)

the capitalisation is 3.53% (2022: 1.48%) per annum.
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9 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

9 PR

EVaN Y

Al 2 F

2023
HK$'M
BEET

2022
HKS'M

BEET

-

Continuing operations BEREER
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after B B AT F E 0B/ (GEA)

charging/(crediting): % & 18 :
Auditor's remuneration 1% BN B

Audit services Bt R 8.5 7.9

Non-audit services EF IR 3.1 238
Cost of properties sold EHEWEKR 129.7 2,004.8
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits I& #He B hEAMET 553.4 543.7
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RKAE T 5247 3K 23.8 224
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ EEAEINAN(BREESH:)

remuneration) 577.2 566.1
Gross rental income under operating leases on: KeEHET 2 Be A BE%E:

Investment properties KEYE (464.6) (460.5)

Other properties H{h ) (10.3) (13.5)
Less: Outgoings o 2 57.6 48.1

(417.3) (425.9)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMERRGBZITE 187.6 195.5
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECIE 8.5 88

-
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10 TAXATION

10 BB

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS$'M
BEEART BEET

FREEER

Continuing operations

Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable

I

NEE At ERRR R AR & 165%
(20224F : 165%) ST E 2 BB F BT

profit for the year 47.6 85.0
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing in BEBRERSERA IR ERAE 2

respective jurisdictions 8 SN IR 160.7 1437

Land appreciation tax (“LAT") + g E R (2.5) 172.0

205.8 400.7

Deferred taxation for the year R E R E R T8 (129.1) 83.2

76.7 483.9

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
in the relevant jurisdictions for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8 January 2011,
and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the sale or
transfer of real estate in the PRC with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including payments made for
acquisition of land use rights, costs and expenses for the development
of the land or for construction of new buildings and supporting facilities,
or the assessed value for old buildings and structures, tax payable
relating to transfer of the real estate and other deductible items
prescribed by the Ministry of Finance.
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

AEERBYHESZABRRABERNEF
ZEERMOT

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BREER BEBAT

e

Continuing operations BEKSEER
Profit before taxation B A5 Al g ) 554.9 16766
Less: Share of results of associates B D IEEEE R R EE 0.2 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DIEEERNRIER (284.3) (343.4)
270.8 1,3334
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of BTSRRI E165%TE 2
16.5% %}E@ HY H 44.7 220.0
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose T 7B s B U A 2 B 7% 52 & (86.1) (114.6)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AR HBAST 2 RIS E
purpose 69.9 62.1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMIBEBIE 2B E 344 26.8
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 1§ Fi 48 1+ R #E R 2 Tl JE &5 18 (0.5) 6.0)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating 72 £ fth 714 #E & & & 2 M1 & 1 7]
in other jurisdictions MEANRZFE 10.6 67.2
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not KRAER A FI R EhF =58 2 TG &
recognised - 1.6
Effect of LAT in the PRC A i IS E R 2 R (1.8) 1290
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of RINTBRRRDIKREF 2 BN
foreign subsidiaries 5.6 94.2
Others HAb (0.1) 36
Taxation I8 76.7 4839
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11 PROFIT FORTHE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE

]1$QE%EAEH$¢E

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY i K
FROM CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED REFERERERLEREXER
OPERATIONS
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company comprises: NN BBER AN E(E AN FEE % e E
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEAT
e
(@) Net unrealised (losses)/gains on change in @ FREEVWELATFEZEHZ
fair value of investment properties REIE (BE) /W= 558
during the year
— The Group -5 (86.3) 633
Deferred tax charge FEIEFRTE ST - (03)
Attributable to non-controlling interests FEFE AR R A FE G 13.2 16.9
(73.1) 799
— Joint venture, net of deferred tax - 68 AF IRIELETIE
(Note 20) (Bt 5% 20) 33.1 57.0
(40.0) 136.9
(b) Profits excluding net unrealised gains on ) WEBRIEEMELATFEES 2
change in fair value of investment R IR W AR 5 EE 2 A
properties
From continuing operations REBFBEEEER 495.6 932.9
From discontinued operation REDRIEREETRS - 27.5
495.6 960.4
Net accumulated gains on change in fair value FABLHEMERBAFERL
of investment properties, net of deferred BaBR s KEMEANFEE
tax recognised in profit or loss in prior years gz 2t ERFEE  HBRIELT
for properties disposed of during the year Ia 31.4 1873
527.0 1,147.7
Sub-total /INEt 487.0 1,284.6
Less: Netaccumulated gains on change in W FRNEHENERNBAFER
fair value of investment properties, BRERZRENERATE
net of deferred tax recognised in profit HE)r Rt FRE o Mk
orloss in prior years for properties IR JE F7 18
disposed of during the year (31.4) (187.3)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the RARER ANEEAREE R
Company 455.6 1,097.3
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12 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The Group had operated a comprehensive healthcare service network in
Hong Kong and Macau. The operation was disposed during the year
ended 31 March 2022. Details of the disposal transaction are set out in
Note 37(d).

The consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 from the
discontinued operation is set out below.

12 CRIEBEER

SEREZENEERERYS  BEEED
BRBM - ZEBEREE202F3A318 1
FEHE BERXHZFBHNME3) -

BE2002F3A3IBEFEREE R IELEE
WA BEMHTIT o

2022
HKS'M
BEAT
Revenue WA 146.3
Cost of sales $H & A AR (1283)
Gross profit EF 180
Other income H Al A 0.2
Other gains and losses H bl 2 K &5 18 422
Selling, administrative and other operating expenses $H% ~ 171 & H fib & 48 B ¢ (33.0)
Finance costs %8R (0.5)
Profit before taxation FR 5% B 5 A 269
Taxation IA .1)
Profit for the year N JE Ok 26.8
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: O EAE ANF R = )/ (BE)
Owners of the Company RAREAR A 27.5
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 2 0.7)
268

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the discontinued operation
generated to the Group net operating cash inflows of HK$8.1 million,
received HK$62.7 million in respect of investment activities and paid
HKS$12.9 million in respect of financing activities.

HE20F3A3BHILEFE BERIEKCEXEK
AEEERKCERSRAFHEI BEE T
MILBEEH W/ BB B TR E TS
1208 88T °
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13 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

(a) DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ARE

AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the fourteen (2022: twelve)

directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Fees

BEEMEREIEESHE
EZME

a) EEMEHFBUT:

DA EM14% (2022F : 2Z)EERZ A 2B
W

HZ2023F3A31HILEFE

Performance Retirement

Salaries related benefits
and other incentive scheme
benefits payment contribution Total
Fe2R ERER
we HiEF EME FTEIMER BE
(note d)
(Fff £ d)
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

HK$'M

BEEET BEEET HAHEBI BHE#BT BEER

Executive Directors (note a) NITES (MiEa)
Cha Mou Zing Victor BIRK - 11.0 15.8 - 26.8
Tang Moon Wah S - 6.2 3.3 - 9.5
Cheung Ho Koon oRIGE - 3.6 1.6 0.2 5.4
Lee Ivan Wank-hay (note e) 2 ELER (M se) - 0.8 0.4 - 1.2
Ngan Man Ying R - 3.6 1.6 0.2 5.4
Non-executive Directors (note b)  3E#1 178 % (MisEb)
Wong Cha May Lung Madeline ~ & % 0.3 - - - 0.3
Cha Mou Daid Johnson EHE 0.1 - - - 0.1
Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin (notef) & /& (Ff 5% f) 0.1 - - - 0.1
Ronald Joseph Arculli (note g) BEE (MsEg) - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BYERITES
Directors (note c) (B 5 c)
Cheung Wing Lam Linus R K FF 0.4 - - - 0.4
Fan Hung Ling Henry B HR 0.4 - - - 0.4
Ho Pak Ching Loretta (R =N=] 0.4 - - - 0.4
Barbara Shiu | 0.2 - - - 0.2
Tang Kwai Chang HEE 0.4 - - - 0.4
Total EEt 2.3 25.2 22.7 0.4 50.6
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE202FE3831BILEE

Performance Retirement
Salaries related Equity-settled benefits
and other incentive  share-based scheme
Fees benefits payment payments  contribution Total
NEREE
Hek MR R RAKER
we  HEiEM B ERsAR FEMEX R
(note d)
(Ft5Ed)
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BERT AEBET BEAT RBAEFT BAEET BEAT
Executive Directors (note a) WITES (f5Ta)
Cha Mou Zing Victor B - 110 250 45 = 405
Tang Moon Wah B - 6.2 6.0 28 - 150
Cheung Ho Koon B - 38 35 14 02 89
Ngan Man Ying BN - 37 25 14 02 78
Non-executive Directors FRTES
(note b) (B 5Eb)
Wong Cha May Lung Madeline TExE 03 - - 16 = 19
Cha Mou Daid Johnson EHE 0.1 = = 1] = 12
Ronald Joseph Arculli E1(Es 0.1 = = 1.1 = 12
Independent Non-executive Directors % Y JE# 1T = &
(note ) (Fit3Ec)
Cheung Wing Lam Linus 5RIK R 04 = = 06 - 10
Fan Hung Ling Henry BB i 04 - - 06 - 10
Ho Pak Ching Loretta MAE 04 - - 06 - 10
Barbara Shiu R 02 - - 03 - 05
Tang Kwai Chang HEE 04 - - 06 - 10
Total @t 23 24.7 37.0 16.6 04 81.0
Notes: B 5% -
(a) For Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their (@) FRATRHBTEEME I ZARSEEARAD A
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the REBEEBEERAEMBORE -
Group.
(b) The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their (b) FRIA RO TEETWE T EABRETETLAKN

services as Directors of the Company.

(0)

mainly for their services as Directors of the Company.

The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were

(d) The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results of the Group and comparable market statistics of the Group, and
individual performance of the directors.

REIEENRS -

© LERATHBILFATEEMHSEIEZHREE
EARREENRY -

) BERBDSEEEZELEERALBRTISH
B AREEERRAEE -
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(e) Mr Lee Ivan Wank-hay was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
with effect from 1 December 2022.

() Mr Cha Yiu Chung Benjamin was appointed as Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 4 July 2022.

(9) Mr Ronald Joseph Arculli retired as Non-executive Director of the Company
with effect from 24 August 2022.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any emoluments
during both years.

(b) EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the five highest paid individuals of
the Group included four (2022: four) executive directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining one

e FTRARRAELEB202F12A1BEREZRTAEARRR]
WMITEF -

G} ERPEEB0NF7TRA4BREZE AL RR
EHITEE -

(@ EEELEEB202F8H24HEELARRRIEHR
TEE-

RBER SELTEAEEIMIESRER
EMAKEZME -KBMER BEEFN
REMME -

b) EEME

HENBRFIANBILFE EEREZ &S H
MALTERFENZ (Q022F : MZ)HMiTESE  H
FMR EXIEE 82— %1ES (202F : —

employee (2022: one employee) are as follows: ZEEB)NFHMI T
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAETT BEBTT
M
Salaries and other benefits T REMERN 4.2 30
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RORAR F AT &R 0.1 =
4.3 3.0

The emoluments of the aforesaid employee were within the following
bands:

!

tHEEZME BN T5IAER

2023 2022
. ———————

HK$3,000,001- HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7T -3,500,0007%8 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7 7T —4,500,000 7% 7T 1 =
1 1
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14 DIVIDENDS

14 R E

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEETT

Final dividend paid for the financial year ended
31 March 2022 of HK5 cents (2022: final dividend
paid for the financial year ended 31 March 2021

-

RN EZE2022F3 83 HIEHEREE
Z REARE BRIl (20224F ¢ R
HEZE2021F3831 B IETBREE

of HK5 cents) per share Z REARE B A% 5B AL) 74.3 743
No interim dividend paid for the financial year I R A = 2023F3 A31 B IEBT K
ended 31 March 2023 (2022: interim dividend FE 2P IS (2022%F - KRN E
paid for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 E202243 A31 B IEH B E 2 b
of HK3 cents per share) B B AR3A) - 445
74.3 118.8

The directors of the Company proposed a final dividend for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023 of HK1 cent (2022: for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022 of HK5 cents) per share totaling approximately
HKS$14.9 million (2022: HK$74.3 million).

e

RNATEEHRIRE E202393 A31 8 (FBE4F
B2z RER SR 1B (2022F « HZE20224F
3ATE LM BRFEESRSEN) - & H£4149
BEBITLQONF 7438 B L) °
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15 EARNINGS PER SHARE 15 BKRER
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to A AT H A AL TREAR R EERF TR
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BT ASETE
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M

BEEART BEET

-

Earnings 2R
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basicand K 8 N3 Z B 7 st EFRE R K
diluted earnings per share arising from: BERANZAF
Continuing operations B s TR 455.6 1,069.8
Discontinued operation BRI E TS - 273
455.6 1,097.3
I
2023 2022
I
Number of shares R
Number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 5+ & &R E A& F| 2 AN E E 2 31T
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings LB R
per share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share: BEEaBNEBR2FE
Adjustment in relation to share options issued ARG T2 RMDEBEEL 2
by the Company o B - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for &t 8 & I B B & | 2 mniE F19 %@
the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per M2t B

share 1,485,301,803 1,485,301,803
e

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, diluted earnings per share B R IR 0 BR#E B R S5 E A - A 22023 F
was the same as the basic earnings per share since the share optionshad ~ %2022 3 A31 B It FE SR ERHF H TR
anti-dilutive effect. EXRBFER -
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16 REYH*

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEAT
Fair value A¥E
At beginning of the year F4 14,303.1 15,075.2
Exchange translation differences [ H =58 (43.0) (49.4)
Additions NE 25.5 596.6
Change in fair value and (losses)/gains on REZRRAZAFTEEHREEZ
disposals recognised in profit or loss (E548) /U 25
— Realised (losses)/gains on disposals -HERZEEIR (FE)/ W (0.3) 3846
— Unrealised (losses)/gains -ARER(BE) /= (86.3) 633
Disposals & (34.5) (1,470.5)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKB A A - (56.8)
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale BESSBARBELHEZEE
(Note 27) (Bt =E27) - (187.5)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note) B R ZE ¥ - = MR & (M1 5E) - (52.4)
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain HETIREME R ARET
investment property B (7.3) -
Atend of the year FR 14,157.2 14,303.1

e

Note:

had been changed from capital appreciation and leasing out for rental income to
owner-occupation. The investment property amounting to HK$52.4 million at date of
transfer was transferred from investment properties to property, plant and equipment

at the date of commencement of owner occupation.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group disposed of
certain investment properties and the details of which are as follows:

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the use of certain property of the Group

et - REZ202F3A31B IEFE -
AeHmEAEERIBAAERES)BAEEER -
REEEHSEAIEEA L REMEREETH
WERAZEAREMEEEYE  BE REHE-

SEETHMERZ

RE E2023F M202F3A3MBIEFE & F
HEETHREMEZFBUOT :

2023 2022

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEETT

e

Net sales proceeds received EWIEE TS RIR TR 34.5 1,470.5

Original cost of acquisitions W BE 7 R AR E (12.6) (877.1)
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BEFECERZ AFEE

recognised in prior years ES e (22.2) (208.8)

Realised (losses)/gains on disposals recognised FAHERERZEERE
during the year (B18) /W= (0.3) 3846

e
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The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The management works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.
The management reports the findings to the board of directors of the
Company every half-year to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair
value of the property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of
the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31 March 2023, 31
March 2022, the date of transfer to assets classified as held for sale and
the date of transfer to property, plant and equipment have been arrived
at on the basis of valuation carried out on the respective dates by the
following valuers with appropriate qualifications and recent experiences
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations.

Location of investment

SERESE éﬁ“ﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁLfﬂﬁﬁo g
ii,\mé?ﬁé?l\*ﬁﬁ{ﬁﬁﬂif% a1E - AW
BENBETERR ’*”E’Jﬁau)\%lﬁf EEE
BYFRARAEETSERER UREY
ERNTFERSDZRA -

R ME Y ATERS DY RS R
RRBERERR -

£ B 2023F3H31H 20223 8318 ~ 5 #
ENDHEARBIEFLECEEERNREREY
¥ BMEAXBEBZEREWELFEE I
BEUTAEHREER KA ERS BB 2
HUMEMESCHR o HEMNSABRETZ
HEET -

Name of valuer properties CRELEE REYEERZEZHE
Cushman & Wakefield Limited Hong Kong and mainland China HEZTER DA BN A A
JLL Morii Valuation & Japan JLL Morii Valuation & SN
Advisory KK. Advisory KK.
N&A Appraisal Company Thailand N&A Appraisal Company 2§
Limited Limited
VALUATION TECHNIQUES HERD

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined either by using income capitalisation approach or direct
comparison approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated
by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due provision for any reversionary income potential. The direct
comparison approach assumes sale of property interest in its existing
state by making reference to comparable sales transactions as available
in the relevant market.

The fair value of investment properties located in mainland China and
Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach assuming
sale of the property interest in its existing state by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.
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SUMMARY OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND LEVEL 3
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, all investment properties of the
Group are valued by reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

Level 3 valuation methodologies
Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

ARFEBRARE=BRAFETE
M=

M2023F3 31 B KR2022FE3 8310 £B 2 A7
ERBAMEHNZREE="BRATEHFEEHE -

EZBRMEESE
TREJNERTABEEH AR

Unobservable inputs (note a)

TABE@AYE (Hita)
Market rent (note b) Adjusted market price (note c)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square foot per month) (per square foot)
ik kA ED) HETFERE (Wi
DATE X% (BRAGEAR) (BEAR)
Investment properties (note d)
REWE (fizd)
Hong Kong
Industrial HK$3409 million 3.5% to 3.875% HKS 14 to HKS38 N/A
(2022: HK$341.9 million) (2022:3.5%t0 3.875%) (2022: HKS14 to HK$39)
I% M9BERT 350 F3875% 14BTEBET A
(202F 3019BBHBT) (20225 : 35%Z3.875%) (202 : 148 TR39BT)
Commercial HK$10,397.0 million 3.25%t0 7.25% HKS18 to HKS75 N/A
(2022: HK$10437.2 million) (2022:325% to 7.25%) (2022; HK$ 18 to HKS76)
ES 1039708 BT 325% 2 7.25% 18BILESBT TEA
(2024 104372B EHTT) (20224 = 325% % 7.25%) (Q02%F 18T E765BT)
Residential HK$2,656.1 million N/A N/A HK$7,100 to HK$38,400
(2022: HK$2,7275 million) (2022: HK$7,600 to HK$37,000)
FE 26561 BBAT @ TER 7,1007% TL 23840078 7T
(2002%F 2727588 % ) (20225 : 7,600 L £ 37,0007 7T)
Mainland China
REIA
Commercial HK$434.0 million 45% RMB79 N/A
(2022: HK$468.7 million) (2022: 45%) (2022: RVIB7.9)
GES BLUEBBT 45% ARETIIT @
(202F : 4687BEBT) (20227 : 45%) (2025 : AR®797C)
Thailand
RE
Residential HK$329.2 million N/A N/A THB2,300 to THB7,600
(2022: HK$327.8 million) (2022: THB2,300 to THB7,600)
FE 39 EBAT TEA TEA 23003 £ 27,6005 8k
(202 :3278BEBT) (20225 : 2300F SR 7,600% %)
Notes: B E -

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; (i) the higher the market rent, the higher the
fair value; and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(© Adjusted market price takes into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted timing of reference transactions and property-specific
adjustments including nature, location and condition of the property.

(d) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
market rent and adjusted market price, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation
rate.

@ ATABEHABEBEEQTERZERROIERL
RHs ATESE:OTHSHEeEE RTFEBES
KinEREMSERYES A TFEES -

() AHEEFEALBYEEYEZHLE R ESH
Ax@lammkR N z2E2R-

© KABTSEREFREARZERIRHEZ
REYELARREREENXAR(BEDE K
BB RER) -

 KBEVENLFEFEETSHEHSREHED
SERZTEE BERENMCEAZERER -
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There were no transfers among different levels of the fair value hierarchy MAFERBEFE  AFEEBEHZ TR E
in the current and prior year. o B e o

The movements during the year in the balance of investment properties S RNE =R A FETE T 2R E W £ &4

under Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: ZEEINT
Investment
properties
Investment under
properties construction Total
T'E
REWME REYHE et
HK$'M HKS$'M HK$'M

BEEET BEERT HBHEAER

At 1 April 2021 R2021F4 A1 H 13,805.2 1,270.0 15,075.2
Exchange translation differences ME N =R (49.4) - (49.4)
Additions NE 585.3 13 596.6
Change in fair value and gains on disposals ~ R ER Z A FEZE) K

recognised in profit or loss & 2 W s

— Realised gains on disposals ~HERZEERKE 3846 = 384.6

— Unrealised gains - R W E 616 17 633
Disposals & (1,470.5) = (1,470.5)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEK B A A (56.8) = (56.8)
Transfer to investment properties upon BETKEBRERTREME

completion of development 1,283.0 (1,283.0) -
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale HREESHERSELEZ

BE (187.5) - (187.5)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment ~ EREE Y% .« RE K& R (52.4) = (52.4)
At 31 March 2022 MR2022%F3 A31H 14,303.1 = 14,303.1
Exchange translation differences PE X =% (43.0) - (43.0)
Additions NBE 255 = 255
Change in fair value and losses on disposals ~ RE R R Z N FEEE &

recognised in profit or loss HE 2 EE

— Realised losses on disposals -HERZEEREIE (0.3) = (0.3)

— Unrealised losses -KREREE (86.3) = (86.3)
Disposals k== (345) = (34.5)
Adjustment of cost for renovation of certain ~ Ft & T 1% & ¥ 2 < B 1 K A&

investment property HEITHE (7.3) = (7.3)
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3 H31H 14,157.2 - 14,157.2
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17 ¥ BWERKE
Furniture, Plant, Ferries,
Commercial fixtures machinery  launches
Hotel ~Freehold and leisure Leasehold and and andmotor Construction
properties land Buildings  facilities improvements equipment equipment  vehicles  inprogress Total
KARE BARKE  HENE A £E BE #E ER S
EENE i &2 Rk %% RRE RRE RAE  EEIR &
HKS'M  HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKSM  HKS'M
BE%rx BREn AREr BE%Rx HEEr BBEnR BEET BEER  ABER BEER
Cost RE
At April 2021 R E4A1R 15708 2069 6749 10317 4484 3127 67.7 6857 "7 51765
Exchange translation differences EREE (69 (154 30 - 01 04 - - (O )
Additions NE 80 - 62 490 368 288 26 148 514 1976
Disposals/write-off HE/MH (127) - (26) - (192) (275) (14) (91) - (725)
Disposal of subsiciaries HEHEA A - - - - (206) (627) - 20) - (853)
Transfer from investment properties BRERENE - - 524 - - - - - - 524
Transferto properties held for development ~ E& Z 4t HEFERENE
for sale - (119 - - - - - - - (119
Reclassification BHNE 51 = 1204 - 267 17 - - (1539) =
At31 March 2022 R202%F3A31A 15343 2396 8543 10807 4722 2526 689 6894 151 5207.1
Exchange translation differences ERESR (155) (6.1) (94) - (10) (15) - (04) (02) (341)
Additions AE 95 - - - 365 124 - 114 393 109.1
Disposals/iwrite-off HE/MH (34) - - - (61) 1) (49) 87) - (272)
At31March 2023 R2023F3A31A 1,5249 2335 844.9 1,080.7 501.6 2594 64.0 691.7 542 52549
Depreciation and impairment FERAE
At 1 April 2021 RanE4A18 7958 = 1650 461.1 2641 2021 676 4528 - 24085
Exchange translation differences EHES (287) - 03 - 02 03) = (0] = (286)
Provided forthe year rEERE 651 = B7 300 416 205 01 21 -l
Disposals/write-off & /M (122) - - - (127) (240) (14) 91 - (594)
Disposal of subsiclaries HERBAR - - - - (158) (496) - - - (654)
Impaimentloss recognised BRRESS - - - - 01 36 = 34 = 7]
At 31 March 2022 MN2E3A318 8200 = 1890 4911 2715 1523 063 469.1 - 24603
Bxchange translation differences EHER (118) = (05) = (09) (10 = (03) - (145)
Provided for the year TEERE 584 - 25 307 346 168 05 B - 1876
Disposals/write-off /8 (34) = - - (54) 27 (49) 87) - (251)
Impairment loss reversed BERESR - - - - - (36) - 29 - (65)
At31March 2023 R2023F3H31R 863.2 - 2120 521.8 305.8 1618 61.9 480.3 - 26068
Carrying values REE
At31March 2023 R2023F3H31A 661.7 2335 6329 558.9 195.8 97.6 21 2114 542 26481
At31 March 2022 Ra2%E3A318 7143 2396 0653 5896 1947 1003 26 2203 151 27418

BRRAREREESRAT 2022/2023 £ 175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over their estimated

useful lives as follows:

Hotel properties
Freehold land

Buildings, commercial and leisure facilities

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Plant, machinery and equipment
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

3-40 years

No depreciation

5-50 years, or over the
lease term if shorter

5 years, or over the
lease term if shorter

3-7 years

5-15 years

3-20 years

ERZTREMNINZYE BERKREEREB KRN

TEFAERFHABERETE

YR YE S
IKAFRRELH
BT BmR RIKE

HEMEERE

RAl - 5B KR
B - B RRME
H MRS

3-404F

W e

5-504F ok i B A2
Bl & S HR

5F gk (W BT
Bl &7 & 2R

3-74
5-154F
3-204F

18 FREEE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and
buildings equipment Total
HELih KW -HEB
kEgF REE BEr
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT BHEAR
As at 31 March 2023 20233 HA31H
Carrying amount BRMEE 78.2 - 78.2
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B Z2023F3A31HLLEE
Depreciation charge ELZH 8.3 0.2 8.5
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHHEREANAX 71
Total cash outflow for leases HEHR@RLRBTE 9.3
Additions to right-of-use assets NETREEE -
As at 31 March 2022 7202253 A31H
Carrying amount BREE 853 0.2 85.5
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE202F3A31BILEFE
Depreciation charge wELZH 208 02 21.0
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHBRHERANAX 6.2
Total cash outflow for leases HEHRRLRE 222

Additions to right-of-use assets

NEERBEE
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For both years, the Group leases various offices, ferry pier, leasehold land,
warehouses and equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 50 years, but may have
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has termination options in certain leases. The Group assesses
at the initial measurement of leases, it is reasonably certain the Group
will not exercise the termination options after considering the significant
initial cost incurred on the leased properties and the removal cost that
may arise.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain that a
termination option will not be exercised, upon the occurrence of either
a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that is within
the control of the lessee. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31
March 2022, there is no such triggering event.

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS
DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

P bt R fE Elfﬁﬁﬁyﬂﬂ#“* o
WmiEsE HELH AELREBEZEMRSE-
HEASHWTANFEAE0FNEEFH

180 7] BE P 75 4% 14 o TH BRZ M8 B R E R
ETFRSLZEIAGREGE - RETHEB

LRm AARMERARORER  SEEAS
HWMERLETE S QR A8 H TR -

SERETHERHEER -

HER £H

m

B B
HEEEAMENEAELZEA

MR AR AEEEZFRBXARAERTE
A EITELLLE-
ﬁtﬁ\\’ﬁfzﬁéiﬁf‘ﬁdﬁ}\Z% HEBERNZER

EFFERNBRED EESEHIHER
Té@ﬁ&mn\iﬁéﬂﬁT%ﬁﬁ & = 2023
F3H318 &2022F3A31 8 I FE R#EEE
EREEEEM, -

19 Bf & N 7] 2 R ah/ i W Bk
%Q}ﬂﬁiﬁ
2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEREER BEAETT

Cost of unlisted shares IEEMIRGD 2 KA

Share of reserve DG &

Share of post-acquisition losses, DIEWE R EE -
net of dividends received kB R B

Amounts due from associates (Note 26(b)) JE Wi BEE 2 N m) Fx 18 (B 5% 26(b)) 589.1 589.0
Loss allowance provision sHIRE B EE (585.1) (584.9)
4.0 4.1

e
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The summarised financial information of the Group's associates as at
31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 is set out below:

&= [E B2 D A R 2023F3 H31H M20229F3 8
STEZHBERBMEERHNMNT

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAER BEAETT

e

Total assets EERBE 14.5 14.7
Total liabilities BEBE (1,902.0) (1,901.6)
Net liabilities BEFR (1,887.5) (1,886.9)
Group's share of net liabilities EFpFaEEE (585.1) (584.9)
Revenue A - -
Loss for the year RNEEEE (0.6) (0.6)
Group's share of results for the year EBOEARFEES (0.2) 02)

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and
31 March 2022 are set out in Note 45(c).

The financial information in respect of each of the Group's associates is

not material and no separate summarised financial information of each
associate is presented.

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The interests in joint ventures include the Group's 50% equity interest in
Dazhongli Properties Limited (‘Dazhongli”). An analysis is as follows:

e

%= F R202353H31H K202F3A8318 & =
TELE N R Z FE B E R M aE45() °

EMEEERERATN I HBENEREX
T 3 kS AR 23 B AR
BE -

20 SERNFZER

BN ZESEBEEERATEYESAR
ANE([KAE]) Z50%[ %  EoMuT :

N

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEABT BEAT
N

Interests in: R ToI R -
Dazhongli KRB 8,386.6 8,743.5
Other joint ventures Hiha & QA 1,718.7 14787
10,105.3 10,222.2
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DAZHONGLI

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (‘Dazhongli group”) are engaged in the
operation of investment properties and hotel properties in the Jing'an
District of Shanghai in the PRC.

RpE
ARFEREMBARITATFEREDRER
BURFEEETERLRZEENERBEE
/e

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBT BEBTT
e
Cost of unlisted shares E EMAR D 2 KA 0.1 0.1
Cumulative exchange differences RETIEEH E5 171.2 807.2
Share of post-acquisition profits ok U BE 1855 A 3,499.6 3,202.1
3,670.9 40094
Loans to Dazhongli ERTAFE

— Non-interest bearing (note a) -% 8 (fisxa) 4,422.9 44228
— Interest bearing (note b) —=t B (MfsEb) 292.8 3113
8,386.6 8,743.5
I

Notes: B RE -
() The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on (@) BFIRPEZERNDERT R RAREX

demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of
these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The
directors of the Company believe the settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in
the foreseeable future as they, in substance, form part of net investment in Dazhongli
group as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially used by Dazhongli to inject
as registered capital into its PRC subsidiary. Accordingly, the amount is classified as
non-current asset and included in the Group's interests in joint ventures for the
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per annum and
repayable in December 2023. Pursuant to the undertaking of bank loans, Dazhongli
group is refraining from settling the loans from shareholders until the settlement of all
bank loans. The directors of the Company believe the settlement of these loans is not
likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-
current asset and included in the Group's interests in joint ventures for the purpose of
presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

EBE - FEEENREPREFRK2EARTER
BN BEXREEZSEER -BRAPESHERME
ZRBDFREBEAETBEMBARMEREMER K
AABEEHEZFEFH TGN AR RREMEE &
ZEEFRERANATERE 2 BHREFE - Bt
REFRGEEMBRARME  BHASESIEIER
BEE Yt AKBERNEERE 2 -

b HBTFRATEZERTIEER  RF R X171%5
BRAR0BF1N2AEE - REFBRITER A
APEBEEAYBEMAERTER HABEERRE
Ko AR EEHEZEEABETER AT R ARKEE
BBt METNNEAMBRREME  EHESHE
SIEIERBEE Xt AKBEREERF 2= -
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The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Dazhongli group as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 is set out

below.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

R BEEBER2023F3H31H &2022F3A31H

ZIREHMBENBERIIMT

o

BERAEEREANRELZFREMBERE -

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEBTT
. ———————

Non-current assets EMBEE
Investment properties "EY % 23,591.2 2572773
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 1,759.8 2,000.6
Other non-current assets HiIERHEE 54.3 60.9
25,405.3 27,3388

Current assets mENE E
Bank balances and cash RITEBRNIRE 710.1 1,269.2
Other current assets Hi R EE 299.2 3230
1,009.3 1,592.2
Current liabilities mEEaE

Bank loans — secured RITER-F K IF 1,142.3 12330
Loans from shareholders BREE =R 9,505.5 95233
Other current liabilities HinmBaE 1,394.6 1,504.0
12,042.4 12,260.3
Net current liabilities ME A EFRE (11,033.1) (10,668.1)
Total assets less current liabilities REERTBEE 14,372.2 16,670.7

Non-current liabilities IERBEE
Bank loans — secured RITER-FEIF 4,616.3 6,206.4
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEA G 2,313.7 2316.5
Other non-current liabilities HMIERHARB 100.3 1289
7,030.3 8,651.8
Net assets BEFE 7,341.9 8,018.9
Group's share of net assets SEHLEEFE 3,670.9 40094
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For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMHLEE

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEAT

N

Revenue W A 1,726.3 1,953.6
Direct operating expenses BEEEEXH (567.5) (593.8)
1,158.8 1,359.8

Other income H i A 30.1 375
Change in fair value of investment properties KREMEAFEE 88.3 151.9
Other expenses HAih % H (242.3) (276.6)
Finance costs Bt 7% & (272.7) (343.5)
Taxation i 18 (167.1) (262.3)
Net profit after taxation for the year AREEBRE%EF 5 M 595.1 666.8
Group's share of results for the year EBOEARFEES 297.5 3334

Note: The investment properties were measured at 31 March 2023 at fair value of
HK$23,591.2 million (equivalent to RMB20,652.0 million) (2022: HK$25,277.3 million
(equivalent to RMB20,500.2 million)) which was based on the valuation conducted by
Cushman & Wakefield Limited, who has appropriate qualification and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of investment properties was determined by using income capitalisation approach. The
income capitalisation approach was calculated by capitalising the rental income
derived from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income
potential. The fair value measurement of investment properties was valued under Level
3 fair value measurement, which was measured based on the significant unobservable
inputs including the estimated market rent and capitalisation rate. The investment
properties are held within a business model of the joint venture whose business
objective is to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.

Level 3 valuation methodology
Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

-

M REHRERTERARETZHE REWE
R2023F3A3IHZAFEAE2359N 288 B T(HHER
AR #2065208 8 7T ) (20224 : 2527738 & % 7T (18
ERARBE2050028 EIT)) ° %A Rl TERT (5 A B 26
ZRENEEEFOAEABEERRABER - KE
MEZHEEDNEARABERNLEMETE - WAZE R
EBEBEAMRBRERF BN A S W AERE W
BEABDWANEEREMNTE - REMEZLATF
B ENRE-ER/RAFEFEMEE ENBHEREK
ARG ARR(BEGBTTEEEREANEER)F
H-REMENARERRIZAEERNEE MABIE
ANZEBKENREREERAZSREANENBSZ®
REHEER = MIEEBLEER -

l\'h— —_—

f& R & B 5 %
T%EEJEKTTEJQU\%J)\%{F

Unobservable inputs (note a)

T o 8 =i A B (M sa)
Market rent (note b)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square metre per month)
mi5EA € (MiEb)
NEME BER{E (BRAE¥HXK)
Investment properties (note c)
REWE (Hatc)
Mainland China
PR R
Commercial HK$23,591.2 million 3.5% to0 6.25% RMB248 to RMB1,067
[EES (2022: HK$25,277.3 million) (2022: 3.5% to 6.25%) (2022: RMB247 to RMB1,044)
235912B & T 3.5% £ 6.25% AR®248TTE AR'1,0677T
(2022 : 252773BBEIL)  (2022%F 1 35%2625%)  (2022F : ARE247 T
EARE104470)
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Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; and (i) the higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(© Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
estimated market rent, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

OTHER JOINT VENTURES THAT ARE NOT

B &E
@ ATHBEEBASBEAFEEZBEERROER
xR RFELE: ROTSESES AFE
e e

b AHEEFEALBRYMEEYEZBLE R E5
Ax@lammkR N zER-

© REVDENLAFEFEBEGHTSES2EM
B EEEARCKRRNZRIAM-

Hitb@RFERZEE QAT

INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEATT
N
Cost of unlisted shares IE EMIR D 2 KA - 8.7
Share of reserve ok (R =] - 02

Share of post-acquisition gains, iE W B s
net of dividends received M YA B 19.9 24.2
19.9 33.1
Loans to other joint ventures (note) EXTFEMEE QA (M) 1,698.8 1,445.6
1,718.7 1,478.7

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and repayable on demand. As
at 31 March 2023, the loans to other joint ventures included an amount of HK$255.9
million (2022: HK$342.5 million) bearing interest at 2% (2022: 2%) per annum over
1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (‘HIBOR"). As at 31 March 2022, the loans
to other joint ventures also included an amount of HK$297.7 million bearing interest at
fixed rates at 3.0% per annum. The remaining balance is non-interest bearing. The
amounts of the loans to joint ventures are classified as non-current assets as at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

e

ME - ERXRTFTEMGEQRRANERFRBERERE
BoM2023F3A3B ERTHMEE R BEESE
2559BBATTQINFE 3sEEBT) TR —@AE
BIRITRI AT B R INE F K 2% (20224 : 2%) 5T B 2 K
HoR202F3A31H ERTFTHMEERRATEES
%E2977§F%5’§7‘cjﬂﬁlﬁ¢5fu$3.o%p+,%\z, 18 o 8
REARE -BERTFAERARZEENR2023F3A31H
&2022¢3ﬂ315 PHERIERBEE -

The summarised financial information in respect of other joint ventures £ fth & & A &) 72202343 A31 H K& 202243 A
as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 is set out below: 3182 57”% *’H ZEINWT
2023 2022
HK$’'M HKS'M
BEAER BEAETT
e
Total assets BEME 7,856.9 76389
Total liabilities BEER (7,837.8) (7,706.6)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BRE)FE 19.1 67.7)
Group's share of net assets oL EEFE 19.9 33.1
Revenue W A 261.1 168.8
Net (loss)/profit after taxation for the year REEGRBZF(EIB) /% (32.4) 14.1
Group's share of results for the year SEBOEAREEES (13.2) 10.0

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 45(d).
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21 INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY

SECURITIES

21 EERRAZBSFZ2RE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2023 using
720233 H31H

AFEIFE
2023 Level 1 Level 3
E-EBHR E=ZB#H&
HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BE®BT HBHEABR
-1 Y O A A
Investments in debt instruments REHEKATFEZ
measured at amortised cost B LTEEE
Debt securities (note a) B EH (MsEa)
Current Vil 2l 21.6
Non-current FERED 49.5
711
Equity instruments measured at FVTOC| REAFEFAEMEE
WamirE 2 RATA
Listed equity securities (note b) EHRARE S (ko) 13.8 13.8 -
Unlisted equity securities (note c) FE ETRARE 7 (Fi5Ec) 10.9 - 10.9
24.7 13.8 10.9
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REWREWZDTWAT :
Non-current FET B 24.7
Market value of listed equity securities ETRABEHRZTE
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 5.8 5.8 -
Listed overseas RN LT 8.0 8.0 -
13.8 13.8 -
Financial assets at FVTPL REAFEFABERZZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) FE LT RR AR FE 5 (Bt 5Ed) 384.0 - 384.0
Listed debt securities (note e) ETEBES (MTe) 55.8 55.8 -
Unlisted debt securities (note f) I ETERE 5 (50 22.3 - 22.3
462.1 55.8 406.3
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REFREWZTWAT :
Non-current FET B 462.1
-
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Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2022 using
202253 A31H

NEEF=
2022 Level 1 Level 3
F—EH FZER
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEEXET BEAT BEATL
Investments in debt instruments BEENATECEE
measured at amortised cost TAKE
Debt securities (note a) B E % (FisEa)
Current mEh 343
Non-current IEm &) 73.0
107.3
Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI EAFEGFAEMER
WasrE2BATA
Listed equity securities (note b) EWRRAES (MsEp) 20.1 20.1 -
Unlisted equity securities (note c) EEMBRAES (Fekc) 24.1 = 241
44 20.1 241
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BEFREMNZHTOT
Non-current IE 7 B 44.2
Market value of listed equity securities ETRAZBSZ 2 TE
Listed in Hong Kong RES LT 1.0 1.0 =
Listed overseas REINET 9.1 9.1 =
20.1 20.1 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAERZ
Unlisted equity securities (note d) FE LR A E F (Bt 5Ed) 40938 = 4098
Listed debt securities (note e) EmERKES (W iEe) 83.2 83.2 =
Unlisted debt securities (note f) EEMEREFH (K eEr) 35.0 = 35.0
528.0 83.2 4448
Analysed for reporting purposes as: REFEWZDTWAT :
Non-current IE 7 B 5280
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Notes:

(a) The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash
flows and these cash flows consist solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

(b) The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the fair value
changes of certain equity investments. These investments are not held for trading and
not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

The fair value of listed equity securities amounting to HK$13.8 million (2022: HK$20.1
million) are determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant exchanges in active markets as at 31 March 2023.

(© The unlisted equity securities of HK$10.9 million (2022: HK$24.1 million)
represent investment in unquoted equity investment in a private operating company
which is not held for trading purpose.

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment is determined using valuation
techniques including market multiples (based on the historical market multiples of
comparable listed companies) and a discount factor (based on the historical correlation
between multiples of the private company and comparable listed companies). The
significant unobservable inputs include price-to-sales multiples of comparables, taking
into account of the scale of the business of the comparables. A slight increase in the
price-to-sales multiples would result in a slight increase in fair value and vice versa. An
increase in the discount factor would result in a decrease in fair value and vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to

the Group.

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

By &E :

@ SERSEZFEEEZIHMANUBRAOES
mMZERERERINAERREEREZAE -

b KEREBETERAREZAFEZBHRNEA
EEBEFIR ZERELFFIERH AEHRA
BRAREIGHE -

TR ABLEZAFEBIEEBITL(QQ02F : 20188
BIT) IR ERBFEIANBEERTEZ2RABRS
FrzmiBEANREMERE °

© 10WoEEBB TQRE : 41BEBT)ZELD
BRABHERERTIIFIEEERERZAERRAIZE
RERAEE -

BERERAKREZATEDERGERD (BETS
BHEERATLBRETARZEL TS EE) RBRK
HERMALAREAAER ETRR ZEHZHNE
LB MEE EATABREHAREREILL
BARZTHEBHRGIRALBRABZEBRIE) -
M EERER EFABERAFEEMEM R2 T
R-BRABENBEHRAFERD  RZTFR

HREEERRSEHARYEEMELAEKN &I
EREETIBRREEYH Y ERBHEESN -

FLEMBRABHZEEHMT

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEBET BEATT

e

Balance at beginning of the year FH 24.1 318
Net fair value loss to other comprehensive income REMEEKZE 2R FEFER (13.2) 7.7)
Balance at end of the year F R 10.9 24.1

(d) As at 31 March 2023, the unlisted equity securities represent investments in
private equity funds of HK$167.5 million (2022: HK$173.6 million) and unquoted equity
investment of HK$216.5 million (2022: HK$236.2 million) which are measured using
valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information.

e

d  HR2023F38318 FLETRAES AL
Ee2RE1675B8 8B L Q002F 173688 B T) &
ERERANIZE21658 BB L (2022F : 23628 B B
) DERGEREFE ZEROHRZEAZEA
BIBFTHEEMSEBE R T BEH AR A RS
EMBER) MEE -
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In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investments in private equity
funds, management has determined that the reported net asset value of the private
equity funds provided by the general partners represent the fair value of the private
equity funds. The general partners used different valuation methodologies to measure
different underlying investments of the funds. The general partners measured the
unrestricted actively traded public equity and debt investments at the closing price or
bid price of the identical assets as of measurement date. The general partners also used
methodology based on relevant comparable data whether possible to quantify the
adjustment from cost, transaction prices or latest financing price when adjustment if
necessary, or to justify that cost, transaction prices or latest financing price is still a
proper approximation of fair value of the underlying investments held by the
investment funds in determining the net asset value. The factors to be considered in
assessment may require the judgement. For those investments that have achieved
positive and sustainable operating performance, the general partners adopted Earning
Multiples Methodology. The valuation using this methodology is calculated by applying
the most appropriate and reasonable multiple derived from reference to market based
conditions of quoted companies or recent private transactions. If the multiples are
derived from public company comparable, it is discounted for considerations such as
illiquidity and differences between the comparable companies and portfolio
companies, based on company specific facts and circumstances according to the
general partner's judgment. The general partners also adopted discounted cash flow
methodology. The cash flows are projected based on the budgeted cash flows of the
portfolio companies, which are adjusted for current market environment. The
significant unobservable inputs include discount rates ranging from 6.25% to 11.5%.
The discount rates are derived from observable return of comparable companies,
which are adjusted for considerations such as different capital structure, sizes and other
specific risk of the portfolio companies. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair
value and vice versa.

For unquoted equity investment, the Group applies a minority interest discount on the
net assets value of the investee adjusting with the fair value of the underlying
properties to determine the fair value. The valuation of the underlying properties is
determined by income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach is
calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with
due provision for any reversionary income potential. The fair value measurement of the
underlying properties is measured based on the significant unobservable inputs
including the estimated market rent ranging from RMB143 to RMB415 (2022: RMB142
to RMB483) per square meter and capitalisation rate of 4.5% (2022: 4.5%). The higher
the market rent, the higher the fair value. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower
the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant

unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to
the Group.
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The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

FLETERABH ZEEHMT

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEBET BEET

e

Balance at beginning of the year FH 409.8 400.6
Acquisition during the year AU EE - 47
Net fair value (loss)/gain in profit or loss RE&EFR 2 A FEEF (BB /K (31.2) 138
Proceeds from disposal H & RTE IE - (9.6)
Exchange translation differences [ 5 =58 5.4 03
Balance at end of the year FREGEH 384.0 409.8

(e) Even though the Group's business model is to hold debt securities assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, the cash flows of these investments do not
meet the HKFRS 9 criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

The fair value of the debt securities as at 31 March 2023 is HK$55.8 million (2022:
HK$83.2 million) which is valued by reference to the Level 1 fair value measurement
deriving from quoted prices in active market for identical assets. The weighted average
effective interest rate is 5.9% (2022: 6.1%) per annum.

) The unlisted debt securities of HK$22.3 million (2022: HK$35.0 million) represent
investment in an unquoted convertible loan to a private operating company.

The fair value of the unquoted convertible loan is determined based on Binomial
Option pricing model with key inputs of the model including expected volatility, share
price, risk free rate and bond vyield. An increase in the expected volatility used in
isolation would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the unquoted
convertible loan.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to

the Group.

The movement in the unlisted debt securities is as follows:

e

© BEFEZEBEARKERBESEENLK
BAamBRenE BEHEREZREREREELS
BRHAEEASBENEZNAMARTEEEH BN
ERERNFORZRE

M2023F3A31H  BHEHRZAFEARSSEE BT
(Q02F :832B8BE L) ZATFEDNZEERMS £
HREEZREMEZE—ERAFEFEMMHAE-
hniE T BB F R 559% (20224F 1 6.1%) ©

) 23ABATQ0NF B0ABBIT) 2 LT
BREBHFERERE —BLERAAREZERETE
BRE K -

ERENARERZATEDRE _BAAAEEERE
AMEE ZEAZIEHABBEEERBRKE K
B ERRMERESFKER - NBLEBE B
EIEMEERERETRBRE R AFEFFEE M-

HREEERRSEHRARYEEMELIEKN &AL
EREETIBRREEYH X ERBHEESN -

FETEBESFZEEHMT

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

ER- VP BEET

e

Balance at beginning of the year FH 35.0 417
Repayment during the year FREE - (3.7)
Net fair value loss in profit or loss REZPZATFEFEIE (12.7) 3.0)
Balance at end of the year FREH 223 350

There were no transfers among different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the current
and prior year.

RAEAFERBEFE AFEBRZTRAER ZHL
EER -
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION
PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. The valuation is performed at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is material change in the fair value of the
assets, the cause of the fluctuations will be reported to the management
of the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

22 OTHER ASSETS

AFEFERMGEEBRR

SERF=-ERRFETEETE
BRID R B ABUER

BEMEE

REFHRFER SERAITEATEER®
AMZABEHE HERSBRSHRE
T-WEEZAFELBRERES HEHY
ZERARAEEEEERS

ERETEEQAYEMERAZHAERTL S
ABBZEHN EXHE-

22 HthEE

2023 2022

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAETT BEBTT

Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) FEU IR 18 » BR - 7k (MY s%a) 191.9 5126
Loan to an investee (note b) MAEEREHSRER(KiEb) 106.2 106.2
Other assets HEmEE 98.7 83.2
396.8 702.0

Notes:

(a) The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to the
buyers of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at prime
rate minus 2.5% to prime rate (2022: prime rate minus 2.5% to prime rate) and are
receivable by instalments over a period of not more than 25 years (2022: 25 years) from
the sale of relevant properties. The receivables are secured by a first mortgage or a
second mortgage over the respective properties. The portion of mortgage instalment
receivables due within one year of HK$271.7 million (2022: HK$12.0 million) is included
as other receivables in current assets.

(b) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in
Singapore which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office towers
and a residential rental apartment in Tianjin, the PRC. The loan to the investee is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has no intention to
exercise its right to demand repayment of these loans within the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-
current asset for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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23 INVENTORIES

23 FE

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEBTT
Consumables 5% 31.8 325
24 PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER 24 HEEFRR/ZRF
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE LES
2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEBTT BEBIT
Current: mE
Properties under development BEEEAHLEERTPYE

for sale in Hong Kong 4,208.5 2,499.5
Properties under development BEERIMILEERPYE
for sale outside Hong Kong 1,859.3 2,097.3
6,067.8 4,596.8
Non-current: FEME
Properties held for development BEEEARLEFERDE
for sale in Hong Kong 2,218.6 3,654.9
Properties held for development EEBEINMEHEFERYE
for sale outside Hong Kong 931.1 937.1
3,149.7 45920

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs capitalised in
the properties under development for sale were HK$231.0 million (2022:
HKS$82.1 million). The properties under development for sale amounting
to HK$6,067.8 million (2022: HK$4,596.8 million) are expected to be
completed after twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

e

RBmERR 23108 8B (Q02F : 82188
B ZBEERAEBIEHTEERRTPYWE
Z AR 2606788 & B L (20224 : 459688 B
BT ZEHERRTYEBBHRN RS HRE
T2 ABTER -
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25 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit periods allowed by the Group to its customers are dependent
on the general practices in the industries concerned. For property sales,
sales terms vary for each property project and are determined with
reference to the prevailing market conditions. Property rentals are
receivable in advance. Payments for clubs and hotel services are
receivable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the payment due date at the end of
the reporting period:

25 EINE FERM

SEGTEEPZEEMRFERA—RED
EE - ROEXHEMS HEKRRREME
HEME Y2REFTAEE -WEHES
AREBN SRMEERBEZERARE
SR AT o

UTRERESERIREEEREEB R
BEMRZIANRBHE2NN ZRE D

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEAT

I

Not yet due iw) R 2 HA 24.5 36.4
Overdue: w Ay

0-60 days 0-60K 13.4 189

61-90 days 61-90K 1.6 44

Over 90 days B o0K 8.1 42

47.6 63.9

e

As at 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtor with aggregate carrying amount of HK$23.1 million (2022:
HK$27.5 million) which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, HK$S8.1 million (2022: HKS4.2 million) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in default because based
on the Group's historical information, the counterparty is of a good
credit quality and usually settles after due date. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue beyond 120
days because historical experience is such that receivables that are past
due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable. Management
closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables and considers the
trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired to be of a good
credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 44.
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26 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2023, deposit, prepayment and other receivables
included an amount of HK$239.6 million (2022: HKS$1,023.1 million)
which is deposit paid on acquisition of development projects.

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash represent cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rate ranging from
0.01% to 5.19% (2022: 0.01% to 2.45%) per annum and included an
amount of HK$0.8 million (2022: HK$1.3 million) which is sale proceeds
arising from property sales held by stakeholders.

(b) AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-trade nature, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(c) AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 44.

27 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had committed to a plan to sell two
investment properties in Japan. Sales and purchase agreements were
entered into to sell the properties in Japan at a total consideration of
HKS$237.4 million. The disposal of the properties in Japan was completed
in April 2022 and a realised gain of HK$26.9 million was recognised
during the year. Accordingly, the carrying value of these properties of
approximately HK$187.5 million was classified as “assets classified as held
for sale” in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022.

26 HttEmEE

(a) ®E - A FRIERH B WK
H/IBITEBRAE

R2023F3A31H - Ke FBENFREREME
WRIEBE—FE2E H23968 88 (2022
F 0B IEEBL)NRIE  ZEREAEIK
BREBEEZEMNES -

M2023F3A31H RITEHRRKREAEE
BAEZESEKMBENEN T001%E519%
(20224F : 001%E245%) 2 M HARITfF 38 * I
BE—2¢EA08EEBTQIRF 1368
BIL) 2 RTE ZEREAMEHEEZHERN
BB THREAFH -

(b) BWEE D TRIE
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28 TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are trade
payables of HK$54.8 million (2022: HKS$76.2 million), an aged analysis
presented based on the payment due date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

BEHESER BERE
T E M

BRNESER BREMEFERATBERENS
B 5 R 5488 BB L (Q002F 17628 B8
L) M TARBERREZINBANRBEHET
ZERER DT

a2

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEAT

N

Not yet due w7 EI| 58 39.4 418
Overdue: A

0-60 days 0-60K 13.4 281

61-90 days 61-90K - 2.7

Over 90 days B0 KR 2.0 36

54.8 76.2

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment for
subcontractor works is 90 days.

The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include (i)
construction cost accruals of HK$333.4 million (2022: HKS346.1 million);
and (i) provision for certain construction obligations of HK$352.5 million
(2022: HKS$368.5 million). In the course of the property development
activities, the Group is obliged to construct certain common or public
facilities within the development projects in accordance with the
development plans approved by the relevant authorities. Provision for
such construction costs has been made when a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made and the details of the movement of the
provision are set out below:

e

FESHEINSBIRRB FHEEH
ABOK °

EREZER BERETFERBREOES
RPN AR3334E BB T (20226 1 3461 B BB
TC) - RN E T 2R A EMIERE2SE 8
B IL (20226 : 3685 A BB IL) c EEEETY
XEEREHoBAED  ARBEHEE B E
ZERTE O NREBERBEANEESR T AKX
AREBHE - SEHERTHUBRTAEZS
BIEL A St MZEEERANELD
B MEBEESEB2FBHINT :

HK$'M

BEBT

Balance as at 1 April 2021 M2021F4F1 8 2 &k 3285
Provided during the year FAEERE 400
Balance as at 31 March 2022 and 1April 2022 MR2022%F3 A31 B K2022%F 4818 2 &8 3685
Reversed during the year F AR E (16.0)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 M2023F3 8310 248k 352.5
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29 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29 SXAE

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEETT

Property sale deposits MEHEERS 2,034.7 75.5
Advance payments from customers B P EMARK 111.6 127.1
2,146.3 202.6
Less: Amount included under current liabilities  J& : st ARBI BB 2 & 58 (2,075.4) (138.8)
Amount included under non-current liabilities S AJERBABEZ £ 70.9 638

e

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised inthe FREIIRNAFEEZ L DR WA A HE
current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. BREEER-

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERER BEATT

Revenue recognised that was included STAFYE LN B ELE
in contract liabilities balances at the BWERERKA :
beginning of the year:
Property sales deposits VIEEELRS 74.9 246.8
Advance payments from customers P EMNR 63.3 534

138.2 300.2
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30 BANKAND OTHER LOANS

30 BITREMERK

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEAT
Bank loans (note a) RITE K (FsEa) 11,280.8 10,3573
Bonds and notes (note b) BEH RERE (MEb) 298.3 2981
11,579.1 10,6554
Less: Amount included under current liabilities 3 : st ARENBE 2 & 58
(including bank loans with a repayable (BFEE A BER Esk
on demand clause) BEERZBITER (2,297.4) (2,390.8)
Amount included under non-current liabilities st AJERBBEZ &5 9,281.7 8,264.6
Bank and other loans are repayable: RITREMERAR T HRERE :
On demand or within one year BEXRF—FA 2,297.4 2,390.8
Between one and two years —EWMENRN 3,954.5 32379
Between two and five years “ERER 5,028.9 4,7286
Over five years BBAF 298.3 298.1
11,579.1 10,6554
Secured B A 912.8 =
Unsecured g 10,666.3 10,6554
11,579.1 10,6554
Bank loans that contain a repayable on demand B & A] BE iy 2K EEER 2
clause (shown under current liabilities) and RITERMRREBEETIR)
the scheduled payment is (note c): BEFBA (M
Within one year —F R - 2956

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s bank loans carried interest at an average
margin of 1.03% (2022: 0.95%) plus HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or
other benchmark interest rates per annum.

(b) On 10 April 2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note
Programme (“MTN Programme”). On 25 May 2021, a 10-year Hong Kong dollar fixed
rate notes in the principal amount of HK$300 million at a coupon rate of 3.25% per
annum was issued under the MTN Programme.

(0) The amounts due are based on scheduled payment dates set out in the
respective loan agreements.
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES

31 HEAE

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETT BEAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEARE:
Within one year —F R 6.0 7.1
Within a period of more than one year but —FUEETBBME
not more than two years ZHIEA 5.9 6.0
Within a period of more than two years but MEA B BRAF
not more than five years Z HARA 4.3 7.6
Within a period of more than five years AFENREZHEA 37.7 39.0
53.9 59.7
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RmEBETIRI2MEA A
12 months shown under current E| BB 8 2 ;B
liabilities (6.0) (7.1)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIEREBAEBYRI12MEA 1%
shown under non-current liabilities B HREE 2 RIA 47.9 526

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

e

LSBT 2 INEERE NI ERE
CHREAERIOT

Japanese yen Renminbi Thai baht
H AR B3N
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BEER BEEBR
IS S O A
As at 31 March 2023 720233 H31H 1.5 6.3 2.7
As at 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 2.7 11.5 0.8
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32 OTHERLIABILITIES

32 Htt & &

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBTR BEBTT
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder 33732 A% A% B8 £ X

(note a) (M 7xa) 1,823.8 1,663.6
Club debentures (note b) e A& % (B sEb) 798.1 8155
Amount due after one year —F 18 B B k18 2,621.9 2479.1
. ———MMMM

Notes: B

(a) The amount represents an advance from a non-controlling shareholder of
subsidiaries to finance operation of those subsidiaries. The amounts carry interest at
1-month HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum. The amount is unsecured and not repayable
within one year.

(b) Club debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured, redeemable on their
maturity dates in 2047. These debentures are issued to members of the following clubs
operated by the Group and the principal amount of the club debentures issued are as

@ ZHBRSMEABFERRRBR BN
ZEMBARLEMS - ZF AR —EARBERT
RS 47 B 025% 2 F M EREFEH 8 o KA B EE A
BHRAR-—FRERE-

b)) EHEHFAEE EBEBERAIR204/FRNETEZ
FHBEED  hEBFEDNBETTTIIBAEERCE 2
CHMMNEE BEITZEMEFZIASENT :

follows:
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BHEAET BEET
S ——————
Discovery Bay Golf Club 645.7 665.9
Discovery Bay Recreation Club 152.4 149.6
798.1 815.5

e

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of club debentures at amortised cost and
deferred income amounted to HK$603.4 million (2022: HK$608.8 million) and HK$194.7
million (2022: HK$206.7 million) respectively.
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33 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years:

33 IEIERIE

KT AE R BRIEHIE (8 E)/EEMN
BRERBITRBEREEE Y 2D

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax investment Tax foreign Others
depreciation properties losses  subsidiaries (note) Total
RENE B
B8 AYE AR A Hit
nE 28 HEFE RN (M) @st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT HE#RnT AEErT HE#RRT AEER AEER
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4A18 (282.0) (942) 80.1 (1183) 593 (355.1)
Exchange translation differences Rz 13 (09) = 4.7) 02 4.1)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (0BR)/zT A B (127) 293 08 (94.2) (64) (83.2)
Disposal of subsidiaries & KB A A 08 = (1.0) = 23) (2.5)
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H (292.6) (65.8) 799 (217.2) 50.8 (444.9)
Exchange translation differences fE 5 Z% 05 48 (2.9 163 (04) 183
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (k) /st A Bz (182) 39 12 654 66.8 129.1
At 31 March 2023 202353 A31H (310.3) (57.1) 88.2 (135.5) 117.2 (297.5)

Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in relation
to unrealised profit of certain property development projects.

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes:

M WD ETEXRFIRETHEERBAB REREA
FrERZELEHIBEEE/(AE)FHE -

REBREEVBARNEME  ETELEHREA
EERABEREE I EREEHE - AT
SRANMEE2®E /RN IEG & (K 5
B

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAETT BEBTT

I ———MM
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBAE (406.9) (502.5)
Deferred tax assets ELERIEEE 109.4 576
(297.5) (444.9)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$1,945.2 million (2022: HK$2,065.0 million) available for offset against
future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$454.2 million (2022: HK$484.2 million) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
HKS$1,491.0 million (2022: HK$1,580.8 million) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams.

e

RER ESERFERRABIEA194528
B8 7T (2022%F : 20650 B BB ) » Al AR K
5 R EE Fl| o H AR 4945408 & 7 JT (20224F ¢
WA EEBT)EECHERELHEBELE - A
g 37 I [ N e AN S 2 i 37 -
149108 & & 7T (20224 : 1,5808 @ & /6 T ) #
RIELEFHBEE °
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34 SHARE CAPITAL

34 IR

Number
of shares HK$'M
IR & BEAET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each KRBTz Tk
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022and R 202144 818 « 2022438318 -
31 March 2023 2022F 481 H &2023F3 A31H 4,000,000,000 1,000.0
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
At1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022and 202154818 ~ 20243 8318 -
31 March 2023 2022F 4 F1H &2023F3A31H 1,485,301,803 371.3

35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted two share option schemes on 8 September 2011
(the “2011 Scheme”) and on 25 August 2021 (the "2021 Scheme”)
respectively (collectively, the “Schemes”) which permits the directors of
the Company to grant share options to all directors (including any
executive directors and non-executive directors), full-time employees
and any consultants (employed on a contract basis) of the Company and
its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in the Company. The 2011 Scheme
was terminated on 27 August 2021 but the share options granted prior
to the termination continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the 2011 Scheme.

During the year, no share option was exercised or lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2011 Scheme. In addition, 420,000 share options
were lapsed and no share option was granted, exercised or cancelled in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. As at 31 March 2023, the
number of shares in respect of which share options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the 2011 Scheme and 2021 Scheme
was 35,750,000 (2022: 35,750,000), representing 2.41% of the shares of
the Company and 39,520,000 (2022: 39,940,000), representing 2.66% of
the shares of the Company in issue at that date respectively.
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Details of the movements of the share options granted are as follows:

Exercise Outstanding

EROBOMECEESHFENOT

Granted during Lapsed during Outstandingasat Lapsed during Outstanding

price per asat theyearended theyearended 31 March 2022 the year ended asat
Category of share 1 April 31 March 31 March and 1 April 31 March 31 March
participants  Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2021 2022 2022 2022 2023 2023
REZE REZE R2022F REZE
Bk R21F 20225 2022%F 38318 K 2023%F  R2023F
THE 4818 3A318 38318 20225481A 38318 3A318
SREEH REBH Ggid B HRTE LEERE  LFEAX WATHE LFEEA¥M  HRTE
Director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3845 9,350,000 = = 9,350,000 = 9,350,000
% 017F2A288 20176 2R28AZF2027F2 8278
Director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 15,620,000 - - 15,620,000 - 15,620,000
% 018F3A128 20183 R 128 E2028F3A 118
Director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3028 - 33,400,000 - 33,400,000 - 33,400,000
2 WIFNA4B 2021F 11 A4BAE06F11A23R
Ex-director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 7,810,000 = (3,190,000) 4,620,000 = 4,620,000
MES 017628288 201752288 F 2027428278
Ex-director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 11,440,000 = (5,500,000) 5,940,000 = 5,940,000
AEE 01838128 2018F3A 128 E2028F3A11H
Ex-director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 - 2,400,000 - 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
RES 02111 A248 2021411 A24B £20265 11 A23H
Employee 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 660,000 = (440,000) 220,000 = 220,000
(3 018F3A128 201853128 F 2028538118
Employee 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 - 4,140,000 - 4,140,000 (420,000 3,720,000
B8 221F11 A48 2021F 11 A24BE2065F 11 A238
44,880,000 39,940,000 (9,130,000) 75,690,000 (420,000 75,270,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
FRATRE 75,270,000

In respect of fair value of options granted during the year ended
31 March 2022, the inputs into the model were as follows:

N E2022F3 831 B IEFERHRD
BEAFEMmME BARBZHEAZEOT

24 November 2021
2021411 A24H

Spot price Iz (E

Exercise price TIE(E

Expected volatility 8 HA R 1@
Risk-free rate = B B Al 3
Expected dividend yield TEH AR B e X
Exercise period 771 HA

The fair value of the share options is determined using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair values of the share options are based on the directors’ best
estimates. Expected volatility is based on the historical share price
volatility of the Company over the past 5 years. Expected dividend yield
is based on the historical dividend payment of the Company. The risk-
free interest rate is interpolated from the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority's Hong Kong Exchange Fund Bills/Notes as at the date of grant.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$18.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 in relation to share options granted by the
Company to the directors and employees of the Group.

HK$2.990

29907 7T

HK$3.028

302878 7T

23.51%

1.232%

2.54%

24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026
2021911 A24H £ 2026511 A23H

Bz A FESERB -ZBEA KD HEE
BERABT AEBROPEZIAFERER
CEBLBRIOBEBEEZT 2 RAERELE
T FHREIREBEARBBESFUAERE
KIERE - FHHR B W e XTI RIEA R IA
ERBIRMNBERFTE - BRARMNKDAEFE
CREEREEIEESRER/EFNELA
HIER -

REBZE20202F3831BIEEE - £SE®ARQ A

RTEEEEhkEE2RMPEERI L E
¥189BEBIT o
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36 AEBHERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE (@ KBRBAIRFEHEEEFRESRESFE
TAXATION TO NET CASH GENERATED FROM Z ¥R
OPERATIONS
2023 2022
Notes HKS$'M HKS'M

ME BEER BEET

I

Profit before taxation from: REMNTIEEB 2RI AR F
Continuing operations FERESER 554.9 1,676.6
Discontinued operation ERIEREE SR 12 - 269
Adjustments for: MUATIHEEH 2 AE:
Finance costs R E i 8,12 230.0 1238
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- -BEMEREZTE 17 187.6 203.1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 18 8.5 210
Amortisation of bonds BB (0.3) 0.5)
Impairment loss on investments in debt RBEKAGTECER TR
instruments measured at amortised cost REZREERE 16.5 86
Impairment loss recognised on loans to joint WRERTEERAIZRE
ventures &5 18 7 2.3 0.7
Impairment loss on other assets H A& E 2 R EEE 7 - 0.2
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised on (Bo)/HERWE - WE
property, plant and equipment R& 2 REREE 7,17 (6.5) 7.1
Net loss/(gain) on financial assets at FVTPL BATFEF AR ﬁEZ TREE
E R/ (W) 558 7 49.6 (1.1)
Net loss/(gain) on mortgage instalment FE WL IZ 18 > Bt SR &5 18/
receivables (W &) %8R 7 11.5 (14.5)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and HEVE BMERZHZ
equipment Wz F 8 B 7 (0.5) (0.9)
Net gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEE  WmFHE - (0.6)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 WS F58 37 - (35.6)
Net loss/(gain) on deregistration of subsidiaries RH M B~ B SE M 2 B R/
(Wezs) ¥ 58 3 7 27.8 (03)
Net gain on disposal of a joint venture HESZE RNz WEH F5E 7 (368.0) =
Share of results of associates D= AR EE 19 0.2 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DIEEE QA EE 20 (284.3) (3434)
Realised gains on disposal of investment LEREYER 2
properties E#FRWE 16,27 (26.6) (384.6)
Unrealised losses/(gains) on change in fair value HEMELNFEEE 2
of investment properties REIREE (=) 16 86.3 (63.3)
Interest income B WA (52.9) (48.7)
Equity-settled share-based payments LARE S 45 E DARR D B B
>R - 189
Change in working capital: BB E S EE
Decrease in inventories FERD 0.7 6.0
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale BEREWEGE ) /D (1,533.1) 1,894.9
Decrease in properties held for development HEHEFREREMERD
for sale 1,415.5 -
Increase in properties under development for sale {1 & % & 2 ¥ 56 38 N (1,405.0) (6,370.0)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEWE 5 BR FOR 2>/ (38 i) 16.3 (04)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and 2% ~ T8 718 & H b
other receivables JE W SR IR R A/ (38 0 746.2 (1,027.9)
Decrease/(increase) in mortgage instalment FEW IR 18 o HR  Zhom A/
receivables (3% ) 49.5 (284.1)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from joint FEU& & AT RIER L/
ventures (32 hn) \ 13.2 (120
Increase in trade payables, provision and accrued BT E S ER K - B N EET
charges - Epll 95.3 53.1
Increase in deposits received and other financial Bz REMERERE
liabilities E=Dill 1,174.6 9.1
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities EHBaEEm ORd) 2,026.4 (131.0)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations SEMS/(FTA)Re 3,035.7 (4,668.7)

I
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(b) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING b) METBFELEBEZHE

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

TRAJNEEREBEZDFELREZEZDH (R
RAESLIIRSEY) METHMELZE
BEHREESRECEIARATREANEE

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or

future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement  #r SR & REXRT DB AR ETE®HE LR E
of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. ZBE-
Advance
Bankand  fromanon-
Dividend Interest other  controlling Club Lease
payables payables loans shareholder debentures liabilities Total
RITR FERRR
BERE BHAE RAEX 8% BFEE ERAE 4
HKSM  HKSM  HK$'M HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM
AEET AEET EEER  AEER EEER AEER EEAR
- ) Y I O
At 1 April 2022 R202F4R18 - - 10,655.4 1,663.6 815.5 59.7 13,194.2
Financing cash flows RERERE (143.3)  (334.0) 934.1 78.0 (14.0) (9.3) 511.5
Exchange translation differences ELEH - - (10.9) - - - (10.9)
Interest expenses FERY - 1885 - 39.3 - 2.2 230.0
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets ~ RA AR EBEB AL
ZH 8
— Properties under development for sale -t EHER
mE - 174.7 - 42,9 - - 217.6
Dividends to a non-controlling shareholder  [a] — % JE 2 IR iR
AR S 69.0 - - - - - 69.0
Dividends declared EEIKRE 743 - - - - - 743
Renewal of lease EiRE - - - - - 22 22
Others Hth - (292 0.5 - (3.4) (09)  (33.0)
At 31 March 2023 ®2023%3 4318 - - 11,579.1 1,823.8 798.1 53.9 14,2549
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Advance
from a non-
Dividend  Interest ~ Bankand controlling Club Lease
payables  payables otherloans  shareholder  debentures liabilities Total
RITK  FERRE
ERRE ERFS EfEH »% efifEy MEERE @5t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT ABAL AERT RAEERT AEAT BEAT AEER
At 1 April 2021 R2021%54A 18 = - 76848 5197 8123 768 90936
Financing cash flows BERERE (2429 (1207) 30354 1,1088 32 (222 37616
Exchange translation differences ERE® - - (417) - - - @17)
Interest expenses FERE - 974 - 238 - 26 1238
Interests capitalised in the qualifying assets ~ KRB BIREEE AL
ZH 8
— Properties under development for sale HEEXES
mE - 443 - 113 = = 556
Dividends to a non-controlling shareholder [l — % JE 2 R IR &
ERE 124/ - - - - - 1241
Dividends declared EERRE 1188 - = = - - 1188
Renewal of lease EiHE - - - - - 192 192
Disposal of lease HERE - - - - - (56) (56)
Others Hit - (21.0) (23.1) - - (11.1) (552)
At31 March 2022 R202%3A31H - - 106554 16636 8155 597 13,1942
(c) ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND () RERRESEEHBELERDN

CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEETT

MM

Bank balances and cash RITEB MRS 6,212.6 2,717.7

e

$R1T 820202343 A31 B 2 5 F R 7£ F 7
K 0.01% F 5.19% (2022 FF : 001% E 2.45%) < &
BER - ARAEERAEENRITEBRER
TRBERRZETERBELAFEES -

The market interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March 2023 was in
the range of 0.01% to 5.19% (2022: 0.01% to 2.45%) per annum. The
directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of the Group's
bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting period approximates
their corresponding fair values.

HE2023F3 8318 &2022F3 831 B IEEE -
SEEHRTEKETREN G TRAER
SIRITEHONATREERR AT EREE
BB E 4 -

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and concluded
that the probability of defaults of the counterparty bank is insignificant
and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided.
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37 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@)  On 20 August 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited disposed of its entire interest in Co-
Success Investment Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Co-Success
Investment Limited granted by the Group. Co-Success Investment
Limited is engaged in property investment business in Hong Kong. The
net consideration after the transaction costs is HK$31.5 million.

The disposal was completed on 20 September 2021.

Assets and liabilities of Co-Success Investment Limited on the date of
disposal are as follows:

37 HEKHBE QA

@ P20215F8H20H  XARZE2E MK B
A Al Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 2 — & ¥& 37
F=FEIEEWHE - B Hong Kong Health
Resort Limited HE H R EREHREFR QG 22
M hEBAOREEERRA KL ZK
REFR DREBFEEBERAFREBNEYME
REBB -MBERXZHAERZKEFE/3NS
BEBL-

HEEBEMN2021F9 208 5T °

ERRARRARNNES A AERE M
mF -

HKS'M
BEAT
Net assets disposed of: HECEEFE:

Investment property KEWME 27.9
Property, plant and equipment LE N 2.5
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIR A E ©.8)
29.6

Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HEKMB AR 2 W :
Net consideration received B EFEE 315
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFHA (296)
19

Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZRERAFE:
Net consideration received BKRREFE 315
Bank balance and cash disposed of HEZRITERIRS =
315
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(b)  On 1 November 2021, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Partner Ally Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
Partner Ally Limited disposed of its entire interest in Rainbow Alpha
Holdings Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Rainbow Alpha Holdings
Limited granted by the Group. Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited is
engaged in property development business in Hong Kong. The net
consideration after the transaction costs is HK$157.8 million.

The disposal was completed on 30 November 2021.

Assets and liabilities of Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited on the date of
disposal are as follows:

) MR2021FE1 AR KRRZIEEEH B
NAIBKERARE—ZBILE=FFIYE
B Bt HAKERARHEERIBE
TREBRAF 22 HER R EE WG EER
ERABBEEZEEER - FEERERA
AREBREVMEZRREER HBRXZKA
B2REBFEEISISEEBT

HEEIEMN2021F11 A30H K °

BEERERATNLEER 2 EER AR
-

HKS'M
BEAT
Net assets disposed of: HEZEEFHE:

Property held for sale FIEHE 2% 162.9
Deferred tax assets EIETIR A BE 3.2
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments JEWE ZRH - HE RTERFIE 12
Deposits received BUE® (1.0)
166.3

Loss on disposal of subsidiary: HENB AR ZEE:
Net consideration received BKRREFE 157.8
Net assets disposed of PEZEETE (166.3)
(8.5)

Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZRESRAFRE
Net consideration received 2R EF 157.8
Bank balance and cash disposed of PECRITEHRERS =
157.8
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(©  On 1 December 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited disposed of its entire interest in Active
Future Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Active Future Limited
granted by the Group. Active Future Limited is engaged in property
investment business in Hong Kong. The net consideration after the
transaction costs is HK$29.8 million.

The disposal was completed on 28 December 2021.

Assets and liabilities of Active Future Limited on the date of disposal are

© MR22021F12RA1B AARIZE2EWE
A ] Hong Kong Health Resort Limited £2 — £ 58 37
F=FHFIMEE W B - Hong Kong Health
Resort Limited i} & RN R BR A & 2 2
R EBREABRARBRLE ZBRREER-
BAERARAREAREMEREEL -1
BRRXHGRNEZREFRER0IEELET

HEEIEMN2021F12A28H MK °

BAERAANEHEEAZEERBENT

as follows:
HKS'M
BEAT
Net assets disposed of: HEZEEFHE:
Investment property wEYE 289
Property, plant and equipment M- WER&E 0.1
Deferred tax assets EIETIRE E 0.1
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments FEUWE ZIR - HE RTERFIE 0.1
292
Gain on disposal of subsidiary: HERB AR 2 W :
Net consideration received BWRREFE 29.8
Net assets disposed of LEZEETE (29.2)
0.6
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZRESRAFE:
Net consideration received 2R EF 29.8
Bank balance and cash disposed of PECRITEHRER S =
29.8
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(d)  On 16 February 2022, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
GenRx Holdings Limited entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party, and pursuant to which GenRx Holdings
Limited disposed of its entire interest in Excellent Power Investments
Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Excellent Power Investments
Limited granted by the Group. Excellent Power Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries are engaged in operation of comprehensive healthcare
service network in Hong Kong and Macau. The net consideration after
the transaction costs is HK$66.1 million.

The disposal was completed on 31 March 2022.

Assets and liabilities of Excellent Power Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries on the date of disposal are as follows:

d M2025F2A168  ARRIZEZEHMEB R
ARAIZERER A E—BBIE=FFIL
BEEWE B BAOZERERAGHEHR
R Excellent Power Investments Limited 2 & B # 2§
K £ [ [ Excellent Power Investments Limited % &
2 P B B FX e Excellent Power Investments Limited
LEMBARNKERHEEZENEERE R
% MEBEREBREM - MR HKAE
ZREFHERCIBEERT -

HEEZEM20263A31 B 7 ©

Excellent Power Investments Limited 5 £ [t & A 7]
REEEAZEERBEBENOT ¢

HKS'M
BEAT
Net assets disposed of: HEZEEFHE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 173
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 107
Other assets Hih&E 40
Inventories TE 5.7
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments EWE SRR - ke KA KA 147
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRE S 1.8
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ~ fEZ 5 R F ~ B & K B+ & H (16.2)
Contract liabilities aHaE 24)
Lease liabilities HEAE (11.1)
24.5
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HERB ARz W :
Net consideration received B EFRE 66.1
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFEAE (24.5)
416
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZERESRAFE:
Net consideration received 2B 66.1
Bank balance and cash disposed of HEZRITER KA S (1.8)
64.3
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38 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by
certain investment properties at a total carrying value of HK$434.0
million (2022: nil).

As at 31 March 2023, the loans to a joint venture by the Group including
interest payable amounting to approximately HK$1,506.3 million (2022:
HKS$854.5 million) were subordinated to banks to secure a banking
facility granted to the joint venture for financing the development in Tai
Po.

39 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

38 EEKH

R2023%F3A31H  BREARE A4340B B8 T
QIRF: B 2AETREVECEAEES
TRITER 2K -

M2023F3H31H - BE—KEE QA ERRE
TEEE FARBBREHEEZES £H
B4 TZE % R 4150638 &5 7t (2022
F 8545 H BB L) 2 ER(BIEEMFE) M
IRITIEREIRTE -

39 BIBEREN

Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group's
proportionate share, in respect of a banking facility
granted to an investee company (note)

Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group's
proportionate share, in respect of a banking facility
granted to a joint venture for the development of
projects (note)

GE

PASE B AR A L B R PR
IR E AR ERRTT
EERELDZERGIRE)

LA SR B AR BL ) R IR
RELERBRRABER
MERITIEERIEL 2 &R

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BERER BEATT
98.9 107.1
1,252.0 1616.1

Note:
consolidated financial statements as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the fair value of the financial guarantee on initial recognition and the amount of
provision to be recognised subsequently was insignificant.

No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in the

40 COMMITMENTS

e

ME: ARARAREERBNEERBOMBERRZA
FERERETEINBEFSBL AR AL ER
REVBRRABRYBEREHZBE -

40 HIE

2023 2022
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEETR BEATT
N
Contracted but not provided for: EENEBRIERE -

Capital expenditure in respect of investment KEMENRDE - BE
properties and property, plant and equipment REEZERR X 76.2 69.5
Others Hib 2.0 2.1
78.2 716
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41 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and other
properties during the year was HK$474.9 million (2022: HK$474.0 million)
in aggregate, of which HK$464.6 million (2022: HK$460.5 million) was
generated from investment properties of the Group. Investment
properties and other properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
HKS14,172.2 million (2022: HKS$14,319.4 million) were held for rental
purposes at the end of the reporting period. Depreciation charge for the
year in respect of other properties was HK$1.3 million (2022: HK$1.4
million). The properties held have committed tenants for a period from
one to thirteen years. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum leases
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

4 HEZH

SEAHEA

WEMEREMMERFANRDN o WERS
WAE K E47498 BB T (20226F 1 47408 B
Bor) - E 6468 8 B T (20224 46058
EXT)REEBREME - RB|EHR - K
HEA H£1417228 B & 7T (20229 : 1431948
EBL)CREMEREMMETIFIERER
B AFEANBHREMYEZIHELTH A3
BEBTQIRF 14888  FIHEEME
BEEAEMNEHBE —ET=FTrZ -RBEH
R EBECHBAFPTAH MBETAHEL
EHERTIHBIH s RARFERENK
LU

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEAET BEAT

I

Within one year —FR 270.2 317.7
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFAF(BEEEMT) 89.1 2103
359.3 528.0

42 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with employer's
voluntary contributions has been established on 1 December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June 2014 for the MPF Scheme,
which contribution is matched by the employee. The Group also makes
voluntary contribution in addition to the mandatory contribution.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid or
payable of HK$20.4 million (2022: HK$20.9 million) to the MPF Scheme
by the Group, less forfeitures on voluntary contribution of HK$3.2 million
(2022: HKS3.1 million) arising from employees leaving the Group prior to
completion of the qualifying service period.
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At the end of the reporting period, there are no forfeited contributions,
which arose upon employees leaving the retirement benefits schemes
and which are available to reduce the contributions payable in future
years (2022: nil).

MAINLAND CHINA AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in mainland China and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
the respective local governments in relevant jurisdictions. The Group is
required to contribute and recognise a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of the
Group with respect to these schemes are to make the specified
contributions and recognise the respective retirement pay in accordance
with terms set out in the schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-
mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$6.6 million (2022: HK$6.0 million).

43 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
long-term bank and other loans, short-term bank loans and other
liabilities as disclosed in Notes 30 and 32, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a periodic
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

RFERR IARBRELIREZERKE
I = D=2 A - = R T = X N A N
HF 7 BT F R Bk (20224F : ) ©

BBl A s K2 A

SETEALEINMERE SHEEBIEER
BEEZHTHRFERZBERABNEZ
KB - EBARIENAZEEAN LA
MR A ERESERABRMNAIZE
o EFEME SEZHE-—BEETRE
HPATARE 2 HH - ARIFEZFFE 2 HERK
BRI ZERCAERRSEZERRKRE -

MEAREBEBEREEERBEZAEREBERZNE
ZRER AL BooE 85 T (202F 1 60E B
/%73)

43 EXE ks EE

REREEETSERTHEBRERLE &
BUEEAETEE UEEBEAEBRRA
EYREFEMARRRSERAER - £E
ZERRREBTFERITIE -

SECVEAGERBREER FR(ETBENF
RN EE L RARTEAEME R - & H
RITEREEMEE KBRS EE
EHRE)RARGHEEAELES(BEEET
B A  fRE R REFHRF])

ARRESFTEHRTELAGRE - FRILER
HZ—8D NRABREFCEREERAR
RﬁiéKZ*ﬁ?ﬁﬂ==°$ETF$"T§$ZL
& SRS BITHE - BERN

TR EBHE @iﬁﬁﬁﬂ‘k FEATFEEE
ézlinu%
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44 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

4 ST H

TMIBEZER

Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at amortised cost

Equity instruments measured at FVTOC]

ZBRAT A
Financial liabilities EMEE
Amortised cost B SH R R

BRAVFEFABRZEREE
BBHERAGFEZEREE
BAFEFAREMCEEKSNE

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEET BEET
462.1 528.0
13,800.5 10,160.9
24.7 442
14,427.4 13,402.0

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity instruments
measured at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts due
from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from joint ventures,
bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade payables, deposits
received and other financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign currency risk as
majority of the Group's sales and purchases are denominated in currency
which is the functional currency of the respective group entities except
for certain bank balances, loans to joint ventures, financial assets at
FVTPL and investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost
which are denominated in foreign currency, other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities.
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The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

SEERRBEENINEIECEERAE
ZERmEEMT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

Currency Eu 2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEATT BEET BEATT
I ———————
Renminbi AR 274.0 2964 - =
US dollar ETT 4,679.8 4,680.1 - -
Thai baht B3 8.0 3296 - =
Euro dollar BX JT 33.1 59.1 - =
Singapore dollar 3% oo 0.4 0.1 - =
Japanese Yen H 440.6 142.1 - -
Others HAib 0.8 09 - =

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar, Renminbi
and Japanese Yen. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US dollars for an entity with Hong Kong dollars as its
functional currency since Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% decrease in the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the relevant
foreign currency and a positive number below indicates an increase in
profits for the year and in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of
the functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profits for the year and exchange reserve.

.

SEXrZEAXET ARBRBEEELEZE
%J—Hﬁ“” cHNBIITEEITTAE S - Bt HURE

DM TBREEBUAETIEREEER) N
%Eﬁlj'fﬁzlﬂﬁ%

o

TERFNEEEREBEEERER 2 HEER
SARBINEE R T 5% G E ° 5% % [

TEEEABAMERIIERR A ZHK
BE WRAEEBEHEXSEAILEE 27

e BREDTERBAINEINEZ HRE
SEBEE YR REPRABEREUAR
BREE R 2 5% % F) - T35 ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁl?
BeHBEEB L AAINERE NI TE
REBRTAFE G M RER %ﬁZ%M°
HMEEEBRERZNEEE L ABIINELR
5% FHE - B & 5 AN F R R F & E X E
ERARZFETE -
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Increase in
Increase in profits exchange reserve
i A 38 N BE 5. ff 48 38

Currency 4 2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

BEER BEATT BEER BEATT

I .

Renminbi AR 13.7 148 - -

US dollar ET - - 212.6 2126

Thai baht e - - 0.4 16.5

Euro dollar BT 1.1 17 0.5 12

Singapore dollar N oo - - - -

Japanese yen H 21.8 6.7 - -

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of & 2 B3R & * BN W& H KRR B I T g8 <

the inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of the FRZEAR  MERESI>MATREKEE 2
reporting period does not reflect that during the year. HNPE [ fiz o
Interest rate risk F 2= [ bz

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and debt
securities at FVTPL (see Note 21), fixed-rate loans to joint ventures and
fixed-rate bank deposits, borrowings (see Note 30) and lease liabilities (see
Note 31). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank deposits and borrowings (see Notes 26(a)
and 30), loans to joint ventures, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder (see Note 32) and mortgage instalment receivables (see
Note 22). It is the Group's policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or other
benchmark interest rates arising from the Group's borrowings.
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Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end of
the reporting period. The variable-rate bank deposits have been
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management of the Group
considered that the interest rate fluctuation is not significant. For
variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnels and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's:

profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/increase
by HKS57.1 million (2022: HK$54.7 million). This is mainly attributable to
the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate bank
borrowings, advance from a non-controlling shareholder and mortgage
instalment receivables.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its investments
in both listed and unlisted securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a diversified portfolio. The level and volatility of
the prices of securities may be affected by general economic and market
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates,
economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including taxation law), trade
barriers, currency exchange controls, and national and international
political circumstances, if applicable.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been 5%
higher/lower:

profit for the year ended 31 March 2023 and investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 March 2023 would increase/decrease by
HKS23.1 million (2022: HK$26.4 million) and HKS1.2 million (2022: HK$2.1
million) for the Group respectively as a result of changes in fair value of
equity and debt securities instrument measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI
respectively.
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Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group'’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

the amount of financial guarantee contracts in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 39.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and financial
guarantee contracts, except that the credit risks associated with
mortgage instalment receivables is mitigated because they are secured
over properties.

Except for debt securities at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, are
summarised as below:

Loans to joint ventures and an investee/Amounts due from joint ventures
and associates

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures, associates and
an investee. The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of the assets held by these entities and the power to
participate or jointly control the relevant activities of the associates and
joint ventures. The management considers that the counterparty has a
low risk of default, after taking into the consideration of the value of the
assets held by these entities and the operating result of these entities.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix. The
trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on shared
credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these
customers consist of a large number of small customers with common
risk characteristic that are representative of the customers’ abilities to
pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.

Based on the internal assessment, the management considers that the
balances are of low risk and not credit impaired for ECL assessment if the
counterparty has a low risk of default or counterparty has past due debts
but usually settles after due date while the balances are of doubtful and
credit impaired for ECL assessment if there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition through information developed
internally. For the balances that are classified as doubtful, the Group has
made full provision at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

The management considers that the amount of loss allowance at 31
March 2023 and 31 March 2022 were considered as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, having assessed the
nature of the business.

Investments in debt instruments and bank balances

The Group only invests in debt instruments issued by issuers that have
strong credit ratings to mitigate counterparty risk. Credit exposures to
debt instruments are monitored and reported regularly to the
management.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was HK$1,350.9 million
(2022: HKS1,723.2 million) as at 31 March 2023. At the end of the
reporting period, the management of the Group has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to 12m ECL.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. Other than concentration of
credit risk on loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint
ventures, the Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk.
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The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's major N XFJEBBELTEHEEEEBTH2E

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: ESMEENARZEERRE
Gross
External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2023 Notes creditrating  creditrating  12m or lifetime ECL amount

NREANERFHAZ

R2023563A31H M SHMEBEEFR ABEETR RHEEHE REAE
HK$'M
BE#ET

Financial assets at amortised cost

RBHMATECERMEE
Loans to joint ventures included in 20, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,638.2
interests in joint ventures and 26(c) TiE M 18 = B NREAEHEERE

amounts due from joint ventures
AAABERRIZERZER

%é%@?&ﬁﬂ&é%@

I8
Loan to an investee included in 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets TEA 18 2 B REAEHEEEE
SFARMEEZRERRE
HREX
Investments in debt instruments 21 A1-C N/A 12m ECL 53.6
measured at amortised cost A ZEC TiE A NREAEHEEREE
REERAFTECEB LA Caa3 N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 14.5
®E TER ERFHACEBEERE-BFE
A
C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 29.2
TER ERFHACENEEEE-FERE
Bank balances 26(a), Aa1-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 6,212.6
RITEE R 36(c) Aa1EBaa2 FEH NREAEHEEERE
Trade receivables 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 47.6
FEd & 5 BR K TER 1€ = B ERFHACRBEEBE-BFE
R E
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 0.9
TEA xR ERFHRAZEBEEBE-FERE
Amounts due from associates 19 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 589.1
& e Bk & X B R TEA s E EREHACEBFEEBE-FERE
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Gross

External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2022 Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
REASKERFHNZ
R 202263 431 H st SNEREERIAR AMEENR BRHEEER REAE
HKS'M
BEATT
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHRATECEREE
Loans to joint ventures included in 20, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 64729
interests in joint ventures and 26(c) TiEHA 16 /2 fez RNEAEBEEEE
amounts due from joint ventures
AARERAZERZER
%/\M/‘\ —J&JEJ'I&/\M/_\
;I8
Loan to an investee included in 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
other assets NiE A 16 /2 Bz NEAEHREERSE
SFAEMEE s MBERE
Investments in debt instruments 21 Ba3-B2 N/A 12m ECL 75.5
measured at amortised cost Ba3ZEB2 N iE A REABHREERSE
REERAGTEZER IR B1-Caa3 N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 259
®E B1 % Caa3 THEA EREFPNCEREERE-EGE
WA
Ca-C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 15.6
Ca®EC TEMA FEREHANZEREEBR-EERE
Bank balances 26(a), Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 2,717.7
174 36(c) Aal = Baa2 i M8 A BHEEEIE
Trade receivables 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired 63.9
BB 5 BR K TiE R 15 LB ERFHAZEREEEE-BGE
WA
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 14
TEA R FRFHACEREEER-EERE
Amounts due from associates 19 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 589.0
& i Bk & X B R IE THEA = 2 B EREFHNZEREEBR-EERE
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The table below shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have been
recognised for loans to joint ventures included in interests in joint
ventures, loan to a joint venture and loan to an investee included in
other assets.

TRUIIRHAABRAZMALERTA
BRE ERF-RAERARMARME
EXAEBRAHRERER L FRRE
i -

12m ECL

NREARHEEEE
Loans to Loans to
joint ventures an investee
EXT OHEBRE
BE QT HRER
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBT
As at 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H 20.8 04
Impairment under ECL model BEBHEEBEER ZHE 0.7 =
As at 31 March 2022 20223 A31H 21.5 04
Impairment under ECL model BIEEHEEERER 2 RE 1.6 =
As at 31 March 2023 720233 H31H 23.1 0.4

Loss allowances recognised for loans to joint ventures and loan to an
investee are measured at 12m ECL, there is no transfer from 12m ECL to
Lifetime ECL during the year as there is no significant increase in credit
risk for these financial assets.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity.
As at 31 March 2023, the Group has available unutilised overdraft and
bank loan facilities of approximately HK$5,918.2 million (2022: HK$3,956.2
million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board
of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for the management of the Group’s short,
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms except
for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause. For non-
derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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Liquidity risk table TEBEDREEE
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over undiscounted  amountat
1year  1-2years  2-5years 5years cash flows 31 March
REXRF AER MW3A31H
—-FRHEE -ZWME ZZIF IENLE REKLEE ZREE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT HE#ERT RHEERT AEAR BEAR BEAT
I e ) S B
2023 20235
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRER
Trade payables and accrued charges ENESERZLEAER 69.9 - - - 69.9 69.9
Deposits received and other financial liabilites BWiRE R EME B A B 156.5 - - - 156.5 156.5
Bank and other loans RIIREMER
—fixed-rate -E8 9.8 9.8 29.3 330.7 379.6 298.3
- variable-rate 2B 2,758.6 4,271.0 5,240.7 - 12,2703 11,280.8
Other liabilities HafE 114 114 393.4 2,492.7 3,108.9 2,621.9
Financial quarantee contracts BB ERAYD 1,350.9 - - - 1,350.9 -
4,457.1 4,392.2 5,663.4 2,8234 17,336.1 14,427.4
Lease liabilities HEAMR 8.0 8.0 9.4 55.9 81.3 53.9
e e S B
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within Over  undiscounted amount at
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows 31 March
BER REHE  R3A31H
—EREE —EWME ZZEAFE AFNULE BensgE 2RAEE
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEET BEAT AEAT HEAR BEET HAEAR
2022 20224
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTELREAR
Trade payables and accrued charges BHESEARETER 1076 - - - 1076 1076
Deposits received and other financial liabilities 2 WiZ & R EM LR E & 1599 - - - 1599 1599
Bank and other loans RITREME R
- fixed-rate -8 98 98 293 3404 3893 298.1
- variable-rate 2B 2,501.2 3,336.1 48160 = 10,6533 10,3573
Other liabilities Hih B 441 1075 12722 24299 27087 24791
Financial guarantee contracts HBEREN 17232 - - - 17232 -
45458 34534 49725 2,7703 15,7420 13,4020
Lease liabilities HEAE 90 77 126 5838 831 597
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, all bank loans are classified in
respective time band based on the agreed repayment terms except for
the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31 March 2023, there were no aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans (2022: HK$297.8 million). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the directors of the Company
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank loans, if any as at 31 March 2023
will be repaid within one year (2022: within one year) of the reporting
date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table below:

Within
1year

—FR

HK$'M
BEET

At 31 March 2023 A 20233 A31H -

ERAAFFTELRABILIAZGE
BREBHEZ BHRABREBRET 2
HRERBAEREELED

M2023F3 310 K202F3A31H - BT A R
TERDERGBEERY UHBAKESRD
B EAABEREEREEKAZEITER
B oh o

BEEABEREREZEERRZBRITERT AR
B MZRERSK —FAEE|FRE
DEF o N2023FE3A31H  ZERITE XM
MmABRIR 2 A BEQ0NF 1 278H BB
) REBEBZUYBRRE  ARAAE
ERBRITBITSTEERNBHEKRANEE
Ko RRBEFZMHERE R2023F3H31H 2%
SRTER(ME) BIRBER G HTEHETE
BRBEH RS A BB —FQonE: —

FIREE FBEHINTXR:
Total
1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
years years cash flows amount
KREEHR
—EWME ZEHF BRERLE KREE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS$'M
BHRET BEAETR BEEET BEER

At 31 March 2022 R202243 A31H 2978

297.8 295.6
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FAIR VALUE

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed
by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than
not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the
likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which
are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as
follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted equity
securities which are measured at fair value using valuation techniques
based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information (Note
20).

(i)  Financial instruments carried at amortised cost

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs on the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

AFE
LM BERERAEOMGTANSBEINE T H
RERSEREERBRABENZ2HER
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e AR LLAMGFETHTRIEERRE L
BRI REME T RE - T Ut A BE M AR T SR
RETHAHANEBURERRZEEBHENA

BEME -

TREERERABZAFEIRATTR
BT :

EBEEERREHETRERRBTS
BEEZERMEEZATFENDZETEE AR
BmEE: &

HiteRMEERERABZAFELR
B-REEZEIEERNA  ARURADR
DT METE °

RAMBRRERBIFLTRAESTEE
ZFEENERGERGERAUEREM SR
ABEETABRG ABENRRANEYB
BERIR A FER 2 (5E20)

() HBEAAIR2EMIA
ARREERR NEEM BRI AN ARH
RAARZEREEREHABEZREESR
HAFEES -
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(ii)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 13. This requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise the
use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to estimate the fair
value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
Level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present

value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.
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The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period, with
the resulting value discounted back to present value.

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used
to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

As at 31 March 2023, mortgage instalment receivables at FVTPL of
HKS$463.6 million is measured with valuation techniques using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The determination of fair value is subject to the valuation policies and
procedures formulated by and the oversight of the Group’s
management. These policies and procedures facilitate the exercise of
judgement in determining the risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other
factors used in the valuation process. Judgement may also be applied in
adjusting prices of less readily observable external parameters. The
management considers the appropriateness of the valuation model
inputs, as well as the valuation result using various valuation methods
and techniques generally accepted within the industry.

There is no transfer among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the year.

The following represents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year
ended 31 March 2023:

EHIIMES X 2 X EM A ®EHRE
EREXEE MASEETEERE-

Hieflr - GIanBhBRBR S RED N B
NETE#REBMIAEZATE-

MR2023F3H31H  IMAFEFABE ZERK
BB D HEFT436E BB T IIERERRT
BRGARB(E=ZBH) 2HERMTE -

AFPEZEEXSHEEEENE ZHER
REBFRABRAREEE ZEBENMERF
EYREEESESR T AZRRERE - B
BX At ARBESRERGEBEPER
ZHMEARRELHE BAELKIAATERZ
SNER2 B BRI L E R A - EEE
ERMEERMBASEBEZHEE M  AREH
EANRRZEBREETEREMEL 2HE
RER o

FAN F—BHR F_EBERRF=ZERKZM
I 458 48 5 -

INTAEEW0RF3IANBILEFEZE=B#&

Mortgage
instalment
receivables
at FVTPL
RAYE
FFABRZ
BE W% 18
o iR
HK$'M
BEABT

At 1 April 2022 K202 4 1H

Addition f&

Repayment B

Unrealised loss recognised in statement of
comprehensive income

5246
19.8
(69.3)

RemmBERERZRAEHRER

(11.5)

At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3 A31H

463.6
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45 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES
AND JOINT VENTURES

(@) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their
principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows:

45 T EHB AT -

REERAT

gl
]
T
s
ol

@ HEEEIMRIEIELEMHURE
BZXENBARFEET

23

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

31 March 2022
20243 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER BRTRE SEEGRE BETRA SEHEGRE IEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT B
1 Y
Ace Spring Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment
MRAR R MERE
Beaufort Hotels Limited 1 100 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REEEEERS
Cardiomed Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
THEEEERAF REZR
Discovery Bay Commercial Services Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Commercial leasing agent
BREBEREERLA BEHENRE
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 50*% 400,000 50*  Operation of a shipyard
EEMS
Discovery Bay Financial Services Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Provision of financial services to first
MREMBERBEERAA hand purchasers of properties in
Discovery Bay
ABEENEL —F
BREH ARG
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50*% 2 50*  Provision of club facilities
MEEsRAKREERAAF REB MR
Discovery Bay Hotel Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Hotel operator

BEEE
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31 March 2023
20233 A31H

31 March 2022
202434318

Equity

interest
attributable

to the Group
SEEGARE
%

Principal activities

FEXEH

Equity
interest
Issued attributable Issued
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital
AR ER BRTRE SKEELKRE BEITRA
HK$ % HKS
BT BT
1
Discovery Bay Ice Rink Limited 1 50* 1
RMREBASERDA
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50% 2
MREEEEFRDA
Discovery Bay Property Limited 2 50* 2
MRENERRDA
Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited 2 50% 2
RREREERRAT
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company Limited 2 50% 2
BRBREARAR
Discovery Bay Services Management Limited 2 50% 2
MRERBERFRDA
Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited 2 50% 2
MREXBRBERD
Discovery Bay Transportation Services Limited 2 50% 2
MREMERBAERDA
Dorro Properties Limited 500,000 100 500,000
EMEXERAA
Emerald Property Limited 1* 50* 1¥
BRYERRDA
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2

EIBRAERRA

50*  Icerink operator

BIKGEE

50*  Provision of club facilities

REEM

50%  Provision of property agency
services

REDERERD

50*  Provision of club facilities

RHEM

50*  Road tunnel operator
BiagE

50*  Estate manager and principal lessee
of communication network in
Discovery Bay
BEREERBSEBA
BEZEEARA

50*  Provision of bus and garage services

RECTREERSB

50*  Provision of ferry services

REERRB

100 Property investment

NERE

50%  Property investment

MERE

100 Property investment

NERE
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31 March 2023
20233 A31H

31 March 2022
20243 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRITKRE SEEGRE BETRA SEHEGRE IEXB
HK$ % HKS %
BT BT
1
Garnet Property Limited 1% 50* 1" 50%  Property investment
EENERRAR MmERE
Grace Investment Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EEREARAH MERE
Greenyield Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
AABRAF MmERE
HKR (PRC) Limited 2 100 2 100 Investment holding
EREZE(RE)ERAF REER
HKR Limited 2 100 2 100 Property management
EBEENEBERRA mEER
HKR Properties Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
EREEMWME)ERAA MERE
Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 4 100 4 100 Property investment and
investment holding
MERERKREER
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited 389,243,374.35%* 50*%  389,243374.35%* 50*  Property development and
BEREEFARAA investment holding
MEERRREER
Jasper Garden Limited 1% 50* 15 50*  Property investment
EXEARAA MERE
Kinter Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment
BEARAR mERE
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31 March 2023 31 March 2022

202353 H31H 20293H31H
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AEIEE BRTRE KEEERE BETRA SEEERE IEXHB
HK$ % HKS %
BT B
I
Lam Island Development Company Limited 2,000,000 99.99 2,000,000 9999  Property development
HERESERAF MEER
Lee Wo Company, Limited 300,000 100 300,000 100 Property investment
FMHARAE MERE
Macro Future Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
BBEABR AT REER
Moonstone Hill Limited A 50% e 50*  Property investment
ALARAF MERE
Noble Glamour Limited 1 100 1 100 Investment holding
SERRAA REZER
Opal Property Limited | R 50* A 50*  Property investment
BHNERRAF MERE
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100 20 100  Property development
MEER
Pearl Development Limited 2 100 2 100  Property investment
BEERERAAF MERE
Peony Restaurant Limited 2 50* 2 50*  Restaurant operator
HAFERERA R ZERE
Quebostage Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BHARAF MERE
Regal Galaxy Investment Limited 1 100 1 100 Property investment
FRBREERAA MERE
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Name of company

AR

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

Royston Investment Limited

BREEREERAF

TCS Project Management Limited

The Sukhothai Hotels & Resorts Limited

Topaz Holdings Limited
REERERAR

Victor Century Investment Limited

BAREERARA

Wells Estate Services Limited

EIeMERBER AR

Wells Property Management Limited
BIRYEERERADA

World Forum Investment Limited

IARBRBERAT

Yintaly Construction Company Limited

EHRETRERAA

31 March 2022
20243 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
BRITKRE SEEGRE BEIRE SEHEMGRE IBEH
HK$ % HKS %
B B
1
2 100 2 100 Investment holding
REER
2 100 2 100 Provision of project management
services
R{B R ERRH
1 100 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REBEERRS
I R 50*% [ 50*  Property investment
MmERE
1 100 1 100 Provision of financial services to first
hand purchasers of 2GETHER and
properties in Discovery Bay
MEBRBRENEZ
—FERREHBRE
100,000 100 100,000 100 Property management, estate
manager and investment holding
MEREHRERRZEER
1,000 100 1,000 100 Property management and estate
manager
MERERER
1 100 1 100 Property development
MEER
2 100 2 100 Property investment
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*

According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited, the Group is able to control more than half of the voting powers of the board
of directors (which determines the relevant activities) of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited and its subsidiaries.

d In addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85 deferred
shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the Group are shares
whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any general
meetings nor to receive any dividend out of operating profit and have very limited
rights on return of assets of the company.

# Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$276,000,000, representing 276,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

#

Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$218,000,000, representing 218,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

e Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

also includes HK$267,000,000, representing 267,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

i Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

also includes HK$213,000,000, representing 213,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

i

Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$207,000,000, representing 207,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

####% Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

also includes HK$ 133,000,000, representing 133,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

* REBEHRXAERIAAZBRGZE - SE AL
ZHABAERXEERAAREMNBRAAZESTGEORE
HAMES) BEF BRI -

e BREBBIREBRI £EINEHF100%EE
38924337385 B T 2 IBIER D - EEERFB B ELER
MZBRREEEFNERBN EETABRERS ER
T LR IR EE R IR &8 R R 9k 2 A A%
B REBBZAAFEEERZEERREF -

f BRIREERI0BTZEBRIN: ZARIZE
% 17 B 7K U1 B 4E B 1 276,000,000 78 7T A 5K 276,000,000 A%
2 0] BE Bl 2 S A% o

i RIBREEAI0BTZEBRIN: ZARIZE
2% 17 B 7 1 B 4E (B {5 218,000,000 78 T A 5% 218,000,000 A%
Z Al B R AR -

s BRIREEAIOB T ERBIRIN ZRRIZE
B 17 % 78 71 8§ {8 1B 267,000,0007% JT A 2k 267,000,000 A%
2 0] BE Bl & S A% o

wORIBREEAIOB T2 EREBRIN ZARZE
2% 17 B 7K U B 4E (8 {E213,000,000 78 T A 5K 213,000,000 A%
2 0] BE Bl S A% o

e BRIREEARIB T2 EEBRIN ZARZE
2% 17 B 7 1 B 4E (8 {E 207,000,000 78 T A 5% 207,000,000 A%
Z Al B R -

e BRIREERI0E T ZEBRIN RARZE

B 17 IR 7K IR B 4E (B {8133,000,000 7 7T AR 5K 133,000,000 3%
2 A fE B R AR e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

(b)  Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: by HUEZHWEBARFBEOT:
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
2023%3A31H 202F3R31H
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/ attributable share capital/ attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
B3] TERE BRTRA KEES BETRA,  REERS
NEER B b dZMEREE hE HENEAZEE ki TEEH
% %
I I Y I
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
M2 Bk & & EHRE
Abraham Investment Holdings Limited  British Virgin Islands ~ Note* Uss1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
RERBRER M (ES 1%L EHRE
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$10,197,932 100 HK$10,197,932 100 Investment holding
FRERE Bk 10,197,932 101979328 T REAR
Brentall Investments Limited British VirginIslands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
REARREE TA LES EH REEKR
CDW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HKS$5,100,002 100 Property investment
FMERE BE 5,100,0027% 7T 510000278 7T NERE
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
BHERERAF SREBRER W™ 1£7% 1%L REZR
Hanbright Assets Limited British VirginIslands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
RERBREE BE ES 1%L REZR
HK Resort International Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$3 100 HKS3 100 Investment holding
MEHS BB 3BT 3BT REARR
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore §$5,000,000 100 $$5,000,000 100 Investment holding
R AR 5,000,000 7T 5,000,000 7T REARR
THB24,700,000 THB24,700,000
24,700,000 3% $ 24,700,000 5% &
HKR China Limited British Virgin Islands  Note** Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
BREXTHBRAA EREBREE M %7 1%7T REARR
HKR Company Limited British Virgin Islands  Note** Uss$2 100 Us$2 100 Investment holding
EBABREE Mz 2% VE REARRK
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31 March 2023 31 March 2022
2023%3A31H 02%3R318
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/  attributable share capital/ attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
AL/ TEEE BRATRE REEL BEARE,  £EER
ARER B hE EMERzEE kE IMEAZAE hiE TEEH
% %
I I Y
HKR Japan KK Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property investment
B BA 10,000 8 & 10000 A E MERE
HKR Shanghai Limited British VirginIslands ~ Note** Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
EREXLBERAA ERAERARER W EY (E REER
HKRJ Development Co, Ltd. * Japan Japan JPY10,000 100 JPY10,000 100 Property development
BA& BAE 10,0008 & 10000 A MERR
Pine Isle Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong Us$1 100 US$1 100 Investment holding
ER4ERARER BA 1% E REER
Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$2 100 582 100 Investment holding
R AN 287 WRTT REER
Sathorn Park Co,, Ltd. Thailand Thailand THB933,600,000 100 THB933,600,000 100 Hotel operator and owner
£ B3 933,600,000% 933,600,000 % &k w2 REEDEE
Sky Phoenix Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong Us$1 100 Us$1 100 Investment holding
ERAERRER BA 1% E REER
MEEZMIMNBRAR" PRC PRC HK$760,000,000 100 HK$760,000,000 100 Investment holding
i '? 760,000,0003% 7T 760,000,007 75 REZRK
BE(LBEBFZABBAF"  PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100 US$1,500,000 100 Property management
i A 1,500,000 % 7T 1,500000% 7T NEER
BE(LBEXBRAT PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 100 RMB20,000,000 100 Property development
i H A K #20,000,000 T AR 2000000070 NEER
FEEAMEZEERAR" PRC PRC HK$915,000,000 100 HK$915,000,000 100 Property development and
H H 915,000,00055 7T 915,000,000 7 investment holding

NEBRRRBAZR
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31 March 2023 31 March 2022
2023%3A31H WNEIA3NA
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued interest of issued interest
incorporation/ place of share capital/ attributable share capital/ attributable
Name of company registration operation registered capital to the Group registered capital  tothe Group  Principal activities
AL/ TEEE ERTRE KEES BETRA, KEER
ARER B % dMERZEE K& EfMERZER RiE TEEHR
% %
- S
RARREZERAR PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
H # AR #8,000,000 7T AR 80000007 NEER
RARBEZERAR PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i # AR #8,000,000 7T AR #8,0000007C NEER
ERRBEXERAA PRC PRC RMB756,500,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
i # A\ K #756,500,000 T AR 80000007 NEER
BELEERERERARY PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100 US$14,000,000 100 Property investment
# i 14,000,000 % T 14000000 7 NERE
MEEEMMBRAF PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100 RMB8,000,000 100 Property development
# # AR #8,000,000 7T AR #8,0000007C NEER
MEMEERMMERAF PR PRC RMB1,000,000 100 RMB1,000,000 100 Property investment
H # AR #1,000,000 7T AR H1,0000007C NERE
* This company is engaged in securities investment business of the Group and BARNREEEBFREER BMREE

has no specific principal place of operation.

*%

principal place of operation.

#

of the company by contractual terms.

e These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.
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(c)  Details of principal associates are as follows:

(0)

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

TE2MERTFBOT

31 March 2022
202263 A31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
SE R EEFTF
RE BB =F 8 5K 3L #th Bh L m JEEER ETEXEK
% %
-
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong 31 31 Provision of financial
BRABRA A BB services to first hand
purchasers of Coastal
Skyline
MEXEF—FEX
12 4 B 75 AR 75
Tung Chung Station Development  Hong Kong 31 31  Property investment
Company Limited BB mEKRE
(d)  Details of principal joint ventures are as follows: d FELELEQTFBOT :

Name of company

DRAEEHE

Place of
incorporation

& AR 3L 3th B

Advantage Investor Limited

City Grace Co,, Ltd.

Dazhongli Properties Limited

REEMERRAA

Everbeam Investments Limited

ERAREARRATA

British Virgin Islands
RECBARES

Thailand
R E

British Virgin Islands
RERBARES

Hong Kong
)

31 March 2023
20233 A31H

31 March 2022
202263 A31H
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Attributable Attributable
interest held interest held
by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
EE R S B P F
L m EiEER ETEEK
% %
-
50 50 Investment holding
BEER
- 49  Property development
2% % R
50 50 Investment holding
BEER
50 50 Property development
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31 March 2023 31 March 2022
20233 A31H 2022F3H31H

Attributable Attributable
Place of interest held interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
EEfE S EFTF
NEERE = 0 BR 37 ith B it EltEm ETEER
% %
- -
Everbeam Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 50 50  Provision of financial
FHERBERAA BB services to first hand
purchasers of La Cresta
mEH—FER
he 1 15 R 7%
Gainwick Limited Hong Kong 40 40  Property development
piliE= 2N NC] &E MEER
Gainwick Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 40 - Provision of financial
MEEB\ER R A BB services to first hand
purchasers of VILLA
LUCCA
mME LN —FER
e fit B 75 PR 75
Strongbod Limited British Virgin Islands 40 40  Investment holding
REERRES REZER
Ultimate Champion Investments British Virgin Islands 50 50 Investment holding
Limited REBEBRES REZR
e (8 EEZER AR A A* PRC 50 50  Property investment
i MERE
* The company is wholly foreign owned enterprise. * RNTEBEINEDE-
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(e)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company that have material non-controlling interests:

€ WEBAFERERZHZENBAF
ZEE

TRFINBEEEAFERBRZIARAEE
BB ARZFIT

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting  Profits/(losses) allocated
Place of rights held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of subsidiary incorporation non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
FERER
iR EREE ITETRERESR RitFER
MELDEEHE AL  REREZL 2R/ (EE) B
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BAEErT HEBRT BEER
I
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited ~ Hong Kong 50% 50% 22.6 1281 2,872.9 29193
and its subsidiaries (note) BB
BEREBRARIREMB LA
(B 35)
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with - (59) 0.1 0.1
non-controlling interests
BRIFERER ZBERNIEER
Bt /&8 2 7]
22.6 1222 2,873.0 29194
I
Note: Hong Kong Resort Company Limited and its subsidiaries are engaged in the ~ Mt : BB EEBER DN AIKEWNB AR N EHR RE

development, management and provision of essential and recreational services for
residential housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of the
Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below
represents amounts before intergroup elimination.

HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

BIBMRARRLUMSEZEERTRABMBERELA
HR RO F R EER -

EREREANFEEESZARAEHE R
AZHEAMBEMBERINNT - TXHAR
HAMBENBMBEZEBIEBE RS HA 2

TR

EREXARLAREKNE R

2023 2022

HKS$’'M HKS'M

BEETT BEAT

I

Current assets mENE E 5111.4 3,2664
Non-current assets FEMEEE 8,809.3 10,6389
Current liabilities mBaE (1,394.3) (3,055.2)
Non-current liabilities EmBaE (6,780.0) (4,955.1)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NARER AEML#E 2,873.5 29757
Non-controlling interests eI 2,872.9 29193

I
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For the year ended 31 March
BE3AHLEE

2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEAT
L ]
Revenue A 1,125.4 1,984.9
Expenses B 2 (1,080.2) (1,734.1)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KANREAR A EAL ST 22.6 1227
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests FE 128 A% e 2 FE A g A 22.6 128.1
Profit for the year N Z i 45.2 250.8
Other comprehensive income attributable to KRB HEA AEMGEAM 2R E
owners of the Company - -
Other comprehensive income attributable to JEE RS (R E 2 W
non-controlling interests - =
Other comprehensive income for the year REFHMW2E KR - _
Total comprehensive income attributable to RAREB ARG EZARG B
owners of the Company 22.6 122.7
Total comprehensive income attributable to IR IR 2 E W am R
non-controlling interests 22,6 128.1
Total comprehensive income for the year AREE2HEMKZH AR 45.2 250.8
Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder A FE 22 A% A% B UK 151 A% B 69.0 119.0
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from/(used in) BEEBS/(FMA)REER
operating activities /R ) F5E 127.9 (4,470.0)
Net cash outflows used in investing activities WEESFAR SR L FE (101.6) (225.8)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows (used in)/from BEEE (TR /FFHRE ORE)
financing activities /AN R (82.3) 4,426.6
Net cash outflows e 7w FE (56.0) (269.2)

e

All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort International Limited, HKR Asia-
Pacific Pte Ltd, HKR Company Limited, HKR China Limited, Macro Future
Limited and Noble Glamour Limited, are held indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the
Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 32, no other loan capital
has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.
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46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had significant
transactions with related parties as follows:

(@)  Transactions with entities controlled by separate discretionary
trusts with a substantial shareholder act as a corporate trustee. Four (2022:
Three) directors of the Company are among the discretionary
beneficiaries of the above trusts at the end of the reporting period.

46 BB LR 5

BRER A MBI R TR EEAEE 5 2 SRR
SEFNEBBTETZIERRZNMT

@) HEAFERRETEIEZITAZR
RWIEEAMENCERBETZIRS NR
EHARARNTMEZQ0NE: =Z)EE A L
METZWBEZEA -

2023 2022
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEATT

& WA

Rental income

!

29 28

(b)  Transactions with joint ventures of the Group: (b) HEBGENTAHETIRS
2023 2022
HK$'M HKSM
BEERT BEAET
I
Management fee and other service fees from AEE RN EEREE R
joint ventures Hi R & 15.6 19.1
Interest income from a joint venture A& &R A WER 2 A B A 10.1 126
Rental expense to a joint venture megraZftzles R 4.3 46
I
(©)  Compensation of key management personnel: (© TEZEERBAEMSE -
The remuneration of Executive Directors during the year is as follows: HITEERNFRNZBES0OT :
2023 2022
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEATT
L ]
Short-term employee benefits EHEERM
Salaries and other benefits HehEMmEF 25.2 24.7
Performance related incentive payments R 22.7 370
Equity-settled share-based payments AR EE R D AEM 2 N3 - 10.1
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RIRGR FIET 8K 0.4 04
48.3 72.2

The remuneration of Executive Directors is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

-

HTEEZHMehFMEES2ZEEAANET
RALTSBERETE -
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47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47 KRB 2B HE MR R EK
OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
HK$’'M HKS'M
BEAETT BEBTT
N
Non-current assets EmEEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) M B A A RS (M5 @) 15,651.5 14,942.0
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEMEE 8.1 7.8
Right-of-use assets FRREEE 4.4 135
Other assets Hi&EE 119.9 114.9
Amounts due from joint ventures JE & & R RIFIA 167.6 597.2
15,951.5 15,6754
Current assets mENEE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 4  FEfNZEKkEMEKKIE 39.6 34.0
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 1,195.8 960.3
1,235.4 9943
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ERESER BEREFTER 19.6 335
Amounts due to subsidiaries e B B A Rl ZR A 1,274.2 9243
Lease liabilities HEaRE 4.8 96
Bank and other loans due within one year —FERNBNBA BT REMER 1,697.8 2956
2,996.4 1,263.0
Net current liabilities mEN A EFER (1,761.0) (268.7)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBARG 14,190.5 15,406.7
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - 48
Bank and other loans due after one year —FRRIPRITREMER 6,276.2 7,665.6
6,276.2 76704
Net assets BEFE 7,914.3 7,7363
Capital and reserves BRK
Share capital A% A 371.3 3713
Reserves (note (b)) R (M aE D) 7,543.0 7,365.0
Equity = 7,914.3 7,736.3

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2023 and is

signed on its behalf by:

TANG Moon Wah
Managing Director
B

EFERITE
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(@) INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@) MEBRATEDS

2023 2022

HK$'M HKS'M

BEETR BEATT

Unlisted shares, at cost TG - EKARE 2,909.7 2,909.7
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE L B /B8 A R RRIB

Interest bearing portion (note) TR &S (l‘ﬁ uI) 6,276.2 56389

Non-interest bearing portion =N 6,465.6 6,393.4

15,651.5 14,942.0

Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing

rates and have no fixed terms of repayment.

(b) MOVEMENT IN RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

ARERM BRETHSEENEAR

(b) NRFEEEH

Share Capital
Share options redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
RGOEHE BEAXAED

B 43 % B & & Rt A #et

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEE®ET HE#BRT HE#ERX BHE®ET HE#ER

At 1 April 2021 202154511 1,537.9 418 3.1 56786 72614
Profit and total comprehensive REEHNEEE

income for the year U 75 4R %8 - - - 2035 2035
Recognition of equity-settled TR LA f}ﬁ EE A

share-based payments By BEE 2 M3 - 189 - - 189

Share options lapsed B 1) B 4 2K 3K - (86) = 86

Dividends paid 2R S = = = (1188) (1188)

At 31 March 2022 M2022F3 A31H 1,5379 52,1 3.1 5771.9 7.365.0
Profit and total comprehensive REEHMNEEE

income for the year U %5 42 %8 - - - 2523 2523

Share options lapsed 7 B4 Sk 3R = 0.2) = 0.2 =

Dividends paid 2R & - - - (743) (74.3)

At 31 March 2023 202363 A31H 1,537.9 51.9 3.1 5,950.1 7,543.0

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium of the Company is available for distribution or paying
dividends to shareholders, subject to the provisions of its memorandum
and articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution of dividends, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association, dividends can only be distributed out
of the accumulated profits of the Company, which amounted to

HKS$5,950.1 million (2022: HK$5,771.9 million) as at 31 March 2023.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A FMBHE

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BERBT AT BB BEST BESTT
- -
Revenue WA 1,693.7 43142 39423 4,696.5 3,844.0
Profit from operations 1 % A 500.8 1,484.1 1,508.5 22873 2,030.2
Finance costs Bf 7% & (230.0) (123.8) (88.3) (271.8) (245.7)
Share of results of associates AR RN (0.2) 0.2) 0.1) 0.1) 0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures D& & A Al £ 45 284.3 3434 2206 506.6 946.7
Profit before taxation f 5 Al Y A 554.9 1,7035 1,640.7 2,522.0 2,731.0
Taxation ma (76.7) (484.0) (512.1) (837.7) (325.8)
Profit for the year N E R 478.2 12195 1,1286 1,684.3 24052
Attributable to: T FEAL
Owners of the Company IN/NEETE7 =N 455.6 1,097.3 897.3 1,624.6 2,2069
Non-controlling interests el g 22.6 1222 2313 59.7 1983
Profit for the year N E i 478.2 12195 1,1286 16843 24052
- -
FINANCIAL POSITION BF % 3iR
At 31 March
MW3H31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HKS$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BERBT A8 BB BESBT BEST
- -
Total assets BE® TE 46,902.4 43,4075 38,145.0 37,2409 354574
Total liabilities BEe (19,631.5) (15461.2) (11,540.3) (12,494.7) (11,535.0)
Non-controlling interests FEE A% T?é = (2,873.0) (2,919.4) (2,920.8) (2,678.8) (2,622.0)
Equity attributable to ownersof AN &1 #EH A E1h
the Company HE &= 24,397.9 25,026.9 23,683.9 22,0674 21,3004
- -
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Particulars of Major Properties

ey 3

At 31 March 2023 7202343 831H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A STREB/IBRFZUHE

DEVELOPMENT
Attributable
Gross floor Stage of Expected Nature interest to
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) completion completion date of property the Group
BEEES £
R (FER) TREE BEHTHA WEME JE 45 7 &
1. The remaining phases, NI =&
Discovery Bay, =
Lantau Island
(@) Residential F=x 1334,736 Construction under 2025-2032 Residential 50%
progress/Planning FE
in progress
THRRETH/HE
ETH
(b) Recreational KE 154,000 Planning in progress 2023-2032 Recreational 50%
REETH NG
(©) Others Hit 209,187 Not yet commenced No definite plan  Retained for future 50%
& ) T EEE5TEl development
BERGEE
2 Hollywood Road project, ~ &E S 26493 Foundation work in 2025 Residential 100%
Hong Kong Island WEEEEE progress FE
WETRETH
3. IN One, Lin‘an District, R BT AN 430,000 Construction under 2023 Residential 100%
Hangzhou City, g progress FE
Zhejiang Province, the PRC 1 E B THRETH
4. Land lot no. $JS30003-02-04, H Bl )T 350,000 Construction under 2024 Residential 100%
Songjiang District, WL progress =
Shanghai, the PRC 5J530003-02-04 %% 1 58 TR#ETH
5, Rama 3 Road project, ZHEA 416,180 Planninginprogress  No definite plan  Residential 100%
Yannawa District, Yannawa & (sitearea) FREIEITH ZETE %
Bangkok, Thailand Rama3Road & B (MEmEE)
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFF

At 31 March 2023  FA20239F3831H

B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR B. HAREBVWFREREEWA
RENTAL PURPOSES H =
Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq. ft.) property theGroup  oflease
BEEEE £

R (FER) NEME EEFz HEER

6. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet, R gsesEme 5392 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island UETEEFE F=E H 5

7. 2 houses located at Headland Village, KI5 ER 5 6,053 Residential 100%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island METREFRE F=E ]

8. 9 units comprising lowrise ANE R EEE 15074 Residential 100%  Medium
and duplex apartments located at ofel 2 fir (B K BB 5 FE i Hf
Peninsula Village, RAEA BRI ARK)
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

9. 1 highrise apartment located at AU 5 2 R 1,068 Residential 100%  Medium
Greenvale Village, M= EES FE i Hf
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

10. 18 highrise apartments located at RIE LR EBRRS 12,468 Residential 100%  Medium
Parkridge Village, 1818 = BEE i F=E H
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

1. 4 midrise apartments and RKE LS EREES 4338 Residential 100%  Medium
1 combined unit located at DB Plaza, AfE A B F=E 8
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island VAR B

12. 2 lowrise apartments located at KU | =88 B — 2483 Residential 100%  Medium
Siena One, 2MEE B E % g
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

13, 2 highrise apartments located at KU 2% & 1438 Residential 50%  Medium
Peninsula Village, 2E S & F=x i Hf
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

14, 6 houses located at Phase 17, NE S E%E 178 43,055 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island 6IE TR ¥ 5 F= H
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Attributable

Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
BEEEE 3

R (FAR) MEME EEFz HEER

15. 14/F of Century Tower Il and BEILTE 3,663 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space No. 12 on Level 1, WRIREE IR RIRA F=E =31
Century Tower, 1and 1A e KEI4E Rt ERE
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong FIEFEESNREMN

16. 1 highrise apartment located at ABLRBERGE 1,189 Residential 100%  Medium
Coastal Skyline, (REEY A FE B
Tung Chung, Lantau Island

17. Wellgan Villa, NEmIEE148% 39022 Residential 100%  Medium
148 Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon AHLE FE ]

18. Commercial Centre, KU e =2 225,266 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island [EEL BE¥ H

19. Shop 401 on Ground Floor, KNS aEE 7417 Commercial 50%  Medium
Coastline Villa, Peninsula Village, EEE M T 401 E S ]
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

20. Commercial Centre, i Pak, K| gsE-g# 170,162 Commercial 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island EERL GRS H

21. CDW Building, nREE 975,520 Commercial 100%  Medium
382-392 Castle Peak Road, ERHET-IH CES o8
27-37 Mei Wan Street, H1L8382-392%%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories mARE

2. 325 car parking spaces at MAERE 2% N/A Commercial 100%  Medium
Tuen Mun Central Square, HFIHR R ES TER BX i
22 Hoi Wing Road, 325 (A& fir
Tuen Mun, New Territories

2. West Gate Tower, NERDE 146418 Commercial 100%  Medium
7 Wing Hong Street and K75 RIBMESH GES H H]
8King Lam Street, FEBE L

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYEFF

At 31 March 2023  FA20239F3831H

Attributable
Gross floor Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  oflease
BEEEE 5
R (FER) WEME EEFz HEER
24, 156 Office units and 62 parking lots, BN T 234680 Commercial 100%  Medium
located at HKR International Centre BB EEBBEH 53 5
(formerly known as Jinsha INCITY), (RIS D ENZ )
Qiantang District, Hangzhou, 156 8 2 B K
the PRC 62 {8 R E R
25 2unitsof DANG, MALE 2821 Industrial 100%  Medium
2-6Fui Yiu Kok Street, RE A2-65 (saleablearea) T3 hE
Tsuen Wan, New Territories DANG 2 {E % iz (ERE®R)
26. United Daily News Centre, BEL N2 62,800  Industrial 100%  Medium
21 Yuk Yat Street, TB B #5215 I% H 5
To Kwa Wan, Kowloon BERKE
+ o
C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE C HELEW=
Attributable
Saleable Nature of interestto  Category
Descriptions area (sq.ft.) property theGroup  of lease
ERER 5
B (FER) MEHE EEFz HEHR
2. Remaining units of Poggibonsi, AU o = 10,729 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BIRHBTEN £ ]
2. Remaining units of IL PICCO, AE L 1= 28618 Residential 50%  Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BEBRHRTEN F=E i
29. Remaining units of ZHEA 22214 Residential 100%  Freehold
The Sukhothai Residences, The Sukhothai Residences FE KAEE
Bangkok, Thailand BT B
30. Remaining units of Riviera One, REI A B Em 7,034 Residential 100% Long
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, B FE =
the PRC BT Ef
31. Starlight One, FENTEZED 796,061 Residential 100% Long
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, ERE £ R

the PRC
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Corporate Information and Investors’ Calendar
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P.0.Box 309, Ugland House
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Cayman Islands
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23/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

A T 58 1 168-2005%
ERBLUEERANE23E

SHARE REGISTRARS
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HONG KONG

BB

Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen'’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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ST 25 KB R 1835
B FAFOI7I712-1716

CAYMAN ISLANDS
FRENRS

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.0.Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
FERIT (BB AR AR
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch
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China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
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Dah Sing Bank, Limited
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DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
ERRIT(BB)ARRAA
Hang Seng Bank Limited
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The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
(Asia) Limited
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Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
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Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
FFRFRITERAA
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
EAGIRTT
Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited
FEEERITERQA
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
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Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
Hon Kong Branch
MR TR RTR D ERAAEEAT
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
REBRITERAA
United Overseas Bank
FRTT

COMPANY SECRETARY
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Ms LEUNG Wai Fan
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AUDITOR
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PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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LEGAL ADVISORS
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HONG KONG LAWS
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Kao, Lee &Yip
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Mayer Brown
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Reed Smith Richards Butler
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Woo Kwan Lee & Lo
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CAYMAN ISLANDS LAWS
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SEiK STOCK NAME/CODE
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INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
REHB®

2023 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

2023 FRBFARE
23 August 2023
202348 A23H

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF
MEMBERS
ZERMBFER

18to 23 August 2023 (Annual General Meeting)
20368 H18HEBH (REAFAE)

30 August to 1 September 2023 (Final Dividend)
202358 A30B E9 A1 B (KHIRE)

DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATE
BB B 8

19 September 2023
20239 AR 19H

COMMUNICATION
B

Website #8 3k - www.hkri.com

Tel EFE 1 (852)22381188

Email ¥B

investors@hkri.com (Investors #& & 2)
cs@hkri.com (Shareholders i8 )
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HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
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